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ABOUT CR POWER
FRERHES

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Limited (the“Company”
or “CR Power”) mainly invests, develops, operates and manages
wind farms, photovoltaic power plants, hydro-electric power
plants and other clean and renewable energy projects and coal-
fired power plants in the more affluent regions in China. Its
business also covers distributed energy, power sales, intelligent
energy, coal mining, and other areas.

As at 31 December 2021, CR Power had 37 coal-fired power
plants, 141 wind farms, 31 photovoltaic power plants, 2 hydro-
electric power plants and 4 gas-fired power plants in commercial
operations. Its total attributable operational generation capacity
was 47,997MW, with 27.5% of its capacity located in Eastern
China, 27.5% in Central China, 16.3% in Southern China,
15.9% in Northern China, 5.5% in Northeastern China, 3.7%
in Northwestern China and 3.5% in Southwestern China. Its
attributable operational generation capacity in wind, hydro-electric
and photovoltaic power combined, amounted to 15,441MW,
accounting for approximately 32.2% of its total attributable
operational generation capacity.

CR Power has been selected, for two consecutive years, as a
constituent of the Hang Seng ESG 50 Index and the Hang Seng
Corporate Sustainability Benchmark Index (“‘HSSUSB”) since 7
September 2020.

CR Power has always adhered to the concept of sustainable
development and integrated the implementation of environmental,
social and governance responsibilities into the Company’s
strategies and operations. The Company has been publishing
sustainability reports for 12 consecutive years, constantly reviews
its own performance and shortcomings, and strives to improve
its sustainable development practices, laying a solid foundation
for creating long-term value for the Company. CR Power’s
inclusion into the Hang Seng ESG 50 Index and HSSUSB for
two consecutive years demonstrates its excellence in the three
aspects of environment, social and governance, and reflects
the recognition on the sustainable development efforts of the
Company by the capital markets.
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5-YEAR SUMMARY
hEFRE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
R i — (1 R e

Basic Earnings per share

KATEEAZ

attributable to owners BEXEBREF (Br)

of the Company (HK$) 1.58 1.37 0.83 0.97
Turnover (HK$'000) EEE (T#ET) NEERIEN 69,550,811 67,757,632 76,940,125 73,311,677
Profit attributable to owners ERFBEA

of the Company (HK$'000) AR (FER) UEePEP 7682668 6,590,345 3950435 4,623,323
Dividend per share (HK$) SRES (B 0.295 0.631 0.548 0.328 0.875
Consolidated statement AHEERAR

of financial position (F#7)

(HK$'000)
Non-current assets EREEE RRIAERINA 218993912 186,166,238 178,274,093 193,276,019
Current assets RHEE SRILOIGRI 40,638,025 29,569,488 29,949,074 27,696,451
Non-current liabilities Ergat PRZEEE 88,616,713 71,358,497 71,356,447 72,623,180
Current liabilities nEaE GG 65,064,932 57,661,216 59,582,109 67,607,410
Equity attributable to owners /NIEZZDN

of the Company i CRREARE 85,802,768 72,923979 70,135,314 75,213,819
Total assets BEE PLETARE e 259,631,937 215,735,726 208,223,167 220,972,470
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFLZEEY eRIAEE 5036484 4907,306 7,977,153 5,381,686
Bank and other borrowings BOIREMEE REVEYAOPE 108,219,038 94,136,758 96,675,137 101,722,869
Attributable operational BERZREAS

generation capacity (MW) (kE)
Eastern China EH 12,604 12,582 12,472 12,358
Central China #m 11,988 11,250 10,507 9,838
Southern China @ 7.471 7,097 6,819 6,583
Northern China ey 6,603 5,363 3,792 3,706
Northeastern China =Bl 2,302 1,952 1,910 1,751
Southwestern China i3] 1,487 1,328 1,216 1171
Northwestern China [ithln 910 820 721 671
Total et 43,365 40,392 37,437 36,078
Renewable energy BEER 11,238 9,420 7,544 6,184

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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5-YEAR SUMMARY
HFRE

TURNOVER NET GENERATION VOLUME OF OPERATING POWER PLANTS
S EEREREEE
(HK$million B&E#E7T) (thousand MWh FJKELB¥)
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SERVICE AREAS
AR5 &

As at 31 December 2021, the total

operational generation capacity of the

Company was 60,465 MW, and attributable
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SERVICE AREAS
ARF5 & 15

ATTRIBUTABLE

PROVINCE/MUNICIPALITY/ INSTALLED EFFECTIVE INSTALLED
AUTONOMOUS REGION CAPACITY (MW)  EQUITY INTEREST CAPACITY (MW)
4/ BEmh/BRE POWER PLANTS ER RHAE OKR) Bytn RRERAE OLR)
Jiangsu Changshu BHR 1,950.0 100.0% 1,950.0
T8RS Changzhou Gas BMRE 103.0 100.0% 103.0
Huaxin 3 660.0 72.0% 475.2

Nanjing Bangiao B RRE 660.0 79.0% 521.4

Nanjing Chemical Industry Park ~ ER{ELE 670.0 90.0% 603.0

Nanjing Thermal ] 1,200.0 100.0% 1,200.0

Taizhou Gas ZINRA 83.0 100.0% 83.0

Tongshan L 2,000.0 59.9% 1,197.2

Xuzhou M 1,280.0 42.7% 545.9

Yangzhou No. 2 BINEZ 1,260.0 45.0% 567.0

Zhenjiang 8T 1,540.0 42.5% 654.5

Gaoyou Wind BBAEE 53.0 100.0% 53.0

Huai'an Wind EZEE 80.0 100.0% 80.0

Nantong Wind FEEE 65.5 100.0% 65.5

Yancheng Wind HEiREE 44.0 80.0% 35.2

Huai'an Photovoltaic EZIA 10.1 100.0% 10.1

Sugian Photovoltaic BRI 20.4 100.0% 20.4

Henan Dengfeng B 1,840.0 75.0% 1,380.0
AEE Gucheng H 600.0 100.0% 600.0
Jiaozuo Longyuan EIERER 1,320.0 100.0% 1,320.0

Shouyangshan =G 1,200.0 85.0% 1,020.0

Anyang Wind ZHRAE 250.0 100.0% 250.0

Biyang Wind WERE 239.5 100.0% 239.5

Dingbian Wind TERE 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Fengaiu Wind HERE 40.0 100.0% 40.0

Huaxian Wind BREE 200.0 100.0% 200.0

Linying Wind RRERE 100.0 100.0% 100.0

Luohe Wind BARE 30.0 100.0% 30.0

Lushan Wind BURE 28.6 100.0% 28.6

Neihuang Wind NERE 420.0 100.0% 420.0

Queshan Wind BURE 60.4 100.0% 60.4

Shangaju Wind BEAE 20.0 100.0% 200

Tanghe Wind ERRE 354.5 90.0% 319.1

Wugang Wind FEEE 76.0 100.0% 76.0

Xinxian Wind HHRE 22.5 100.0% 22.5

Xinye Wind HERE 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Yanshi Wind EMRE 30.0 100.0% 30.0

Yexian Wind ERRE 60.7 100.0% 60.7

Yucheng Wind EREE 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Zhoukou Wind BORE 20.0 100.0% 20.0

Zhumadian Wind BEERE 18.0 100.0% 18.0
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SERVICE AREAS

PR 75 & 33
ATTRIBUTABLE
PROVINCE/MUNICIPALITY/ INSTALLED EFFECTIVE INSTALLED
AUTONOMOUS REGION CAPACITY (MW)  EQUITY INTEREST CAPACITY (MW)
4/ BEh/BRE POWER PLANTS ER RHAE kR) BYlEn RRERAE OLR)
Guangdong Guangzhou Thermal BMNEAE 600.0 100.0% 600.0
ExE Shenzhen # 2,000.0 100.0% 2,000.0
Liyujiang A BETA 600.0 60.0% 360.0
Liyujiang B #2518 1,300.0 100.0% 1,300.0
Fogang Wind HEEE 50.0 100.0% 50.0
Huilai Wind EXEE 133.5 100.0% 1335
Leizhou Wind EMEE 100.0 100.0% 100.0
Lianzhou Wind BMNRE 345.0 100.0% 345.0
Lianzhou Wind Phase |l ENEE 50.0 82.5% 413
Longmen Wind EMRE 81.7 100.0% 81.7
Lufeng Wind HEERE 66.0 100.0% 66.0
Qingyuan Fogang Wind BEGRHAE 47.0 82.0% 38.5
Qingyuan Qingxin Wind BREMRE 60.0 82.0% 49.2
Shantou Chaonan Wind WEHERE 145.9 100.0% 145.9
Shantou Haojiang Wind WEEIEE 18.0 100.0% 18.0
Shantou Wind WEERE 29.3 100.0% 29.3
Xinfeng Wind HERE 50.0 100.0% 50.0
Xinyi Wind EERE 39.0 100.0% 39.0
Xuwen Wind HERE 100.0 100.0% 100.0
Yangjiang Wind BIEE 89.8 100.0% 89.8
Yangjiang Wind Phase I GIEEZH 455 100.0% 455
Shenzhen Photovoltaic FIEAR 4.0 100.0% 4.0
Yingde Photovoltaic HESAR 29.3 100.0% 29.3
Zhuhai Photovoltaic 73D I N 4.2 100.0% 4.2
Hubei Hubei Wk 600.0 100.0% 600.0
biihig) Hubei Phase Il il 2,000.0 100.0% 2,000.0
Yichang HE 700.0 100.0% 700.0
Dangyang Wind ERRE 375 100.0% 37.5
Guangshui Wind BEXEE 182.3 100.0% 182.3
Shayang Wind WERE 100.0 100.0% 100.0
Suixian Tianhekou Wind BEAAIORESE 634.8 100.0% 634.8
Suizhou Fengming Wind BEMNESEE 76.5 100.0% 76.5
Suizhou Wind BEM A E 49.8 100.0% 49.8
Yicheng Wind ERRE 217.8 100.0% 217.8
Yicheng Lvze Wind HHGERE 75.0 85.5% 64.1
Zaoyang Bailu Wind ERRERE 40.0 70.0% 28.0
Zaoyang Wind B 181.3 100.0% 181.3
Zhongxiang Wind BEHAE 70.0 100.0% 70.0
Hebei Bohai Xinqu HEnE 700.0 100.0% 700.0
AiEE Cangzhou A 660.0 95.0% 627.0
Caofeidian e 600.0 51.0% 306.0
Caofeidian Phase Il ERE 8 2,000.0 51.0% 1,020.0
Tangshan Fengrun ELEE 700.0 60.0% 420.0
Yundong BER 700.0 90.0% 630.0
Chengde Weichang Wind AEESAE 246.0 100.0% 246.0
Fucheng Wind EHAE 50.0 100.0% 500
Handan Wind HEEE 100.0 100.0% 100.0
Linzhang Wind RERE 50.0 100.0% 50.0
Mulan Weichang Wind ABESEE 450.0 100.0% 450.0
Qinhuangdao Wind ZEERE 100.0 100.0% 100.0
Caofeidian Photovoltaic ERREEIRAN 11.4 95.0% 10.9

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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SERVICE AREAS

AR #5 & 12

ATTRIBUTABLE

PROVINCE/MUNICIPALITY/ INSTALLED EFFECTIVE INSTALLED
AUTONOMOUS REGION CAPACITY (MW)  EQUITY INTEREST CAPACITY (MW)
4/ BEmh/BRE POWER PLANTS ER RHAE OKR) Bytn RRERAE OLR)
Shandong Heze by 1,200.0 90.0% 1,080.0
WEE Dezhou Wind BHWRE 150.0 100.0% 150.0
Dongying Wind FEAE 1000 100.0% 1000

Feixian Wind BRRE 119.4 100.0% 119.4

Haiyang Wind BHERAE 300.0 100.0% 300.0

Heze Wind HERE 100.0 100.0% 100.0

Jining Wind EERE 49.5 100.0% 49.5

Jixian Wind Phase | ERRE—H 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Jixian Wind Phase I BRRE_H 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Linyi Wind BTRE 86.0 100.0% 86.0

Linyi Wind Phase I STAE 1 80.0 100.0% 80.0

Penglai Daliuhang Wind ERAMTREE 49.8 100.0% 49.8

Penglai Daxindian Wind ERAFERE 49.8 100.0% 49.8

Qingdao Wind FERE 134.0 100.0% 134.0

Qingdao Wind Phase | EEAE—1 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Qingdao Wind Phase Il BEERE"H 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Rizhao Wind HREE 48.6 100.0% 48.6

Weihai Huancui Wind HERERE 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Weihai Wind BERE 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Wulian Wind Phase | hERE—H 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Wulian Wind Phase I hEREZH 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Yantai Penglai Wind BREREE 40.6 95.0% 38.6

Yantai Wind RERE 48.0 95.0% 45.6

Zibo Wind KERE 38.0 100.0% 38.0

Zoucheng Wind FHMEE 440 100.0% 44.0

Inner Mongolia Autonomous Dengkou EO 600.0 75.0% 450.0
Region Xilinguole HNEE 1,320.0 70.0% 924.0
AEHEAE Jingneng Xilinguole REHNIE 1,320.0 30.0% 396.0
Bayinile Wind EEH9AE 198.0 100.0% 198.0

Manzhouli Wind RNERE 49.5 100.0% 495

Manzhouli Wind Phase Il mNEREZH 49.5 100.0% 49.5

Taipusigi Wind KN FHEAE 300.0 100.0% 300.0

Wulanchabu Hongmu Wind SHRAAKES 49.5 100.0% 495

Xilinhaote Wind HWERRE 200.0 100.0% 200.0

Zhengxiangbaigi Wind FRERAE 225.0 100.0% 225.0

Liaoning Panjin g 700.0 100.0% 700.0
EEd Jinzhou Thermal B0 1,320.0 50.0% 660.0
Shenhai Thermal ERE 600.0 54.1% 324.7

Beipiao Wind ITERE 240.1 100.0% 240.1

Fuxin Wind BHRAE 99.0 100.0% 99.0

Fuxin Wind Phase Il BHMAE_H 97.5 100.0% 97.5

Jianping Wind ETRE 99.0 100.0% 99.0

Jinzhou Wind BINAE 48.0 100.0% 48.0

Linghai Wind EEAE 90.0 100.0% 90.0

Guangxi Autonomous Region Hezhou BEM 2,000.0 66.0% 1,320.0
ERERE Beiliu Wind EREE 46.2 100.0% 46.2
Cangwu Wind EEAE 50.0 90.0% 45.0

Nanning Wind HEAE 10.0 100.0% 10.0

Rongxian Wind BHAE 130.0 100.0% 130.0

Xiangzhou Wind SMEE 50.0 51.0% 25.5

Yulin Wind IMEE 84.0 100.0% 84.0

Hezhou Photovoltaic =PI 6.0 100.0% 6.0

Annual Report 2021
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SERVICE AREAS
ARFs &35

ATTRIBUTABLE

PROVINCE/MUNICIPALITY/ INSTALLED EFFECTIVE INSTALLED
AUTONOMOUS REGION CAPACITY (MW)  EQUITY INTEREST CAPACITY (MW)
4 /B&Emh/BRE POWER PLANTS ER RAE OkR) BylEn RRERAE OLR)
Zhejiang Cangnan Bl 2,030.0 55.0% 1,116.5
i Wenzhou Telluride BINFBH 660.0 40.0% 264.0
Wenzhou Photovoltaic BINFER 12.1 55.0% 6.6

Zhejiang Photovoltaic IR 6.1 100.0% 6.1

Guizhou Guizhou Liuzhi BNAR 1,320.0 49.0% 646.8
BN Jianhe Wind g EE 182.0 100.0% 182.0
Jinping Wind HEREE 35.1 100.0% 35.1

Kaili Wind HNERE 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Liping Wind BERE 339.1 100.0% 339.1

Shanxi Datong Guangling Wind AAEERE 99.0 100.0% 99.0
WA Datong Wind AERE 198.0 100.0% 198.0
Datong Yanggao Wind KEGEEE 129.0 100.0% 129.0

Guxian Wind HHEE 19.5 100.0% 19.5

Linfen Wind BIRE 114.4 100.0% 114.4

Taiyuan Wind AEEE 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Wuzhai Wind RERE 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Xinrong Wind MRAE 60.0 100.0% 60.0

Xinzhou Wind TNEE 170.0 100.0% 170.0

Zhongyang Wind TREEE 220.0 100.0% 220.0

Datong Photovoltaic KEFHR 20.0 100.0% 20.0

Lanxian Photovoltaic AEHAR 30.0 51.0% 15.3

Xinrong Photovoltaic Ei==PIn TN 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Hunan Lianyuan R 600.0 100.0% 600.0
bR Linwu Wind BEEE 68.0 100.0% 68.0
Anhui Fuyang = 1,280.0 40.0% 512.0
ZHE Dingyuan Wind TEAE 25.0 100.0% 25.0
Fengyang Wind BEERE 308 100.0% 30.8

Mengcheng Wind SHEE 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Mingguang Wind Phase | AR E—H 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Suixi Wind HERE 50.0 100.0% 50.0

Huaibei Photovoltaic EILFR 5.9 100.0% 5.9

Huoshan Photovoltaic EWARR 18.0 100.0% 18.0

Ningxia Autonomous Region Haiyuan Wind BREE 700.0 100.0% 700.0
EERRE Haiyuan Photovoltaic BEXK 120.0 100.0% 120.0
Shizuishan City Photovoltaic AELRAR 20.0 100.0% 20.0

Zhongningxian Photovoltaic RERAR 150.0 100.0% 150.0

Gansu Guazhou Wind JNEE 279.5 100.0% 279.5
HEd Huanxian Wind RHEE 50.0 100.0% 50.0
Heilongjiang Fujin Wind BERAE 50.0 100.0% 50.0
ZEIE Jiamusi Wind EARHRE 43.5 100.0% 43.5
Anda Photovoltaic ZEHAR 120.0 100.0% 120.0

Tailai Photovoltaic RIS 20.0 100.0% 20.0

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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SERVICE AREAS

AR #5 & 12

ATTRIBUTABLE
PROVINCE/MUNICIPALITY/ INSTALLED EFFECTIVE INSTALLED
AUTONOMOUS REGION CAPACITY (MW)  EQUITY INTEREST CAPACITY (MW)
4/ BT/ BRE POWER PLANTS 9 RHAE OkR) BytEn RRERAE OLR)
; b e s ” ol 4 il
Shaanxi Baoji Wind BERRE 100.0 100.0% 100.0
Es Tongguan Wind EREE 49.4 100.0% 49.4
Yan'an Wind EZRE 100.0 100.0% 100.0
Yunnan Honghe Hydro A5AKE 210.0 70.0% 147.0
EHE Midu Photovoltaic SRR 203 100.0% 203
Zhaotong Photovoltaic REAMR 201 100.0% 20.1
Sichuan Yazuihe Hydro BEKE 260.0 51.0% 132.6
)l Heishui Photovoltaic 2R 30.0 75.0% 225
Jiangxi De’an Wind BRAE 480 100.0% 480
IAE Dingnan Wind THEAE 70.0 100.0% 70.0
Ganzhou Nankang Wind #ENERAE 64.0 100.0% 64.0
Ruichang Wind HERE 36.0 100.0% 36.0
Xiajiang Wind BT RE 82.0 100.0% 82.0
Fujian Changting Wind ETAE 460 100.0% 46.0
BEE Longyan Wind EERE 48.0 100.0% 48.0
Minging Wind HERE 30.0 100.0% 30.0
Fujian Photovoltaic BREAHK 143 70.0% 10.0
Fuzhou Photovoltaic BMSER 8.1 100.0% 8.1
Fuging Photovoltaic ‘ALK 7.0 65.0% 4.6
Beijing Beijing Thermal TREE 150.0 51.0% 76.5
IR CR Logistics Park Photovoltaic ~ ZE¥17RE K 0.6 51.0% 0.3
Xiexin Photovoltaic BESR 1.9 51.0% 1.0
Qinghai Dachaidan Wind KEERE 50.0 100.0% 50.0
5E% Gonghe Wind ENAE 1000 100.0% 100.0
Delingha Photovoltaic BLmAR 20.0 100.0% 20.0
Jipin Photovoltaic EEHR 100.0 60.0% 60.0
Tibet Autonomous Region Jiangzi Photovoltaic TR 20.0 100.0% 20.0
BEBAR
Jilin Nong'an Wind RZRE 40.0 100.0% 40.0
EE
Shanghai Shanghai Gas EEMR 2.4 100.0% 24
g
Chongaing Chongging Wind BEAE 62.5 100.0% 62.5
5EM
Hong Kong SAR Huachuang Photovoltaic ZERINMR 0.7 100.0% 0.7

BERRTHE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFHRS

WANG CHUANDONG
EL T !

Chairman of the Board

EXERERE

Benefitting from the solid epidemic control measures and macro
policies of the government, the Chinese economy performed
strongly during the past year. As the Chinese economy is in a
transition to a phase of qualitative development, the government
has clearly stated the goals of carbon peak and carbon neutrality,
and proposed to develop a novel electrical power system with
renewable energy as the main body. The amassing of capital
and social resources in the renewable energy sector under
government policy guidance has facilitated faster generational
upgrades of technologies in the renewable energy sector as well
as ongoing cost reduction, bringing about extensive development
opportunities for the power generation industry.

In 2021, we celebrated the 20th anniversary of the establishment
of CR Power. Starting as a company engaged solely in thermal
power generation, CR Power has evolved in tandem with the
energy revolution and transformed itself into a clean energy
supplier and provider of integrated energy services, and has
continued to expand its business footprint over the past 20 years
to consistently provide stable and reliable energy and services to
the community.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 1 0
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As coal prices rose substantially in 2021 owing to undersupply
and other factors, while power demand from various sectors was
increasing in line with China’s robust economic growth, power
generation enterprises were facing unprecedented challenges.
CR Power persisted in fulfilling the requirements of the central
and local governments, as it organised coal supply via multiple
channels and ensured sound arrangement of coal transportation
capacity to address strong power demand across the country and
undertake the social responsibility of energy supply, contributing
its efforts in assuring power supply for residential, industrial and
commercial users.

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

In 2021, the Company added 2,535 MW of attributable grid-
connected installed capacity for renewable energy. As at the end
of 2021, the Company had total assets of HK$287.4 billion and
operational generation capacity for renewable energy of 15,441
MW, with the attributable operational generation capacity for
renewable energy accounting for 32.2%, representing an increase
of 6.3 percentage points over the previous year.

In 2021, the total net generation volume and heat sales volume
of our consolidated power plants increased by 14.4% and 4.1%,
respectively. For the full year, the Company reported turnover of
HK$89.80 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 29.1%.
The increase in on-grid power tariffs of various regions in line with
the substantial hike in coal prices was not enough to offset the
enormous cost pressure imposed by rising fuel cost. In 2021, the
coal-fired power plants incurred substantial loss owing to rising
fuel cost. Nevertheless, the rapid development of renewable
energy has driven a notable growth in profit for the renewable
energy business and considerably made up for the loss of the
coal-fired power generation business. Profit attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to HK$1.593 billion, while earnings per
share was HK$0.33. The rapid growth in the installed capacity for
renewable energy has been driving growth in profit contribution.
In 2021, core profit contribution from the Company’s renewable
energy business amounted to HK$8,381 million, representing a
year-on-year growth of 85.37%.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

ERENERABRAA

Renewable energy development

Year 2021 was the commencing year of China’s 14th Five-
year Plan period. The Company has formulated strategic
plan calling for the addition of 40,000 MW of installed
capacity for renewable energy during the 14th Five-year
Plan period, such that the attributable installed capacity for
renewable energy will account for more than 50% of its total
attributable installed capacity by the end of 2025, in a major
effort to enhance the development of renewable energy.

To support the attainment of the strategic goals of the
“14th Five-year Plan”, the Company has implemented
organisational optimisation by adopting the “Headquarter
+ Regions + Regional Companies” model for management
and control, allocating more resources to frontline operations
and enhancing its development ability in response to rapid
market changes. The Company obtained construction
permits of 12,310 MW for renewable energy throughout the
year.

The Company has been engaged in ongoing optimisation
of its power generation business layout in tandem with
the regional development strategy of the country: In the
northern, northeastern and northwestern regions rich
in wind and photovoltaic power resources, we seized
the opportunity presented by the construction of ultra-
high voltage power transmission channels to focus on
the development of large-scale power generation bases
comprising wind, photovoltaic and thermal power generation
and energy storage projects; in the prosperous central
and eastern regions, we focused on the development of
photovoltaic power stations, onshore and offshore wind
farms. In 2021, the Company commenced construction
of its first offshore wind power project — China Resources
Cangnan 1# offshore wind power project, which was also
the first Chinese offshore wind power project with parity tariff
under construction.

In addition to proprietary development, we were also actively
engaged in cooperation with other enterprises to acquire
development opportunities, while enhancing our effort in
renewable energy mergers and acquisitions (‘“M&A”), in order
to accelerate the development of renewable energy through
M&A.
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New business development

In 2021, the Company seized the opportunities presented
by national strategies and the industry reform, continued to
develop new businesses and improved its business mix with
a focus on clean energy.

Owing to the output instability of renewable energy, future
electrical power systems will pose higher requirements for
peak load modulation of power supply. We have increased
our build-up in core technologies and project demonstration
efforts in areas such as coal-fired auxiliary frequency control,
gas-fired power, energy storage, hydrogen energy and
pumped storage, among others, with a view to provide high-
quality resources for peak load and frequency modulation to
regional power grids.

We have actively explored the development of integrated
energy services and enhanced the adhesiveness of
enterprise energy users, as we leverage our clean energy
resources and energy efficiency improvement technologies
to develop an integrated energy system comprising facilities
such as rooftop photovoltaic, centralised heat supply and
cooling and charging station in collaboration with a group
of industrial and commercial customers to provide them
with efficient, green and energy-saving integrated energy
services.

We have supported reform of the electricity market by
actively participating in the carbon market and green power
market and driving innovation of business models. In July
2021, the Company participated in the opening ceremony
of the national carbon trading market and completed the
first day of trading; as at the end of 2021, the Company
successfully completed contract fulfiiment and payments
for the first carbon contract fulfilment cycle, laying a solid
foundation for the accomplishment of the carbon peak and
carbon neutrality goals. In September 2021, the Company
participated in the first green power trading of the nation
and successfully completed the first voluntary inter-provincial
green power trade in China in November.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERF®RS

MEBEE

20215 > N E)IBEE R B 17
BEME FEREMER BES
BEERAETEE AT ER LR

R RHBERHE DB A RE M R
RENAZAMHAEERELESE
Ko FFIMAIREEHB IR RE
#BE ~ SUAE ~ K B BEF FEAIZ O
Eiif#EBEREE TS S REEE
REBERIEREBER-

RPEBRRERFEORERES
e AETEME  MABRAR
REERE R EE RS WS AR A
- B—IWmEEERR G
EEBRAR -ERHEHS TE
BERBA—ENGEGERRE AR
o mBRRESH B ERER
AR BERARTS o

HMERE N THEREER Bk
Z2ERTHIBNGEETIS  HERE
B A F 2021 7B AEI2 M2
B HISEE & W E B
5 BENFEK AR ERmTERE
BREANBRBEANSH I A€
I EEBIRIT FTEREEM 202149
= /L\\a;’}éﬁiji\%:ﬁﬁ\%zz% ) Al
RI1BR R EEEEEEES

Annual Report 2021
FIR



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EF®RS

In implementation of the concept of “circular economy”,
we have explored new business models conducive
to the co-development and co-prosperity with local
environments and communities. We have integrated
renewable energy development and regional ecological
treatment with the national strategy of rural revitalisation by
developing complementary fishery + photovoltaic projects,
complementary agricultural + photovoltaic projects and
complementary animal husbandry + photovoltaic projects
in regions with suitable conditions across the nation, while
building a circular economy pilot zone in Chibi, Hubei which
integrates water treatment, clean energy power generation,
modern agriculture and industry parks.
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ESG RESPONSIBILITY ESGHE

The Board and the management attach great importance to the ZEERAEEEBSESZHATNIEE
Company’s sustainability and ESG initiatives. In 2021, CR Power 42 EBEESGTI Ec20214F » FEHE T
ranked No. 1 in the “Central State-owned Enterprises ESG o 440K 2B TR R IER FHATH
Pioneer 50” index rated by SASAC among 440 centrally owned fEFFEIELIHRITESG o L850 11581

listed holding companies taking part in the rating. $ho

° Eco-friendliness °

In active implementation of China’s pledge to address
climate change, the Company has jointly established China
Resources Carbon Neutrality Institute with CR Cement and
CR Learning and Innovation Centre to conduct research
on the detailed implementation timetable and roadmap for
carbon peak and carbon neutrality.

We have continued to increase our investment in pollution
prevention and treatment as well as energy efficiency
enhancement. Ultra-low emission has been achieved at
all subsidiary coal-fired power units of the Company. In
2021, the Company invested RMB1,096 million in the
upgrading of fully enclosed coal yards of coal-fired power
units, integrated sewage treatment and hazardous waste
disposal. Meanwhile, we made ongoing improvements to our
ability to deliver excellence in operations, as we optimised
our operation and maintenance system with the aid of
technology upgrades, Industrial Internet of Things and Cloud
Computing to enhance the utilisation efficiency of various
energy forms.

We focus on environmental protection, and conduct
inspection of environmental protection and ecological
risks, as well as ecological remediation work, such as
reforestation, water and soil conservation and biodiversity
maintenance, in areas surrounding the power generation
sites.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 1 4 T,
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Social responsibility

We care for the psychological as well as physical health
of our staff. In 2021, the Company recorded no confirmed
infections among employees throughout the year, as
it continued to implement stringent epidemic control
measures. The Company encouraged staff and relevant
contractors to take COVID-19 vaccination on a voluntary
basis. As at the end of 2021, the vaccination rate for the
Company’s eligible employees was 99.92%. We place a
strong emphasis on production safety and consistently
improve our occupational health management, seeking
to foster a safe and healthy workplace through measures
such as safety and health training and improvement of the
workplace environment.

The Company has been actively participating in community
welfare and charitable activities and contributing its efforts
to the community by way of poverty aid through industrial
business and charitable donations, among others. In 2021,
the Company’s total donations in cash and in kind amounted
to approximately RMB15.43 million, which was applied
in anti-epidemic, poverty aid, elderly care, environmental
protection and community development initiatives.

Corporate governance

We believe it is imperative that our corporate culture be
consistent with our Company’s values, objectives and
strategies. In 2021, the Company started a corporate culture
remoulding initiative to emphasise the heritage of a superior
corporate culture, develop universal values among all staff
and foster sound business ethics and code of conduct.
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The three-year SOE reform action plan demands SOEs to
further enhance their corporate dynamics and efficiency, as
well as to strengthen and improve corporate governance. In
2021, the Company implemented the policy requirements of
SASAC under the State Council and formulated a detailed
annual implementation plan under the three-year reform
initiative. On the basis of compliant operations, we aim to
further implement the principal duties and powers of the
Board by emphasising its role in “strategy formulation,
policymaking and risk prevention”, in a strong effort to
advance the optimisation of corporate governance.

We attach great importance to the compliance regime,
business ethics and risk management. The Company is
engaged in ongoing supervisory actions such as review of
rules and regulations, examination of connected transactions
and ecological and environmental compliance, while
conducting trainings in compliance and business ethics.
The Company has formed an Internal Control and Risk
Management Committee to implement risk assessment
tasks on a regular basis and conduct supervision and
inspection.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2022

As common prosperity has become a dominant theme for China
in the next phase of development, the increment in per capita
income and improvements to livelihood will give rise to higher
demand for energy consumption. Meanwhile, the emphasis and
commitment of the world’s major economies on carbon emission
will further accelerate the process of renewable energy becoming
a mainstream energy, underpinned by the increasing trend of
electrification, which will provide the driving force for long-term
development. The efficiency of wind power and photovoltaic
energy conversion will increase in the age of price parity while
equipment costs will decrease, thereby providing a profit return
for the Company. As the nation continues to adopt a policy
favouring the renewable energy sector, we remain optimistic
about the future prospects of the Company.

Driven by active government policies, the renewable energy
sector will become a favoured target for investment, as
enterprises across a broad range move into the sector. Amidst
increasingly intense competition, CR Power will continue to aim
to become a world-class clean energy supplier and provider
of integrated energy services, as it endeavours to maintain its
competitive edge in close tandem with government policies for
the industry and market developments, identifying development
potentials with intensive efforts and continuously improving in
terms of installed capacity, asset mix, technology innovation and
operational management in order to deliver growing value for
shareholders.

In closing, | would like to express, on behalf of the Board, sincere

appreciation to the shareholders, investors and the public for their
longstanding trust and support for CR Power.

Wang Chuandong
Chairman of the Board

16 March 2022
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MR. WANG CHUANDONG
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China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

ERENERBRAT

Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 58, was appointed as the
Chairman of the Board and a Non-executive Director of the
Company in March 2020. Mr. Wang has been the chairman of
the board of China Resources Gas Group Limited (‘CR Gas”)
since June 2012 and a non-executive director since January
2019. He was first appointed as a director and general
manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited (‘CR Gas
Holdings”) in February 2007, then appointed as an executive
director and general manager of CR Gas from November
2008. CR Gas is a fellow subsidiary of the Company and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX”). Mr. Wang is currently also
a deputy general manager of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited (“CRH”). Mr. Wang joined China Resources
Petrochems (Group) Company Limited in 1985 and served as
its director and deputy general manager. He has over 36 years
of corporate management experience in the energy area.

Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Science majoring in
Petroleum Refining from the China University of Petroleum and
a Master of Business Administration (“MBA”) Degree from the
University of Texas in the United States of America.
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MR.SHI BAOFENG
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Mr. Shi Baofeng, aged 50, was appointed as as an Executive
Director and the President of the Company in September
2021. Mr. Shi served as an executive director, president and
chairman of corporate governance committee of CR Gas from
November 2018 to September 2021. Mr. Shi joined CRH in
2006 and CR Gas Holdings in March 2007. He consecutively
served as the assistant general manager and vice president of
CR Gas Holdings and responsible for the operation of South
China Region.

Mr. Shi holds an MBA Degree from Southwest Jiaotong
University, China and a Master’s Degree from China Europe
International Business School. He also holds a Senior Engineer
qualification.
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MR. ZHANG JUNZHENG
RERTE

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

ERENERABRAA

Mr. Zhang Junzheng, aged 57, was appointed as an Executive
Director and Vice Chairman of the Board in December 2019.
He served as a director of the Health Safety and Environment
Department of CRH from June 2014 to December 2019,
deputy director from February 2010 to June 2014 and
assistant general manager from June 2009 to February 2010
of the office of the board of CRH respectively. Before joining
CRH in 2009, he had worked for China Resources (Xuzhou)
Electric Power Co., Ltd. and served as General Manager
of the Assets Operations Department of the Company from
November 2004 to June 2009.

Mr. Zhang has an MBA Degree from China Europe
International Business School.
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Ms. Wang Xiao Bin, aged 54, is an Executive Director, Senior
Vice President and Company Secretary of the Company. From
July 2003 to December 2020, Ms. Wang was Chief Financial
Officer of the Company. Prior to joining the Company in July
2003, Ms. Wang was a director of corporate finance of ING
Investment Banking, responsible for the execution of capital
markets and merger and acquisition transactions in the
Asia Pacific region. Ms. Wang worked for PriceWaterhouse
in Australia in the audit and business advisory division for
five years before joining ING Barings. Ms. Wang is also an
independent non-executive director of Hang Seng Bank
Limited and Worley Limited, a company listed on The
Australian Securities Exchange.

Ms. Wang is a member of the Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants and holds a graduate diploma in
Applied Finance and Investment from the Securities Institute of
Australia and a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from Murdoch
University in Australia.
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China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

BENERERAR
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MR. LIU GUIXIN
FEMEE

Mr. Liu Guixin, aged 58, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director in September 2021. Mr. Liu had successively served
various managerial positions including the vice president, the
regional general manager (Shanxi), the general manager of
the Technology Research and Development Centre, the chief
operating officer, the regional general manager (Guizhou) and
the regional general manager (Guangxi) in China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”) from July 2003
to August 2021. CR Cement is a fellow subsidiary of the
Company and its shares are listed on the Main Board of HKEx.

Mr. Liu obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering from
Wuhan University of Technology, China in 1987. He is a Senior
Engineer, and has over 30 years of working experience in the
building materials and cement industry.
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Mr. Chen Guoyong, aged 60, was appointed as a Non-
executive Director in September 2021. Mr. Chen was
appointed as vice president of CR Gas in March 2012. He
serves as regional chief representative (Henan Region) of CRH
and regional general manager (Greater Central and Western
Region) of CR Gas since April 2015, responsible for operation
and management of Greater Central and Western Region. He
concurrently serves as the chairman and general manager of
Zhengzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. He is currently a
member of the Gas Transmission and Distribution Professional
Committee of the China Civil Engineering Society. He worked
for Jining Gas Company from 1984 to 2007 and served as an
assistant engineer of the Design Institute, the director of the
Dispatch Office and an engineer, the deputy general manager
and the general manager. He served as the general manager
of Jining China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2011,
and a regional general manager (Greater Jinan Area) of CR
Gas and the general manager of Jining China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd. from 2011 to 2015.
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Ms. Elsie Leung Qi-sie, aged 83, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in April 2010. Ms. Leung was the first
Secretary for Justice of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region,
as well as a member of the Executive Council of Hong Kong from July
1997 to October 2005. Ms. Leung was admitted as a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1968. She was a partner of P. H Sin &
Co., a Hong Kong law firm, which amalgamated with the law firm lu, Lai
& Li Solicitors & Notaries in 1993; she was a senior partner with lu, Lai
& Li Solicitors & Notaries from 1993 to 1997. At the end of 2006, she
resumed to practice at lu, Lai & Li Solicitors & Notaries. Ms. Leung was
an independent non-executive director on the board of United Company
RUSAL, international public joint-stock company listed on the Main
Board of HKEx from 30 November 2009 to 24 June 2021. Ms. Leung
also serves as an independent non-executive director on the boards
of China Life Insurance Company Limited which is listed on the HKEX,
New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(“SSE”) and Petro China Company Limited listed on the HKEx, NYSE and
SSE.

Ms. Leung served as a member of several government boards and
committees, including the Independent Police Complaints Council,
Equal Opportunities Commission, Social Welfare Advisory Committee

MS. ELSIE LEUNG OI-SIE and Inland Revenue Board of Review. Ms. Leung was appointed as a
RRBHLLT delegate of the People’s Congress of Guangdong Province in 1989. In

1993, she was appointed as a delegate of the 8th National People’s

Congress and in 1994 as well as a Hong Kong Affairs Advisor. Ms. Leung

had been the Deputy Director of the Hong Kong Basic Law Committee
of the Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China between 2006 and
2018.

Apart from being a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong, Ms. Leung was qualified as a solicitor in England
and Wales and obtained a Master of Law degree from the University of Hong Kong in 1998.

Ms. Leung was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1982 and was awarded the Grand Bauhinia Medal in 2002.
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Dr. Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung, aged 70, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in April 2010. Dr.
Ch’ien served as an independent non-executive director of Swiss Re
Limited and Swiss Re Asia Pte. Ltd. until 13 April 2022. Dr. Ch’ien was
an independent non-executive director of The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited from November 1997 to November 2020,
a non-executive chairman of MTR Corporation Limited from July 20083 to
December 2015, and the chairman and an independent non-executive
director of Hang Seng Bank Limited from August 2007 to May 2021.

In public service, Dr. Ch’ien is an honorary president and past chairman
of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries. From January 2013 to
March 2018, Dr. Ch’ien was a member of the Economic Development
Commission of the Government of the Hong Kong SAR. From January
2008 to January 2018, Dr. Ch’ien was a member of the Standing
Committee of the Tianjin Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. From 1992 to 1997, Dr. Ch’ien was
a member of the Executive Council of Hong Kong, then under British
administration. He was appointed a member of the Executive Council
of the Hong Kong SAR on 1 July 1997 and served until June 2002.
Dr. Ch’ien was a Hong Kong member of the APEC Business Advisory

DR. RAYMOND Council from 2004 to 2009. He was chairman of the Hong Kong/
CH’IEN KUO FUNG European Union Business Cooperation Committee from 2005 to January
$RERunm 4 2012. Dr. Ch'ien was previously chairman of the Advisory Committee

on Corruption of the Independent Commission Against Corruption,
the Hong Kong/Japan Business Cooperation Committee, the Industry
and Technology Development Council and the Hong Kong Industrial
Technology Centre Corporation Ltd.

Dr. Ch’ien received a Doctoral Degree in Economics from the University of Pennsylvania in 1978 and was a Trustee
of the University from 2006 to 2016. Dr. Ch’ien was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1993 and a Commander in
the Most Excellent Order of the British Empire in 1994. In 1999, he was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star Medal. In
August 2008, Dr. Ch’ien was conferred the honour of Chevalier de I'Ordre du Mérite Agricole of France.
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Mr. Jack So Chak Kwong, aged 77, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in June 2014. Mr. So assumed
the chairmanship of the Airport Authority Hong Kong in June 2015.
Mr. So began his career with the Hong Kong Government and joined
the private sector in 1978, having held various senior positions in
stockbroking, banking and property development. He served as an
executive director of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council from
1985 to 1992 and its chairman from 2007 to 2015. He was a chairman
and a chief executive of the MTR Corporation Limited from 1995 to
2003 and a deputy chairman and a group managing director of PCCW
Limited from 2003 to 2007.

Mr. So is also an independent non-executive director of AIA Group Ltd.
and is also a senior advisor to Credit Suisse, Greater China. He was an
independent director of HSBC from 2000 to 2007 and Cathay Pacific
Airways Limited from 2002 to 2015.

In March 2018, Mr. So was appointed member of the Chief Executive’s
Council of Advisors on Innovation and Strategic Development. He
served as Chairman of the Committee on Economic Co-operation with
Mainland from 2013 to 2015 and also served as Chairman of the Hong

MR. JACK SO CHAK KWONG Kong Film Development Council from 2007 to 2013.

BRENSTE
In addition, Mr. So was a member of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Conference from 2008 to 2018 and was an international
business advisor to the Mayor of Beijing.

A Justice of the Peace, Mr. So was awarded the Golden Bauhinia Star and Grand Bauhinia Medal by the Hong
Kong SAR Government in 2011 and 2017 respectively. He received an Honorary Doctorate in Social Science from
the University of Hong Kong in 2011.
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Mr. Yang Yuchuan, aged 58, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director in September 2021. Mr
Yang is the guest professor of Hong Kong Financial Services
Institute, the chief executive and chief macro economist of
Prime China Securities Limited, responsible for the day-to-
day management and operation of the company. He has
extensive experience in the financial industry. Mr. Yang was
an executive director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the HKEX, a non-executive
director of TTG Fintech Limited, a company listed on The
Australian Securities Exchange, an executive director of
Partners Capital Securities Limited and the chief executive of
Sunshine Asset Management (HK) Limited. Mr. Yang was an
independent non-executive director of Huiyin Holdings Group
Limited from December 2018 to June 2020. He was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of CR Gas in August
2018.

Mr. Yang holds a Bachelor’'s Degree from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University, China and an MBA Degree from the University of
San Francisco in the United States of America.

MR. YANG YUCHUAN
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MR. ZHOU JIANBO
BRIKTE

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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Mr. Zhou Jianbo, aged 48, is the Senior Vice President of
the Company. From January to October 2018, he served as
the senior deputy director of the Discipline Inspection and
Supervision Department of CRH and the senior deputy general
manager of China Resources Vanguard Company Limited (“CR
Vanguard”). From August 2015 to January 2018, he was the
deputy director of the Discipline Inspection and Supervision
Department of CRH and also the deputy general manager of
CR Vanguard. Mr. Zhou holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Law from
Jiangnan University.
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Mr. Jiang Lihui, aged 59, is a Vice President of the Company.
From April 2016 to August 2019, he served as a Senior
Vice President of the Company. From June 2014 to April
2016, he served as a Senior Vice President of the Company
and Chairman of China Resources Coal (Group) Co., Ltd.
From May 2012 to June 2014, he served as a Senior Vice
President of the Company and a General Manager of Coal
Business Unit; from July 2010 to May 2012, he served as a
Deputy General Manager of China Resources New Energy,
an Assistant President of the Company and a General
Manager of Hydropower Business Department. From January
2010 to July 2010, he served as a Deputy Chief Technical
Officer of the Company. From July 2002 to January 2010,
he served as a Deputy General Manager of China Resources
Power Hubei Co., Ltd, a General Manager of Xuzhou Huaxin
Power Generation Co., Ltd and a General Manager of China
Resources Hezhou Co., Ltd. From June 1995 to July 2002, he
served as a Deputy Chief Engineer and an engineer of China
Resources (Xuzhou) Electric Power Co., Ltd. Mr. Jiang holds
a Bachelor’s Degree in Mine Electrification and Automatization
from Heilongjiang Mineralogy College and an MBA Degree
from Huazhong University of Science and Technology. He also
holds the title of Senior Engineer.
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MR. HOU YONGJIE
RxEEE

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EH
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Mr. Hou Yongjie, aged 54, is a Vice President and the General
Manager of the South China Region of the Company. From
May 2016 to August 2017, he was the General Manager
of the Central and Western Region of the Company; from
May 2012 to May 2016, he was the General Manager of the
the Thermal Power Division of Henan Branch; from January
2011 to May 2012, he was the Deputy General Manager of
the Henan Branch; from September 2010 to January 2011,
he served as the Deputy General Manager of Henan Branch
and the General Manager of Dengfeng Project as well as the
General Manager of Luore Project; from September 2009
to September 2010, he served as the General Manager
of Shouyangshan Project and the General Manager of
Luore project; from October 2004 to September 2009, he
successively served as the Deputy General Manager and the
General Manager of Luore Project; from April 2003 to October
2004, he successively served as the Assistant General
Manager of the Production Preparation Division of Dengfeng
Project, the General Manager of the Production Preparation
Division, Head of the Power Generation Department, and the
Assistant Technical Director. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Hou worked at the Gansu Jingyuan Power Plant.
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MR. LIU XIUSHENG
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Mr. Liu Xiusheng, aged 43, is a Vice President of the
Company. From November 2016 to June 2020, he served as
an assistant president of CR Gas, during which, he was also
a general manager of the human resources department and
a general manager of the party and mass work department
of CR Gas; from September 2012 to November 2016, he
successively served as a general manager of the human
resources department and a general manager of the party
and mass work department of CR Gas; from February 2011
to September 2012, he successively served as a general
manager and a senior manager of the human resources
department of CRH; from July 2006 to February 2011, he
was manager in the Beijing division of the human resources
department of CRH. Mr. Liu holds a Master’s Degree in Harbin
Institute of Technology.
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MR. GAO LI
BmIkE

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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Mr. Gao Li, aged 47, is the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company. Mr. Gao joined China Resources in 2007 and
has successively worked for China Resources Enterprise
Limited, China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Limited, China
Resources C’estbon Beverage (China) Co., Ltd. and CRH.
Since June 2012, he has successively been the chief financial
officer of China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Limited and
the deputy general manager of the Finance Department of
CRH. Mr. Gao holds a Bachelor's Degree and a Master’s
Degree in Economics from Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics, and is a Certified Public Accountant and an
International Internal Auditor in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”). Prior to joining China Resources, Mr. Gao worked
in the National Audit Office for many years.

BYRE N+-tR AATEREYHFE -SEER_TTL
FMAER SRUBREBIERRAS  EHARH (ER)
BRAT -EHBERA (PE) BRAR -EBHER IR
“E-TFRARAREEERNN (ER) BRABMEE
E ERERVHIREESHT -shERFARILTK
BRESBANRBRLTIRA WEFHEARLNE (THE))
Mgt BERASESER - MAEER > SEERE
BB ELEZE




DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREERE

Mr. Xu Hongbo, aged 45, is the Vice President of the
Company. From July 2017 to August 2021, he successively
served as an Assistant President of the Company, the
General Manager of the Strategic Development Division,
the Investment Management Director and an Officer of the
Investment Pre-approval Committee; from October 2014 to
June 2017, he served as a qualified director and assistant
director of the Supervision Department of CRH; from August
2011 to October 2014, he served as a Senior Manager, Chief
Analyst and Assistant Director of the Strategic Development
Department of the Company. From May 2004 to August 2011,
he served as a Qualified Engineer and Senior Manager of
China Resources Power (Changshu) Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu
Branch of the Company. Prior to joining the Company, he
worked for Yangcheng International Power Generation Co.,
Ltd. Mr. Xu holds a Bachelor of Engineering Degree in Thermal
Engineering from Wuhan University of Hydraulic and Electric
Engineering and a Master of Engineering Degree in Electrical
Engineering from Tsinghua University. He also holds the title of
Senior Engineer.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present the Annual
Report and the audited financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group principally engages in investing, developing, operating
and managing power plants and coal mine projects in China.
The activities of its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
are set out in Notes 51, 21 and 22 to the financial statements,
respectively.

GROUP PROFIT

The consolidated statement of profit or loss is set out on
page 136 and shows the Group’s profit for the year ended
31 December 2021. A discussion and analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year and the material factors underlying
its results and financial position are provided in the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis on pages 52 to 81 of this Annual Report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) is set out in
the sections headed “5-Year Summary”, “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” from pages 2 to 3,
pages 10 to 17, and pages 52 to 81 respectively of this Annual

Report and other sections of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group include, but
not limited to, operational risks, policy risks, industry risks, market
risks, business risks and financial risks.

Please refer to the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 10 to 17
of this Annual Report for a discussion on the operational, policy,
market and business challenges and uncertainties facing the
Group; “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” on pages 52
to 81 of this Annual Report for a discussion on foreign exchange
rate risk facing the Group; and “Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements” on pages 146 to 330 of this Annual Report
for details of the financial risks facing the Group.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 34

ERENERABRAA : "

ARABAEF (EF) 2 A2 E 2T K
H@AR (AER) #E—_F——4F
TTR=+—HLEFENFRMNEEZ
MBwEK -

FEEH

AEETEETENERE BE K&
MEBEERNERBE HWEBAE
BEPERGELENTHNDRE N
FEERARMIEEST1 s 21 %220

SEBEFR

BEHETRHENEICHE 2 KRERE
E_E_—F+_-_B=+— Etﬁgm
B BERAERARAFENEERIR 8
%%% &ﬁﬁwﬂ:/ﬁmﬁgl%mdm&
DI BN AKERFE2CEESTIENEE
u—_I'DHHEZ $ﬁ'°

F 750l ER

NEMER (BB EHE6225) M R5F
HENAEBEE_T _—F+A4
=+—HIEFENEFKLIE DRI E R4
FRECEEIENAER/E, ~F10E
FI7TENTEERET) RE2EES1EN
FA}E)‘D—J-DH:HEZﬁ;FFI'J&K%&D/\ﬂﬂ_%
ﬁ_j\o

FERBERAFHEEREE

K%E%E@Igﬂﬁﬁ&?ﬁﬁi%@
BEARREEAR BRER 1TER
B hIBEE - EHRBR R ERERE-

BERNFRFIOBEITENTEFER
mjﬁ%zﬁ%.ﬁﬁﬁ’]%% BRI
REBNENAHMERARNmL > AE
RES2EESTENIEEBE Mmoo
B R A~ 55 B T B0 BE =X & b Y s 4t e A
FIRF146E EI30B N S HIFAFEIREKM
HIEEAEEEEMNESREARMIEE-



ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group adheres to environmental sustainability throughout
its business operations. As a responsible corporation, and in
line with the energy and environmental protection strategies of
the Chinese Government, the Group strives to ensure minimal
environmental impacts by committing to conservation of
resources, promoting the development of clean and renewable
energy projects and improving on emission control.

Please refer to the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 10 to 17 of
this Annual Report for a discussion on the Group’s development
in promoting Environmental, Social & Governance (ESG).

More details regarding the Group’s performance by reference to
environmental and social-related key performance indicators and
policies, as well as compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Company, have been
provided in the Sustainable Development Report 2021 which has
been published by the Company pursuant to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” as set out in Appendix
27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and is available on the Company’s
website at www.cr-power.com and the HKEx website at www.
hkexnews.hk on the same publication date of this Annual Report.

The Sustainable Development Report 2021 can be accessed
by clicking “Sustainability” on the home page of the Company’s
website, then selecting “Sustainable Development Report 2021”
under “Sustainable Development Report” and viewing them using
Adobe® Reader®; or browsing through the HKEx website. If there
is difficulty in gaining access to the Sustainable Development
Report 2021 posted on the Company’s website and a printed
version(s) of the said report may be sent upon receipt of the
shareholder’s request by the Company’s Share Registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Board places emphasis on the Group’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. Updates
on applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the
attention of relevant employees and operation units from time
to time. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
has complied in all material respects with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of the
Group, including the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
Listing Rules.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

The Group believes that employees are important assets and
their contribution and support are valued at all times. The
Group places importance on the career development of its
employees and organised trainings for employees to facilitate
their career development. In order to promote work-life balance
for employees, the Group created a competitive, yet united and
pleasant working environment to encourage improvement and
increased personal value to enhance their sense of belonging.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Company believes that maintaining good relationships with
stakeholders including customers and suppliers is one of the key
contributors to the Group’s success. The Group has established
stable long-term relationships with a number of customers
and suppliers, and has taken active steps to maintain good
cooperative relationships with its customers and suppliers and to
strengthen communication with them.

DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of HK$0.25 per share (2020: HK$0.225 per
share) of the Company (“Share”) with currency option for electing
Renminbi (“‘RMB”) was paid on 26 October 2021.

The Board resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK$0.045 per Share for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on Monday, 13 June 2022, subject to the approval
of shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM”) to be held on Tuesday, 7 June 2022. The
proposed dividend will be paid on Friday, 22 July 2022 following
approval at the AGM of the Company.

The final dividend will be paid in Hong Kong dollars to each
shareholder. However, shareholders may elect to receive the final
dividend in Renminbi in cash.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment of the
Group and the Company during the year are set out in Note 15 to
the financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the movement in the Shares issued by the Company
during the year are set out in Note 41 to the financial statements.
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RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company amounted to
HK$16,949,959,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$18,952,516,000). Movements in the reserves of the Group
and the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 141 to 142 of this
Annual Report and Note 52a to the financial statements,
respectively.

BORROWINGS

The total borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2021
amounted to HK$128,495,939,000 (2020: HK$102,267,275,000).
Particulars of borrowings are set out in Note 37 to the financial
statements.

BONDS AND NOTES ISSUED

The Group issued corporate bonds and notes with fixed rates
with face value amounting to RMB7,800,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$9,540,102,000) (2020: RMB11,800,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$14,020,288,000)) as at 31 December 2021, details of which
are set out in Note 37 to the financial statements. Such corporate
bonds and notes were issued in order to meet the Group’s
general funding requirement, including financing of capital
expenditure and refinancing of debts.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately RMB155 million (2020: RMB175 million).

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year of 2021 and as at
16 March 2022 are as follows:
Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Chuandong
Mr. Liu Guixin

(Chairman)
(appointed on 15 September 2021)

Mr. Chen Guoyong (appointed on 15 September 2021)

Mr. Chen Ying (resigned on 15 September 2021)

Mr. Wang Yan (resigned on 15 September 2021)
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Executive Directors:

Mr. Shi Baofeng (President, appointed on 30 September
2021)

(Vice Chairman)

(Senior Vice President and Company
Secretary)

(President, resigned on 30 September

2021)

Mr. Zhang Junzheng
Ms. Wang Xiao Bin

Mr. Tang Yong

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Elsie Leung Oi-sie

Dr. Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung
Mr. Jack So Chak Kwong

Mr. Yang Yuchuan (appointed on 15 September 2021)

Mr. Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung (resigned on 15 September 2021)

As at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors had a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

Pursuant to Article 98 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. Shi Baofeng, who was newly appointed as Director on 30
September 2021, and Mr. Liu Guixin, Mr. Chen Guoyong and Mr.
Yang Yuchuan, who were newly appointed as Directors on 15
September 2021, shall hold offices until the AGM and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 120 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. Wang Chuandong, Mr. Zhang Junzheng, Dr. Raymond Ch’ien
Kuo Fung and Mr. Jack So Chak Kwong, who are longest in
office, shall retire from office by rotation at the AGM and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received annual confirmation from each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors in regard to their
independence to the Company and considers that each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors is independent to the
Company.

As at the date of this report, among the Independent
Non-executive Directors, Ms. Elsie Leung Oi-sie and Dr. Raymond
Ch’ien Kuo Fung have served more than 9 years.

Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report
are set out on pages 18 to 33 of this Annual Report.
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The Executive Directors are entitled to salaries and discretionary
bonuses determined by the Board at its absolute discretion
having regard to the Group’s performance and the prevailing
market conditions. The Independent Non-executive Directors
are entitled to director’s fees authorised by shareholders and
approved by the Board (with recommendation from Remuneration
Committee) by reference to the prevailing market conditions.
Details of Directors’ remuneration are provided under Note 12 to
the financial statements.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of persons who have served on the board of the
subsidiaries of the Company during the year and up to 16 March
2022 is available on the Company’s website at www.cr-power.
com.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Group regards the President, Senior Vice Presidents, Vice
Presidents and Assistant Presidents of the Company as members
of the senior management team.

The emoluments of the members of the senior management
team who are not Executive Directors, by band, are provided in
the Corporate Governance Report on page 106 of this Annual
Report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provides that every
Director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company
against all liability incurred by him or her as such Director in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgement is given in his or her favour, or in which he or she is
acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be
brought against the Directors of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFQ”)) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model
Code”), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein:
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(A) The Company A) =27
Details of Shares held by the Directors as at 31 December R_E_—F+_B=+—H"&
2021 are as follows: ERFBERMFBUT
Percentage of
Number of the issued
issued shares of
ordinary the Company
shares held  Long/short EERE
Name of Director Capacity FEB#ET position BT
EENA 13 EERHEE @wa X8 B2t
Zhang Junzheng Beneficial Owner 700,000 Long 0.015%
SRE K BEm#EAA 53
Interest of Spouse 96,000 Long 0.002%
FoB# s 53
Wang Xiao Bin Beneficial Owner 3,664,560 Long 0.076%
Fw BEm#EAA e
Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung Interest of Spouse 4,000 Long 0.000%
HRE FoB#E = 53
Jack So Chak Kwong Interest of Corporate 400,000 Long 0.008%
BRZEN NEIER 53
(B) CR Gas (B) ZEHME
CR Gas is an associated corporation of the Company (as EHRRTL A A B BEEEE (BRI
defined under the SFO). Details of shares in CR Gas held by HBHEMMERAPMATE) - EENT
the Directors as at 31 December 2021 are as follows: T+ _RB=+—HEFEEEH

MRRMDFHENOT -

Percentage

Number of of the

issued issued shares

ordinary of CR Gas

shares held  Long/short {5ZEBEMK

Name of Director Capacity FEE%T position BE{THRZ

EENSY g1 ZEKRBEE @WBR XEB Bk

Wang Chuandong Interest of Spouse 800,000 Long 0.035%
FE® Ao B m 5=

Zhang Junzheng Beneficial Owner 10,000 Long 0.000%
5R B I BmEAA 5=

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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(C) China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (“CR
Pharmaceutical”)

CR Pharmaceutical is an associated corporation of the
Company (as defined under the SFO). Details of shares in
CR Pharmaceutical held by the Directors as at 31 December
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2021 are as follows: BRERMHEFBUT
Percentage
of the
Number of issued shares
issued of CR
ordinary Pharmaceutical
shares held  Long/short  {4ZE;BR%E
Name of Director Capacity FEBEIT position BT
== 145 BR#EBE @B %EB Bt
Shi Baofeng Beneficial Owner 950,000 Long 0.015%
SEIE BaEEBA Fa

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

During the year, neither had, the Company’s holding company
nor their subsidiaries entered into any arrangement to enable
the Directors or the senior management of the Company or their
associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debt securities of, the Company or any associated
corporation and none of the Directors and senior management,
or their spouse and children under the age of 18, had any right to
subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such right during the year.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company or its subsidiaries, parent company or
fellow subsidiaries were a party and in which a Director or his or
her connected entities had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or during the year.

In addition, there was no contract of significance between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and its controlling
shareholder (or any of its subsidiaries) and there was no contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by its controlling shareholder (or any of its
subsidiaries) subsisting during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors [ FXFIIRBEEN R _E_—F+
were not aware of any other persons (other than a Director or B=+—H > B2 T AHMFBEMEMAL
chief executive, whose interests are disclosed in the section (BFEo{E EBITEH A BRI > thFIrY 1
headed “Directors’ Interests in Securities” above) who had an @R EXTEENHF ST —HDIKRE)
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares of the K2 Z</A B B9 B& 15 =X 48 %ﬁ B BEERES
Company as required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be  # K HA & 1&#| 5533618 B & 50 A sz &Pt
recorded referred to therein: HERIXE .

Approximate
percentage of the
issued shares

Number of of the Company
Name of substantial issued ordinary Long/short as at
shareholders Capacity shares held position 31 December 2021
RZZZ—F
+ZA=+—H
HENBET EEREERITRD
TERFEE B LERHE e/ %8 BAF R
CRH (Power) Limited* 1 Beneficial owner 3,027,003,337 Long 62.93%
EREE (BH) ERRA EREBA e
CRH 1 Interest in a controlled corporation 3,027,905,337 Long 62.94%
EHER R—REEEEN#ER e
CRC Bluesky Limited 1 Interest in a controlled corporation 3,027,905,337 Long 62.94%
R—RZEEEN#R e
CRC* 1 Interest in a controlled corporation 3,027,905,337 Long 62.94%
Eliah) R—RZEEEN#R e
CRCL* 1 Interest in a controlled corporation 3,027,905,337 Long 62.94%
HE S R—RZEEEN#ER e
Note:  CRH (Power) Limited is a 100% subsidiary of CRH, which is a 100% subsidiary ~ [fisf : ZEHEE (EH) BRATAEHEEN100%
of CRC Bluesky Limited, which is in turn owned as to 100% by CRC, which is M@ AB > MEMEEACRC Bluesky Limited
in turn held as to 100% by CRCL. Each of CRH, CRCL, CRC and CRC Bluesky B9100%H /B 2 5] > MCRC Bluesky Limited
Limited is deemed by virtue of Part XV of the SFO to have the same interests in EBHRMNEBEI100%E D > MEBRMHAIHF
3,027,008,337 Shares as those of CRH (Power) Limited. CRH, through another EZEBFHFE100%#m o S5 RBAEHRASE
wholly-owned subsidiary, is interested in 902,000 Shares of the Company. XVEITE > E=HERE ‘:P @ % HNERERD R
Accordingly, each of CRCL, CRC and CRC Bluesky Limited is deemed by virtue CRC Bluesky Limited& B#WiR AT AEETER
of Part XV of the SFO to have the same interests in the 902,000 Shares as BT ) BRAT3,027,003,337KRKBMHHH
those of CRH. MR EHEEFAS—RE2EMB AR N

902,000 & AT DB o AL > 7E
FRABEROIEXVERT S > PEIZER =R H5
B2CRC Bluesky Limited& B #R & A T HER
12902,0008% B 17 R AV AR EI R 25 ©

* HEEHss

* For translation purposes only
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group conducted certain transactions with
connected persons which constituted connected transactions for
the Group under the Listing Rules. Those connected transactions
which are subject to the reporting requirements under Rule 14A of
the Listing Rules are summarised below.

Connected Transaction-Lease Agreement

On 1 May 2021, CRP Investment (a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company) entered into the Lease Agreement with CRL
Shenzhen (as approximately 59.55% of the shares issued by
CRL are indirectly held by CRH which also holds 62.94% equity
interests of the Company. CRL Shenzhen is a wholly owned
subsidiary of CRL) to lease Unit 01-08 on 10th floor and unit 01-
08 on 23rd-26th floor of China Resources Land Building Block
C located at No. 9668, Shennan Avenue, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen with a total GFA of 12,726.36 square meters, for office
use only (the “Property”) for a term of 3 years from 1 May 2021
to 30 April 2024. The transaction under the Lease Agreement
constitutes a one-off connected transaction for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In accordance with
HKFRS, the rental payment is capital in nature and the Property
will be recognised as right-of-use assets of the Company on
1 May 2021 for an amount of RMB74,867,223.08. Given that
one or more percentage ratio(s) in respect of the value of the
right-of-use assets under the Lease Agreement exceeds 0.1%
but is less than 5%, the transaction contemplated under the
Lease Agreement is subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but is exempt from independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the
highest total amount of Variable Lease Payment under the Lease
Agreement for a year during the lease term is less than 0.1%,
Variable Lease Payment under the Lease Agreement constitutes
a de minimis transaction pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing
Rules and is fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The consideration paid by CRP Investment to CRL
Shenzhen under the Lease Agreement is determined after arm’s
length negotiations between parties after taking into consideration
the prevailing market rental for comparable premises in the vicinity
of the Property. Details of the connected transaction are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 1 May 2021.

The entering into the Lease Agreement can provide the Group
with enhanced and necessary office and premises to satisfy its
daily business operation needs and will also enable the Group to
secure a long term premise for office use, which will enhance the
operation and management capacity of the Company.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated
22 November 2010, 19 December 2013 and 18 December 2015,
respectively in relation to, among other things, the entering of
the Strategic Cooperation Agreement. The Company has entered
into a strategic cooperation agreement (“CR Bank Strategic
Cooperation Agreement 2018”) with CR Bank on 24 December
2018 whereby new annual caps were revised taking into account
of the Group’s liquidity, business needs and the expected level
of services to be received from CR Bank under the CR Bank
Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2018. The term of the CR Bank
Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2018 is 3 years commencing
from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021. Under the CR
Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2018, CR Bank provides
deposit services bearing the same interest and on the same
terms and conditions as would apply to a similar deposit made
by any other customer of the bank, which rates assessed with
reference to the rates published by the People’s Bank of China.
CR Bank also provides commercial banking services, including
credit services (such as commercial loans, bill acceptance and
discount services and account receivable factoring services),
settlement services, agency services (such as entrustment loan,
insurance and custodian services), cash management services,
financial advisory services, and other financial services as
agreed by the parties. These services will be provided on normal
commercial terms and such service fees shall not be higher than
the net discounted fees offered to other preferred customers of
CR Bank. During the reporting period, the Company has followed
the pricing policies. The maximum daily deposit cap, inclusive of
interest payable, and the maximum daily cap of financial services
and products to be provided by CR Bank to the Group during
the term of the CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2018
are RMB?2 billion (equivalent to HK$2.3 billion) and RMB1 billion
(equivalent to HK$1.1 billion) respectively. For the period between
1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021, the actual maximum
daily deposit amount was approximately RMB1,824.69 million
(equivalent to HK$2,226.12 million), and the commercial loans
provided amounted to RMB23 million (equivalent to HK$28.13
million). Details of the continuing connected transaction are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 24 December
2018. The Company has entered into another new strategic
cooperation agreement with CR Bank on 14 December 2021,
which will become effective from 1 January 2022. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 24 December 2021 for
further details.
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In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that save for these transactions, other continuing
connected transactions of the Company conducted during
the year ended 31 December 2021, were exempted from
shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and that the
above continuing connected transactions:

()  have been entered into in the ordinary and usual course of
the Company’s business;

(i) have been entered into on normal commercial terms or
better; and

(i)  have been entered into on terms that are fair and reasonable
for and in the interest of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole, and in accordance with the terms of the
agreements governing such transactions.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified
letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group
on pages 43 to 49 of the Annual Report in accordance with
paragraph 14A.56 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Save for the following transactions, none of the related party
transactions contained in Note 50 to the financial statements falls
under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing
connected transactions” within the meaning of the Listing Rules:

(1) The two trademark licence agreements dated 17 October
2003 entered into between the Company and CRCL and
CRH respectively, under which the Company was granted
irrevocable, royalty free and non-exclusive licences to use
certain trademarks and the rights to sub-license the same
to any member of the Group in consideration of nominal
amount of HK$1 each.
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(2) Significant transactions with related parties during the year: (2 FWHEEABRINEARRS :

2021
R &
Name of related company Relationship Nature of transactions HK$'000
FIEA B TE FifR THME THET
CRH Intermediate Interest expense paid
holding
company 51,377
EHEE FRRE R A A B BEAMEER
Certain subsidiaries of CRH Fellow subsidiaries  Supply of direct power 1,863
EHEENETHERR EEX - YNG! BE#EHE
Providing retail power agency services 76
REZEEHRERS
Providing integrated energy services 12,058
RIMR S 8RR
Providing agency service fee 75
RERERBE
Software maintenance expense paid 20,865
RN ha
Trademark use fee 4,045
BIRERE
Purchase of consumables 29,417
BEHER
Professional fee 7,803
EXEH
Purchase of fuel 27,962
BEME
Purchase of materials 10,446
BEMR
Rental expense 10,735
HEMZ
Management fee 6,047
EEE
Insurance expense 43
REFE
Other expense 17,110
Hitnkxx
Certain subsidiaries of Fellow Subsidiaries ~ Providing retail power agency services 22,725
CR Cement
ERKENETHERS EEN == RUZTEEHRERS
Providing maintenance service 716
R A B AR
Sales of by-product 18,201
HERER
Purchase of material 3,839
BEME

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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Nature of transactions
XHME

Providing maintenance service

R 4 2 AR 75

Rental expense

HEER

Transportation fee

RiEE

Management fee

EHEE

Renovation fee

HEEHR

Other expense

HmER

Providing agency service fee
RIRIERBEE

Providing integrated energy services
R MR 5 BE R AR TS

Providing retail power agency services
RUEZTESHRERS

Purchase of PPE

BEYE BEREE

Name of related company
b cUNSIRZY

Relationship
B8 1%

Fellow subsidiaries
EEN =G

Certain subsidiaries of CR Land
EHEMNETHREBAR

China Resources Energy Service
Co., Ltd.

EHERBRBERAR

Fellow subsidiary ~ Contract environment management fee,
contract energy management fee and
exclusive operation fee

BARREEER - e REEER
RESHEEER

RRKEAR

China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
\Company Limited
KBERBRTROBREASE

Fellow subsidiary

RRMNBEAR

Interest expense paid

ENFEER
Interest income

GIESYON

Certain Subsidiaries of China
Resources Property
Management Co., Ltd.

ERYESERRATN
ETHEBAR

Fellow subsidiary ~ Management Fee

RRKEAR EHEER

Providing retail power agency services

RETEBHRERSE

As‘s,gciate
&b

Certain associates of the Group

FEENETHELE

Sales of electricity
HEE ]

Sales of coal

HE R

Sales of heat

THE AR

Purchase of fuel
BEIRE
Electricity trading fee
ENRZER
Providing agency service fee

REREREE

EFGHRS

2021

— = —

HK$’000
THET
6,536
94,135
57

320
56,662

1,248

3,060
2,730

11,053

9,081

1,380

3,114

6,126

10

122,338
3,009,567
77,001
296

1,298

31,066
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Name of related company Relationship Nature of transactions
il YNCIE2Y B 1A

Providing maintenance service
R A B AR

Service income

ARFZUA

Rental income

HEUWA

Short term lease expense
REHEER

Interest expense paid
BAFMEER

Interest income

FEUWA

Certain joint ventures of the Group Joint ventures Sales of electricity

FEENETRERE BERE HESB
Sales of coal
HE R K
Sales of materials
HE Yk
Sales of heat
THEHAAE
Sales of by-products
HERIEm
Providing agency service fee
RERERBE
Providing maintenance service
1R {4 S AR 75
Providing integrated energy services
RMR SRR
Service income
RFBUA
Management fee income
BEERA
Maintenance expenses
HEEH
Interest expense paid
BEAMEER
Interest income

IS ON

Certain non-controlling shareholder Non-controlling Interest income
of the Group shareholder

AEENETIHERRER FERRER GISCON

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

ERENERBRAT

e

2021

— 5= —

HK$’000
THET
59,120
3,495
172

32

16,034

1,623

1,375

112,055
4,972
90,903
1,131
36,553
18,570
69,046
116,438
10,691

6,606

567



(8) Compensation to the Company’s key management forms
part of the “Key Management Compensation” described in
note 50(b) to the Consolidated Financial Statements. These
are continuing connected transactions exempted from the
connected transaction requirements under Rule 14A.76 or
14A.95 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to
the continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers together
accounted for 26.11% of the Group’s total purchases during the
year. The five largest suppliers are & SE R R A PRAF (China
Coal Energy (Nanjing) Co., Ltd.) (7.82%), ZAciERIEXEES
FR/A 7] (Jinneng Holding Coal Industry Group Co., Ltd.) (6.81%),
FEERPEEHOABRAT (Guangdong China Coal Import and
Export Company Limited) (4.08%), LLFGHKZIRMFAETRE R
PBEBR/AT (Shanxi LuAn Environmental Energy Dev Co., Ltd.)
(3.91%) and BIBEHEEBRZERFEIREREAE (China Energy
Trading Group East China Energy Co., Ltd.) (3.49%).

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate
accounted for 46.79% of the Group’s total turnover during the
year. The five largest customers are EI4F, 182 EIERAT
(Jiangsu Electric Power Co., Ltd.) (14.38%), Fﬁaﬁiﬂﬁlﬁﬁﬁ
3] (Guangxi Power Grid Co., Ltd.) (9.97%), B4R E& B A
(Henan Electric Power Company) (9.10%), BI4Z#1t& Eajjﬁﬁﬁ
‘AT (Hubei Electric Power Co., Ltd.) (8.83%) and B Z B 4845 R
‘ABEEEIEEF (North China Branch of State Grid Corporation of
China) (4.50%).

At no time during the year did a Director, a close associate
of a Director or a shareholder of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s issued shares) have any interest in any of the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or
redeem any listed securities of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2021.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied all of the principles of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules and complied with the code provisions that were in
force as set out in the Code during the year. The Company also
adopted most of the recommended best practices in the said
Code.

The Corporate Governance Practices of the Company is set out in
Corporate Governance Report on pages 82 to 128 of this Annual
Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS (“MODEL CODE”)

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors
have complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The financial statements have been reviewed by the Audit
and Risk Committee. In 2021, four of the five Audit and Risk
Committee members are Independent Non-executive Directors,
with the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee having
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in financial
matters.

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year were audited by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu. The Company will submit a resolution at the
forthcoming AGM to recommend the re-appointment of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as the independent auditor of the Company.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
Annual Report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25%
of the Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing
Rules.

On behalf of the Board
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Limited
Wang Chuandong

Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 16 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BRIk th

BUSINESS REVIEW FOR 2021

Renewable energy development

As at the end of 2021, the Group had operational generation
capacity of 60,465MW and attributable operational generation
capacity of 47,997MW, out of which, the attributable operational
generation capacity of our thermal power plants amounted to
32,656MW or 67.8%. The total operational generation capacity
of wind, photovoltaic and hydro power amounted to 15,441MW
or 32.2%, representing an increase of 6.3 percentage points from
the end of 2020.

As at the end of 2021, the Group’s attributable operational
generation capacity of wind power amounted to 14,337MW,
with 1,402MW under construction. Attributable operational
photovoltaic power generation capacity amounted to 824MW,
with 1,417MW under construction.

During the year, new attributable grid-connected generation
capacity of wind and photovoltaic power of the Group totalled
2,535MW.

As at the end of 2021, the Group obtained approvals or filed for
1,800MW of wind power projects and 35,000MW of photovoltaic
power projects, a total of 36,800MW.

During the year, the attributable operational generation capacity
of the newly commissioned thermal power plants of the Group
amounted to 413MW, including a 660MW heat and power
cogeneration unit in Jinzhou (Phase ll), Liaoning, 50% owned, and
an 83MW gas-fired distributed project in Taizhou, Jiangsu, 100%
owned.

As at the end of 2021, the attributable generation capacity of
thermal power units under construction amounted to 3,405.2MW,
mainly including 2x660MW units in Xiantao Power Plant, Hubei,
100% owned; 2x350MW units in Ningwu Power Plant, Shanxi,
50% owned; 2x660MW units (Phase Il) in Fuyang, Anhui, 40%
owned; 2x660MW units (Phase Il) in Yunfu, Guangdong, 80%
owned; and the attributable generation capacity of gas-fired
distributed projects under construction amounted to 151.2MW.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Net generation volume

2021 saw a year-on-year increase in the growth rate of power
demand in the country. During the year, the total net generation
volume of our consolidated power plants amounted to 177,300
GWh, up by 14.4% from 2020. Net generation volume of wind
and photovoltaic power projects increased significantly by
57.8% and 63.2%, respectively, while net generation volume of
subsidiary thermal power plants increased by 7.5% year-on-year.

The average full-load equivalent utilisation hours of the operational
wind farms throughout the year was 2,464 hours, an increase
of 228 hours or 10.2% as compared to 2020, exceeding the
national average utilisation hours of wind power generation units
by 232 hours. The average full-load equivalent utilisation hours
of photovoltaic power projects was 1,510 hours, an increase of
87 hours or 6.1% as compared to 2020, exceeding the national
average utilisation hours for photovoltaic power generation units
by 229 hours. The average full-load equivalent utilisation hours of
subsidiary coal-fired power plants was 4,730 hours, an increase
of 139 hours or 3.0% as compared to 2020, exceeding the
national average utilisation hours for thermal power units by 282
hours.

In 2021, the net generation volume of our consolidated power
plants that followed market-based pricing accounted for 71.5%.
The average market tariff was 3.4% lower than that of the
benchmark on-grid tariff, the decrease of which has narrowed
down as compared to 2020.

Heat supply business

As at the end of 2021, 96% of the thermal power projects of the
Group have expanded into the heating market and commenced
heat supply operations in 28 cities across China. In 2021,
turnover from heat supply business amounted to HK$6,950
million, representing an increase of 23.5% as compared to 2020.

Fuel costs

In 2021, coal prices significantly increased. Average unit fuel
cost of the subsidiary coal-fired power plants was RMB305.8
per MWh, representing an increase of 60.4% compared to 2020.
Average unit cost of standard coal was RMB1,022.0 per tonne,
representing an increase of 59.5% compared to 2020.

Average net generation standard coal consumption rate of
the subsidiary coal-fired power plants was 296.8g per kWh,
representing an increase of 0.8g or 0.3% from 296.0g per kWh in
2020.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEREFwmRDH

Capital expenditure

In 2021, cash capital expenditure of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$26,731 million, of which HK$19,703 million
was used in the construction of wind, photovoltaic and hydro
power plants, approximately HK$4,955 million was used in the
construction of thermal power units, HK$1,237 million was used
in the technological upgrades of operational coal-fired power
units, approximately HK$439 million was used in the residue
payment for the construction of coal mines, and approximately
HK$397 million was used in the construction of integrated energy
projects.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Development of renewable energy

The Group will continue to make every effort to accelerate the
development and construction of wind and photovoltaic projects.
In the 14th Five Year Plan period, the Group aims to increase its
installed capacity of renewable energy by 40GW. It is expected
that the mix of installed capacity of renewable energy will exceed
50% by the end of the 14th Five Year Plan period (i.e. the end of
2025). To this end, we have further optimised the organisational
structure, and accelerated the approval and filing of wind and
photovoltaic power projects, thus to ensure the achievement of
our targets for the 14th Five Year Plan period.

The grid connection target for wind and photovoltaic power
projects of the Group for 2022 is expected to be 6,300MW.

Carbon emission reduction

The path for the Group to lower its carbon emissions includes,
among others, proactive development of renewable energy; strict
control over new construction of coal-fired power generation
units; reduction of coal consumption through increasing heat
supply, biomass coupling and technological transformations; and
active piloting of carbon capture, utilisation and storage (“CCUS”)
technologies.

The Group has been actively piloting CCUS technologies. In
addition to the pilot project in Haifeng Power Plant, the Group
proactively explores new energy technology, and increases its
investment in the research and development of carbon capture
and application technology, and the related pilot projects.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group actively participates in China’s carbon trading market.
Within the Company, a carbon trading system and a carbon
management system have been set up and trainings on carbon
management were regularly organised. The Company actively
explores innovations in carbon trading models and optimised
allocations of carbon assets to reduce costs.

China has been steadily and orderly promoting the participation
of renewable energy in the power trading market and promoting
green power trading. As more and more power users promote
carbon emission reduction and implement sustainable
development, the Group will increase efforts to develop green
power users and actively explore the green power market.

To facilitate the achievement of the carbon emission reduction
targets, the Group explicitly includes carbon emission reduction
and renewable energy development in the senior managements’
performance contracts, and the key performance indicators
include, among others, capacity mix of renewable energy, new
grid-connection of renewable energy, and carbon emission per
kWh, and evaluates actual performance.

Capital expenditure

The cash capital expenditure in 2022 is expected to be
approximately HK$37.6 billion, including approximately HK$30.5
billion for the construction of wind, photovoltaic and hydro-
electric power plants, approximately HK$4.0 billion for the
construction of thermal power units (including coal-fired and
gas-fired power units), approximately HK$1.5 billion for the
technological upgrades of operating coal-fired power units,
approximately HK$0.6 billion for the construction of coal mines,
and approximately HK$1.0 billion for the integrated energy and
the construction of other projects.

In 2022, the Group expects to commission thermal power
generation units with an attributable capacity of 2,085.2MW,
including: Xiantao Power Plant, Hubei, Ningwu Power Plant,
Shanxi, Fuyang (Phase Il) Power Plant, Anhui, and gas-fired
distributed energy projects.
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OPERATING RESULTS REXE
Consolidated statement of profit or loss BHEER
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE2021F12A31HILEEE
2021 2020
I CZEIEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TFET
Turnover S CENCEEIEN 69,550,811
Operating expenses KEM A
Fuels Ay (L REEWELN  (32,494,062)
Depreciation and amortisation e B B QERLYRALINY (11,712,737)
Employee benefit expenses EERMNAX (RLERTWY  (6,000,882)
Repairs and maintenance BRI [PESERENY  (2,118,862)
Consumables i GIRERKPAN (1,043,317)
Impairment charges AEEK (432,674) (599,893)
Tax and surcharges <& K (671,259) (700,722)
Others HAh (PRAOEPIN  (2,157,142)
Total operating expenses RSN (CYMEURERN  (56,827,617)
Other income HAKA 2,812,146 2,460,379
Other gains and losses HiEm (PR (1,090,381)
Operating profit K F| S yde Rl 14,093,192
Finance costs M E R (CNECENEE)]  (3,422,294)
Share of results of associates FE(L B (R 2E AR 241,346 555,373
Share of results of joint ventures BEaEEES (119,282) 244,058
Profit before income tax PRI AT A AV 11,470,329
Income tax expense FTiS &R CLrdk)  (2,793,994)
Profit for the year FAFE 884,039 8,676,335
Profit for the year attributable to: FRFAHEEBN -
Owners of the Company KABIEB A 1,592,752 7,582,668
Perpetual capital securities holders KABREBESFFHE A 462,980 235,327
Other non-controlling interests HMIEZE SR (1,171,693) 858,340
884,039 8,676,335
Basic earnings per share attributable to  EXERNBEBREAATHEBAZ
owners of the Company during the year SR Z&F| LE{ERY: Sl HK$1.587 7T

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other EHEEREMEZEHKAR
comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021F12831HLLEE
2021 2020
2T CZTTETHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Profit for the year FAF]H 884,039 8,676,335
Other comprehensive income (loss): Hh2mWBA (E18) :
Items that may be reclassified BB EEN D EEEmIER
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences BE 2 = 28 4,194,597 8,107,285
Share of other comprehensive income of  FE{EIREVER ZIZEREMN
investments accounted for using the Hihix & W
equity method 101,257 98,262
Release to profit or loss in relation to BEEME AR EOE R
disposal of subsidiaries 1,627 2,401
Release to profit or loss in relation to REHECEEOER
disposal of associates (20,639)
Items that will not be reclassified to THEEH 7 EERm IV EE
profit or loss
Transfer of deferred tax liability due to HEEURANEEFER
disposal of FVOCI BET AR MRS WmE
THEEMBENIEIL
REEE 187,180 —
Fair value changes on equity ManBEsTEAEEHEA
investments at fair value through HttiE s W aEmRE
other comprehensive income, NABEES RE)
net of tax (13,762) 463,959
Remeasurement of defined benefit BN ERTRATHTE
pension plan (27,704) -
Other comprehensive income for the year, E£REMEEU A FR1E)
net of tax 4,443,195 8,651,268
Total comprehensive income for the year, E£ARZEWA4ELE (%)
net of tax 5,327,234 17,327,603
Attributable to: B
Owners of the Company KRBEB AN CNCURKE 15,641,711
Perpetual capital securities holders KABRBSFHBEA 462,980 235,327
Other non-controlling interests HMIEZEHI R (882,076) 1,450,565
Total comprehensive income for the year, E£REEWAEEE (R%E)
net of tax 5,327,234 17,327,603

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2021

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Goodwill
Mining rights
Exploration and resources rights
Deferred tax assets
Other receivables and prepayments
Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Loans to a FVOCI investee company

Loans to a non-controlling shareholder

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables, other receivables
and prepayments
Loans to associates
Loans to joint ventures
Loans to a FVOCI investee company

Amounts due from associates

Amounts due from joint ventures

Amounts due from other related
companies

Pledged and restricted bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

ERENERBRAT

SHIAFER AR
2021%E12831H
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FET
BE
ERFEE
M BB &R E 192,953,359
FTREEE 5,679,555
GRS 663,659
PRUERE 4,558,859
BERENIRE 165,944
FIERE E 1,040,784
HAEWRIE K T8 78 12,600,647
REECEN#ER 8,760,459
ReEtENER 5,760,413

DA (8 3B B BB A
Hini s WE NS RME E
FILZ S0 B E 31 2 B BB T A
Hfirte s Wi HO R R E AT

1,138,982

N 91,886
mIEZEFIREE R —
233,414,547
MENEE

78 6,748,274

JFE UK BR 0 ~ L fith FE W RN TE e
SEENE O] 37,768,557
mEETEER 83,904
HMeEtEER 262,377

BUAREBESEBZEHTA
Hitiz 5 I m AR E A F

sy

(=N 372,107
& W B = (> TIE 406,333
B &= ERIE 35,375
JE W EL fth B 3 A B R IE

176,573

BRI A2 REIERITER 152,819
BERIBEEEY 7,934,211
53,940,530

MEE

287,355,077

2020
TEITF
HK$'000
FHET

180,816,825
5,703,539
745,354
4,464,641
161,205
861,407
9,541,081
8,203,530
5,778,918

2,383,337

319,223
14,852

218,993,912

2,911,609

31,428,420
220,772
300,080

131,519
120,076
62,837

126,241
300,087
5,036,484

40,638,025
259,631,937



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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2021 2020
B —"E_ZTHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEkEaE
Capital and reserves BARKHEE
Share capital [N PRI NG 22,316,710
Other reserves H At ANLICTEY 16,906,139
Retained earnings REAMHE LEEICRLZE 46,579,919
Equity attributable to owners of NABEB AEGLERD
the Company 88,387,668 85,802,768
Perpetual capital securities holders KABARESFFBA 10,827,061 10,827,061
Other non-controlling interests H A IEZES 4w 7,835,877 9,320,463
Total equity ERE A OYAE R 105,950,292
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities EREFas
Borrowings BE DR ORYAN 82,109,487
Contract liabilities ARA8E 858,566 421,748
Lease liabilities HEaR® 863,241 892,045
Deferred tax liabilities FIETR B 1R 351,725 608,780
Deferred income 3 SEUT A 973,525 978,306
Retirement and other long-term s R REMERES
employee benefits obligations =Rl N 913,356 887,433
Other long-term payables HAth = BAFE R 2,974,419 2,718,914
AP 2N IR 88,616,713
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables, other payables and AT ERF s Hth B NIB R
accruals fEst &R KIREWYZE 33 586,853
Contract liabilities aRAaMRE 1,481,794 1,720,182
Lease liabilities HEaR 114,999 183,165
Amounts due to associates JE < Bt 1 ZE TR B 772,877 1,115,631
Amounts due to joint ventures EBNEaEbERE 566,022 683,231
Amounts due to other related e HMREAE A B FI8
companies 7,391,714 6,458,016
Tax liabilities MEEE 409,820 1,160,066
Borrowings Bt pRRELNGE 20,157,788
CXCERLVE 65,064,932
Total liabilities wam LW YAl 153,681,645
Total equity and liabilities WESRERE Ly Yad 259,631,937
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 December 2021

aHRERER
HE2021F12B31HILLEE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

RS EE

2021
—E_—F

HK$’000
THET

2020

—ECTF

T

HK$'000
THET

Profit before income tax BRAFIS IR A A1) ARV 11,470,329
Adjustments for: HEE
Depreciation and amortisation e B B \ENLYASIN 11,712,737
Impairment charges PERIEE=ES 432,674 599,893
Exchange losses, net R FBE K 431,217 878,392
Interest expense FEM% 3,759,788 3,422,294
Interest income FEWA (300,601) (348,549)
Share of results of associates FEMEHE XS (241,346) (555,373)
Share of results of joint ventures IEEEhEEE 119,282 (244,058)
Dividends income from FVOCI investee MrnEBEsTE2B 28 A
companies HtiE s WamNEMEE
N E AT R EWA (106,600) (125,760)
(Gains) losses on disposal of property, HEYZE BB AREN
plant and equipment (U zm) B518 (70,697) 215,224
Gains on disposal of right-of-use assets ~ HEFEAEEEMN K (131,247) (27,582)
Losses (gains) on disposal of HENBAREE (Km)
subsidiaries 761 (1,736)
Gains on disposal of a joint venture HESEbERTA (61,161) —
Gains on disposal of associates HEMS bERTD - (4,891)
Changes in working capital: EEETEE .
(Increase)/decrease in inventories =8 gm R (3,727,263) 482,099
Increase in trade receivables, other FEUAR s EMEW N IB K
receivables and prepayments AT R IEE N GOKLINOI (6,261,275)
Increase in trade payables, other FETRR s HM B RIB R
payables and accruals FESTE g M 4,088,611 1,511,050
Increase in retirement and other long- FEsHRAREMRIAET
term employee benefits obligations & F B A 18 AN 12,238 772,441
Income tax paid EIF1EIR PIPEIEGEE)E (2,792,962)
NET CASH FLOWS GENERATED FROM #&EEBELMNBEEHRA—
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HER KNP N 20,702,273
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Dividends received from associates and
joint ventures

Dividends received from subsidiaries
disposed of in prior years

Dividends received from FVOCI investee
companies

Interests received

Advance proceeds from demolition of
property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries
engaging in coal mining business

Proceeds from disposal of associates

Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture

Proceeds from disposal of a FVOCI
investment

Acquisition of property, plant and
equipment, mining rights and
right-of-use assets

Capital contributions into associates

Capital contributions into joint ventures

Investment made into FVOCI

Loans to associates

Loans repaid by associates

Loans to joint ventures

Loans repaid by joint ventures

Loans to other related parties

Net cash outflow on acquisition of interest
in subsidiaries

Net cash outflow on acquisition of interest
in an associate

Prepayment on acquisition of interest in an
associate

Government grants related to assets

Proceeds upon dissolving a subsidiary

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING #EEFHEENIRESHEH

ACTIVITIES

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEw R

KREES
BHRBEEERGERERE
B

BWBTEFEHENR

BBUARBESERZEEA
Hithir 5 W m A= E E IR

RERBNKRE
BIFE
FRWHEY X BB RREME

RSB ERFEMRIR

HEYE BB kR EMNERE
BEMFSMIEA

HERFERFAREZHHEBEL

CIlFECE e !
HEMETEMSNIEA
HEGETLEMSNIEA

HEURAREBESEBEZHTA

Hii= & W mpIRE
W BB ~ IR e sk s ~ ERUEHE
MERREEF X HIEA

M= EEITE
MEEEEITE
AUARBESEEES
stAE AR & UL Y
THEENKRSE

M E B EEM

MECEEEEW
mEEEEEM

GELEEEEM

A EL {th B B 75 &R

W BB B 2 B R m BV IR SR
FER

RS E QAR ERMIRE M
FER

RISME R R ERFIANIIRE

BE EARRIR AT R
BENBARREFRA

— 38

AERE

2021
—E-—F
HK$’000

FET

462,890

101,045
386,412

566,149
166,718
4,850,850
368,54;
159,035
(25,117,553)

(78,557)
(357,178)

(71,219)
(18,063)
158,761
(95,320)
61,217

(133,137)
(717,655)
(126,985)

14,697
21,209

(19,398,138)

2020
—ECEF

n HK_$’OOO
FiE

1,055,217

264,888

246,645
36,705

204,597

583,786

349,147

(30,528,698)
(73,259)
(652,590)

(74,495)
(182,591)
(117,695)
256,398

(8,745)

(28,624,189
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from bank borrowings

Repayment of bank borrowings

Proceeds from issuance of perpetual
capital securities

Proceeds from issuance of corporate
bonds

Redemption of corporate bonds

Proceeds from disposal of interests in
subsidiaries without loss of control

Capital contributions by non-controlling
interests

Advances from an intermediate holding
company

Repayment of advances from an
intermediate holding company

Advances from (repayment of advances
from) associates

Advances from (repayment of advances
from) joint ventures

Repayment of advances from other related

companies

Advances from non-controlling interests of

a subsidiary
Principal elements of lease payments
Interests paid

Dividends paid to owners of the Company
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

of subsidiaries
Interests paid to perpetual capital
securities holders

Underwriting fees for issuance of perpetual

capital securities

NET CASH FLOWS GENERATED FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

MEEE
RITEEFT1SRIA
BERITEE
BITKABXEFFRSIRIR

BT RBREFFREMRIR

C{EINSINEEZS
HENB A D CREKRER
) FR1S™IE
FFEFIMEDHE
AR A TR

BEREERATER

BMELERN (BEMELE
)

BELEXBIN (BESELE
)

EEH MBI AT B

B A B IR EREMR
BEBEENEELE

BNHE

BN ERATHEE ARSE
ENMEBARIFERERARE
BUXKAERESHE

KA BERBFETHAEE

MEZSHEENREMA—FHE

ReERBEEEEMEM
(RiL) 388
FVRERREZEY

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE FEZX & By,

CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE END OF THE PERIOD

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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HARERRZFEY

2021

=B

HK$’000
FTAET

55,673,507

(27,753,140)

1,207,390
(6,042,400)

238,853
1,000,000

)

(375,156)

(146,532)
(143,646)
5,416
(149,678)
(3,987,665)
(3,154,904)
(482,129)

(462,980)

14,726,936

2,728,370

5,036,484

169,357

7,934,211

2020
—ECEF

— ==

HK$’000
THETT

42,912,951
(33,589,910)

5,257,010

2,274,560
(2,568,454)

110,722
173,103
2,464,380
(2,783,279)
607,147
469,660

(97,749)

(168,307)
(3,975,038)
(2,755,790)

(589,773)

(235,327)

(11,059)

7,494,847

(427,069)
4,907,306

556,247

5,036,484



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Changes in accounting standards and disclosures

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments, which
are measured at fair values.

Other than additional accounting policies as resulting from
application of amendments to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), the accounting policies and methods of
computation used in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021 are the same as those presented
in the Group’s annual financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020.

Application of amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, for the first time,

which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning

on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of the Group’s

consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the International
Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified
the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary
to make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of
inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Impacts and accounting policies on application of
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2”

Financial instruments

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments relate to changes in the basis
for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets,
financial liabilities and lease liabilities as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and
the related disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures (“HKFRS 77).

As at 1 January 2021, the Group had bank and other borrowing
amounting to HK$25,316 million, the interest of which are indexed
to benchmark rates that will or may be subject to interest rate
benchmark reform.

During the year, the Group’s LIBOR bank and other borrowings
with carrying amounts of HK$736 million have been transitioned
to the relevant alternative benchmark rates. Such transitions have
had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements
as the Group has applied the practical expedient in relation to the
changes in contractual cash flows resulting from the interest rate
benchmark reform for bank loans measured at amortised cost.

The Group has not early adopted new and amended
standards that have been issued but are not effective for the
financial year beginning after 1 January 2021.

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been
published during the year that are not mandatory for the reporting
period ended 31 December 2021 and have not been early
adopted by the Group. These standards are not expected to have
a material impact on the Group in the current or future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 64
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Turnover represents revenue received and receivable arising from
sales of electricity and heat, net of value-added tax, during the
year.

BHHE
B KEHEE

Sales of electricity
Including: Sales of power generated from
thermal power plants
Sales of power generated
from renewable energy

PBERREEHE

Heat supply HAELRE

89,799,915

The Group’s turnover for 2021 was HK$89,800 million,
representing an increase of HK$20,249 million or 29.1% from
HK$69,551 million for 2020. In RMB terms, the turnover for 2021
was RMB74,476 million, representing an increase of RMB12,856
million or 20.9% from RMB61,620 million in 2020. The increase
is mainly attributable to (1) a year-on-year increase of 14.4% in
net generation volume of subsidiary power plants; (2) a year-on-
year increase of 7.4% in the average on-grid tariffs (tax exclusive)
of subsidiary coal-fired power plants; (3) a year-on-year increase
of 4.1% in the sales of heat supply of subsidiary power plants;
(4) a year-on-year increase of 10.7% in the average unit price (tax
exclusive) of the sales of heat supply of subsidiary power plants;
and (5) a year-on-year increase in the amount of turnover in Hong
Kong dollars arising from the appreciation of the exchange rate of
RMB against the Hong Kong dollar by 7.1%.

At present, the Group is engaged in two business segments
— thermal power (inclusive of coal-fired power plants and gas-
fired power plants) and renewable energy (inclusive of wind,
photovoltaic and hydro power).

As at 31 December 2021, after considering the liabilities that can
be split and classified to the renewable energy segment, the net
assets of the Group’s renewable energy segment attributable to
the owners of the Company was HK$65,370 million and the net
assets of the Group’s thermal power segment attributable to the
owners of the Company was HK$23,018 million.

82,849,584
62,569,413

20,280,171
6,950,331
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EEREFARBEEE N RAEME R
MEW YR EE FOFRIEERIE) o

HK$'000

RMB'000

ARETTR
2021 2020
- —E-BE

—< ==

63,924,735 56,664,494

68,716,484

51,446,200 © alrflisral 45,608,809
12,478,635 ERLKZARKE 11,055,685

5,626,076 5,759,962 4,955,868
69,650,811 61,620,362

74,476,446
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEw R

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by WU T AR 2| H I B DR EE KD
operating segments: REZDT

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE2021F1283101LEE

Thermal Renewable

power energy Total
KE AIBLERER Fh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHTT FHET
Segment revenue DEBUA
External sales SN BB 3K & 69,519,744 20,280,171 89,799,915
Segment (losses) profit SEFE (E518) (7,155,981) 9,428,773 2,272,792
Exchange losses, net P& B8R (431,217)
Profit before income tax BRPFTIS AR A A 1,841,575
Profit attributable to owners of the RABHEE AELF)E
Company (before non-cash exchange ~ (GFIR&EREZA)
gains and losses) (6,348,814) 8,372,783 2,023,969
Asset impairment losses BERERR 406,372 8,421 414,793
Core business profit (losses) attributable Z<A T#EA AEMGIZOER
to owners of the Company F8 (B518) (5,942,442) 8,381,204 2,438,762
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. ) 66 ™ -ﬂ-b“‘""'t_;.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Segment revenue DEUA
External sales SNERSHE

Segment profit D EF]H

Exchange losses, net FERFEER

Profit before income tax BRETSIRRIRE

Profit attributable to owners of the KRB HER AEEF)E
Company (before non-cash exchange ~ (GEIR&E RIBZEAN)
gains and losses)

Asset impairment and asset disposal ~~ BEBEREIGELES E
losses for shutdown of generation BEBX

units
One-off provision for socialisation

—RMEFHRBIRABHEL

expenses for retirees &H
Core business profit attributable to KABEE AEGZL
owners of the Company E Y

Geographical information

Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets are located
in the PRC, and operations were substantially carried out in the
PRC.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses mainly comprise fuel cost, depreciation
and amortisation, employee benefit expenses, repairs and
maintenance, consumables, impairment charges, tax and
surcharges and other operating expenses. Other operating
expenses include office rent, water charges, utility expenses and
other management expenses. Total operating expenses for 2021
amounted to HK$87,041 million, representing an increase of
HK$30,213 million or 53.2% from HK$56,828 million for 2020.

BIEEw RO
#HE2020F12H31BLLEE
Thermal  Renewable
power energy Total
KE IBLEER 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THT THT THT
57,072,276 12,478,535 69,550,811
7,546,354 4,802,367 12,348,721
(878,392)
11,470,329
4,182,222 4,193,303 8,375,525
384,433 327,988 712,421
666,981 = 666,981
5,233,636 4,521,291 9,754,927
i &

AEBRBREMNIEFRBHEEMUNTE
EENEBRPEET

RERAFTEGERE A ITE S
HNEERABEXI  HEEMEE MR
BEBE R RMIN UREMKE R
Ko HMEERABIERAER S K
BE-FHEUKREMEEERZE 2021
FRKE M A A870.41E 87T 2020
F568.28@ B LB M302.13EEB T
53.2%°
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEw R

Fuel costs increased by HK$25,950 million or 79.9% from
HK$32,494 million for 2020 to HK$58,444 million for 2021, mainly
due to (1) an increase in the unit price of standard coal by 59.5%
year-on-year; (2) an increase in the net generation volume of
subsidiary coal-fired power plants by 7.6% year-on-year; (3) an
increase in the heat sales volume of subsidiary power plants by
4.1% year-on-year; and (4) the appreciation of RMB against HKD,
resulting in a year-on-year increase of the figures presented in
HKD.

Depreciation and amortisation increased by HK$2,885 million or
24.6% from HK$11,713 million for 2020 to HK$14,598 million
for 2021, mainly due to (1) the commissioning of a large number
of renewable energy projects; and (2) the appreciation of RMB
against HKD, resulting in a year-on-year increase of the figures
presented in HKD.

Employee benefit expenses increased by HK$354 million or
5.9% from HK$6,001 million for 2020 to HK$6,355 million for
2021, mainly due to (1) the commissioning of a large number of
renewable energy projects; (2) the appreciation of RMB against
HKD, resulting in a year-on-year increase of the figures presented
in HKD; however, such increase was reduced due to the following
two factors: the one-off provision for socialisation expenses for
retirees of subsidiaries, and the employee dismissal benefits
provided for the coal business of Tianneng for last year.

Repairs and maintenance expenses increased by HK$400 million
or 18.9% from HK$2,119 million for 2020 to HK$2,519 million for
2021, mainly due to (1) an increase in repairs and maintenance
works arising from the growth of installed capacity as a result of
the commissioning of new power units; and (2) the appreciation
of RMB against HKD, resulting in a year-on-year increase of the
figures presented in HKD.

Consumables increased by HK$271 million or 25.9% from
HK$1,043 million for 2020 to HK$1,314 million for 2021, mainly
due to (1) an increase in net generation volume of subsidiary
power plants, resulting in the increased consumption of
consumables; (2) the commissioning of new power units and the
growth of installed capacity, resulting in an increase in material
consumption; and (3) the appreciation of RMB against HKD,
resulting in a year-on-year increase of the figures presented in
HKD.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Impairment charges decreased by HK$167 million or 27.9% from
HK$600 million for 2020 to HK$433 million in 2021, mainly due
to the asset impairment provision for wind power projects that
withdrew or had not completed grid-connection in 2020; however,
the decrease was partially offset by the following two factors:
the impairment provision for goodwill of Yangzhou No. 2 Power
Generation Co., Ltd. and Shenyang China Resources Heating
Co., Ltd., and the appreciation of the exchange rate of RMB
against HKD, resulting in a year-on-year increase of the figures
presented in HKD.

Tax and surcharges decreased by HK$30 million or 4.2% from
HK$701 million for 2020 to HK$671 million for 2021, mainly due
to a decrease in the amount of value-added tax and a decrease in
urban maintenance and construction tax and education surcharge
payable; however, such decrease was partially offset by the
appreciation of RMB against HKD, resulting in a year-on-year
increase of the figures presented in HKD.

Other operating expenses amounted to HK$2,707 million,
representing an increase of HK$550 million or 25.5% from
HK$2,157 million for 2020. Other operating expenses mainly
included other production costs of the power business such
as water charges and utility expenses amounting to HK$2,282
million, office rents, and building management fees, professional
fees, administrative charges and other administrative costs
amounting to HK$424 million.

Other income

Other income amounted to HK$2,812 million, representing an
increase of HK$352 million or 14.3% from HK$2,460 million
for 2020, which was mainly attributable to the increases in
the income from government subsidies and by-products.
Other income for 2021 mainly included sales of byproducts of
HK$1,193 million, government grant of HK$704 million, income
from service fees of HK$430 million and interest income of
HK$301 million.

Other gains and losses

Other gains and losses amounted to a loss of HK$92 million,
comprising exchange losses of HK$431 million and gains on
disposal of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment
of HK$202 million. Exchange losses mainly arises from RMB loans
obtained by the Company in Hong Kong. Although cash flows
are in line with the income of the Group, the appreciation of the
exchange rate of RMB against HKD has resulted in book loss in
the financial statements denominated in HKD.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Operating profit

Operating profit represents profit from subsidiaries before
deduction of finance costs, income tax expenses and non-
controlling interests. Operating profit for 2021 amounted to
HK$5,479 million, representing a decrease of HK$8,614 million
or 61.1% from HK$14,093 million for 2020. The decrease
in operating profit was mainly due to a significant increase
in average unit fuel cost of the subsidiary coal-fired power
plants, which offset (1) year-on-year increases in the net
generation volume and on-grid tariff (exclusive of tax) of the
subsidiary coal-fired power plants; (2) profit contribution from
newly commissioned renewable energy projects; and (3) the
appreciation of RMB against HKD, resulting in a year-on-year
increase of the figures presented in HKD.

Finance costs

Finance costs for 2021 amounted to HK$3,760 million,
representing an increase of HK$338 million or 9.9% from
HK$3,422 million in 2020, mainly due to (1) an increase in line
of credit; (2) commissioning of power generation units, resulting
in an increase in finance costs; and (3) the appreciation of RMB
against HKD, resulting in a year-on-year increase of the figures
presented in HKD, which offset the effect of a decrease in
average borrowing interest rate.

Interests on borrowings BEHE

Interests on corporate bonds and notes ~ ATEHEKZER S
Interests on loans from related parties Ealiyan=EEIps,
Interests on lease liabilities HEaGHNE
Others HAh

Less: Interest capitalised in construction in & @ RIEE LR EACF B

progress
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2021
—E-—%F

2020
it
HK$’000
FH7
3,567,921

HK$’000
TET
3,937,288

403,410 412,389
51,377 145,560
25,895 49,801
58,940 54,824

4,476,910 4,230,495
INANAEZ)  (808,201)
3,422,294

3,759,788




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Share of results of associates

Share of results of associates for 2021 amounted to HK$241
million, representing a decrease of HK$314 million or 56.5% from
HK$555 million for 2020, mainly due to a decrease in the profit
of coal-fired power associates resulting from an increase in fuel
costs.

Share of results of joint ventures

Share of results of joint ventures for 2021 was a loss of HK$119
million, mainly due to the loss incurred by coal-fired power joint
ventures resulting from an increase in fuel costs, as compared to
the profit of HK$244 million for 2020.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses for 2021 amounted to HK$958 million,
representing a decrease of HK$1,836 million or 65.7% from
HK$2,794 million for 2020, mainly due to a profit decrease of
subsidiary coal-fired power plants, resulting in the decreases in
income tax expenses.

Details of the income tax expenses for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 are set out below:

BEEw R

ERIGBE R RRR

CO1FEREMEHMELXEBEAR2411EE
TG’ BR2020F5.55@ B T /3. 1488 7T
356.5% TERRETHEEELER
WARL AR A _EFH B BEFF L o

BLEaERERE

021 A EPEEEABKR119E
B HRETEEREESEERN R
KEFEREE > M2020FE AR F]2.44
BT

FriEiiE&R

2021 EFRIBMEBA9.58F BT &
2020527.94E B T H /0 18.36(E B T ok
65.7% ° = B2 M B WAE B R FE TE
EEFmERERR L

B E2021FE K%2020FE12B31HIEEEN
RS & BsEBE&ESWT -

2021
—E-—F

HK$’000

Current income tax — PRC Enterprise
Income Tax
Deferred income tax

PSR
FEIEFTIS IR IA

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no taxable profit or incurred tax losses in Hong Kong
for both years.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been calculated based on the
estimated assessable profits in accordance with the relevant tax
rates applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC.

EMFERE-—PEEE

s BN
. T A .

FET

1,177,209 2,932,795
(219,673) (138,801)
2,793,994

957,536
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Operating profit for the year FRLETHE
2021 2020
— B —F "ZTEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TFAT
Operating profit for the year has been FRKZSHEENFRTIEIE
arrived after deducting the following
items:
Directors’ remuneration EEME
- Fees —f8% 1,880 1,880
— Salaries and bonus —TENRESE 18,504 8,203
— Pension costs —BIRE 2 484 357
20,868 10,440
Wages, salaries and bonus ITERES 5,307,167 4,653,186
Pension costs — retirement benefit BAREAE—EZERAFE
schemes 1,015,849 1,129,882
Termination benefit costs riIFrZEENER 10,658 207,374
Total staff costs BT AT 6,354,542 6,000,882
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEM AN & 12,447 13,216
Cost of inventories recognised as EFEMAER A H
expenses 59,758,988 33,638,099
Depreciation and amortisation 7€ B 8 \ERLYRTI N 11,712,737
Impairment charges VEAEEEES 432,674 599,893
And after adding the following items: REFTATIIEIE !
Dividend income from FVOCI investee REUARBEFEBEEHA
companies Hiz a5 am SR E ENH
KERNFREWA 106,600 125,760
Government grant BT fE B 704,137 529,191
Interest income A E WA 300,601 348,549
Sales of scrap materials and by-product 4 & Bkl & &8l ZE & 1,193,457 1,113,151
Net foreign exchange gains (included in SMEW R ER (BEEENEM
other gains and losses) Bm) (431,217) (878,392)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARKRE WS (761) 1,736
Gains on disposal of a joint venture HEGELERE RS 61,161 =
Gains on disposal of associates HEBMESEERE WA - 4,891
Gains (losses) on disposal of property, HEMZE BB AR EBEN K GE
plant and equipment (included in other (#EX) EaErHEMER
gains and losses) 70,697 (215,224)
Gains on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFAREEN KT (BEEE
(included in other gains and losses) REMIB ) 131,247 27,582
Expenses capitalised in construction in RERIERNERECNER :
progress:
Other staff costs HME T 327,771 547,703
Pension costs =LY NN 51,133 28,211
Depreciation and amortisation HTEE N 48,574 140,324

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

ERENERBRAT




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Profit attributable to owners of the Company TATEE AELFIH

As a result of the above, profit attributable to owners of the HR E#MKZIE > KA ATEE AEEF]E
Company decreased from approximately HK$7,583 million in  EH2020F4975.83E B T £2021F 49
2020 to approximately HK$1,593 million in 2021, representing a  15.93f878 75’ [E L/ 79.0% ©
year-on-year decrease of 79.0%.

Earnings per share SRET
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the ZATEE AEEHNESREREFIRE
owners of the Company is based on the following data: MUTERE

2021 2020
—E_—F _"E_EF

HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FER

Profit attributable to owners of the AT HEE AELFIE
Company 1,592,752 7,582,668

Number of ordinary shares
ZERHE

2020

B Sa

=

BETEBRIMETITH

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue 4,810,443,740

Basic earnings per share
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Final dividend and closure of register of members

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend of
HK$0.045 per share for 2021 (2020: HK$0.406 per share).

Dividends distributed during the year: FRNEDIKNKE :

2021 Interim, paid-HK$0.25 per share
(2020: HK$0.225 per share)

£ 20.22578 7T)

2020 Final, paid-HK$0.406 per share
(2019: HK$0.348 per share)

S5 80.348%E 7T)

Dividend proposed after the end of the
reporting year:

Proposed final dividend for 2021 of
HK$0.045 (2020: HK$0.406) per share

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday,
7 June 2022 (the “2022 AGM”), the proposed final dividend will
be distributed on Friday, 22 July 2022 to shareholders of the
Company whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company at the close of business on Monday, 13 June 2022.

The 2021 final dividend will be paid in Hong Kong dollars to each
shareholder. However, shareholders may elect to receive the 2021
final dividend in Renminbi in cash.

Shareholders may elect to receive the entire 2021 final dividend
at the average benchmark rate of Hong Kong dollars against
Renminbi as published by the People’s Bank of China for the five
business days preceding the date of the 2022 AGM (i.e. 7 June
2022) (including the date of the 2022 AGM), but not part thereof,
except that HKSCC Nominees Limited may elect to receive part
of its final dividend in Renminbi. Details of the dividend currency
election will be set out in a circular to be sent to shareholders by
the Company in late April 2022 and the dividend currency election
form will be sent to shareholders as soon as possible after the
2022 AGM.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 74
ERENERERAA .

BIK{F2021 EFHAG B —
0.25% 75 (20204 :

BIR{T2020F R EARG B —
0.4067 7T (20194 :

REFEHRRRERPRE !

k2021 E R EA IR B 5 1%0.045
H 7T (20204 : 0.40637T)

KRR EREENEROELCFE

BEEEZRBEIEXREBEATR
0.0453% 7T (20204 : ©H80.4068 7T) ©

2021
—E-—%F

2020
it

HK$'000
TET

HK$’000
TET

=&
1,202,609 1,082,350

Bk
1,953,040 1,674,034
3,155,649 2,756,384
1,963,040

216,470

FRREPR2022F6H7H (EHH D) 8171
FEEREREAS LM AEE  BIKHNK
HARG g pt2022FE7 822 (E#F) k&
F R 202268130 (2H—) £ E4S
RELHAATIRELMAIARER

COTEXRBREBUBEIKEFSIR
ROoMREIEZENARKIRE S UWE
2021 RHARR B o

% 5 BT IR IR FB2022 FE I R B E A (A
20226 H7H) R1THEAABEXH
(@%ﬁzozzﬁﬂ;%tﬁk%‘% H)
AE%E”"W‘EE@% TARKEHEE
EXEFEUARBEWEZE2021F KR
HQE\ (EFESD BEEATPREE (RE
A) BIRAT BIEZE A R WELE 25
RE) - BRREEBEEZEBFEHN
KATBR2022F4B T AT TFTREZE
BRI MR B BB EERKERR20225
REBFAZREBRTTRE-




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2022
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Wednesday, 1 June 2022 to Tuesday, 7 June 2022 (both
days inclusive), during which no share transfer will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM, all
share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
31 May 2022.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021, the register of members
of the Company will be closed on Monday, 13 June 2022
and no share transfer will be registered on that day. To qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 10 June 2022.

Capital structure management

The Group and the Company manage capital to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity structures. The Group’s and
the Company’s overall strategy remain consistent as in prior
years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts (including
long-term and short-term bank borrowings, corporate bonds and
loans from related parties), cash and cash equivalents, pledged
and restricted bank deposits and equity attributable to owners
of the Company (comprising issued share capital, reserves and
retained earnings).

The Board reviews the capital structure on a periodic basis. As
part of the review, the Board considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on the
resolution of the Board, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through payment of dividends, new share issues and
share buy-backs as well as by issue of new debts or repayment of
existing debts.
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Liquidity and financial resources, borrowings, and charge
of assets

At 31 December 2021, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$14,119 million. The Directors are of the opinion that, taking
into account the current operating and business plan of the
Group as well as the banking facilities available to the Group, the
Group has sufficient working capital to enable it to meet in full
its financial obligations as and when they fall due for the coming
twelve months from the balance sheet date. Therefore, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2021
denominated in local currency and foreign currencies amounted
to HK$106 million, RMB6,396 million and US$0.4862 million and
a small amount of GBP.

Bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Secured bank loans BEMFIRITER
Unsecured bank loans EIGIHIRITEMN
Corporate bonds NEMES

Loans from related parties Bl yaRr=E

The bank borrowings were repayable as follows:

Within 1 year —FR

;u@]ﬁﬁ&ﬂﬁ‘*ﬁﬁ BEREER
f

KEENR2021F12831HEERIEE
BN AMEBT - EFRA  KEEX
EEBEANCERERTEREAERT
FANBTHRER ~AEBEEHNEE
BESXHETERNHGEBESELRX
R+ZEAB BB BEE AL ZF
EHMBRRCERFECEREERHE

F2021FE12831H » WU H#h & #8 K Jh i
FIENIREAIRESEBYWEERS1.06
BB 63.96B T AR \48.628X%TT
B/ L& EE o

AEE 20215 %2020F12831 HAVIR
TREMEENT :

2021
—E—%F

2020
—EBFE

HK$’000
THATT

HK$’000
THET

2,936,822 2,691,834
116,019,015 85,665,153
9,540,102 14,020,288
6,251,763 5,951,763
108,219,038

134,747,702

IRITEEWN THRMERSR :

2021
—E-—%F
HK$’000
FHEx
17,314,928

14,216,988

More than 1 year and within 2 years BiE—FERBEMmE 31,608,528 5,588,716
More than 2 years and within 5 years BEmEBIBBEE PUEIRBR KN 35,615,084
Over 5 years BiEhF 49,129,251 32,826,199
118,955,837 88,246,987
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The corporate bonds and notes were repayable as follows:

Within 1 year —FR
More than 1 year and within 2 years

More than 2 years and within 5 years

The above bank and other borrowings are
secured by:
Pledge of assets

PRI
EERH

Note:  Certain bank loans were secured by the Group’s buildings, power generating

plants and equipment with carrying value of HK$2,437,553,000 (2020:
HK$797,395,000) and HK$763,302,000 (2020: HK$1,344,117,000) respectively.

Bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2021
denominated in local currency and foreign currencies amounted
to HK$26,122 million, RMB87,614 million, GBP129 million and
USD10.3538 million respectively.

As at 31 December 2021, bank and other borrowings of
HK$26,122 million, GBP129 million and USD10.3538 million
(2020: HK$23,848 million, GBP136 million and USD3.61 million)
bore interest at a range from HIBOR plus 0.55% to HIBOR plus
1.08% per annum, LIBOR plus 0.89% per annum, and SONIA
plus credit-adjusted spread for the applicable interest period plus
0.98% per annum, and USD borrowings at a rate of 2.42% per
annum. The remaining bank and other borrowings carried interest
rates at a range from 2.35% to 4.90% (2020: 1.85% to 4.90%)
per annum.

As at 31 December 2021, the ratio of the Group’s net debt
to shareholders’ equity was 143.3%, and total debt to total
capitalisation was 55.7%. In the opinion of the Directors, the
Group has a stable capital structure, which can support its future
development plans and operations.

BB B BBME
BERECTBBLE

HARITREMEE U THIER

BEEw R

AREHREEN THMEE

2021
—E-—F

HK$’000
FET

5,870,832

5,940,800

2,446,180 5,703,168
1,223,090 2,376,320
9,540,102 14,020,288

2,141,612

3,200,855

ETHRTERUANEEBRBED NS
2,437,553 F Bt (ZEZFF : 797,395F &
7T) K% 763,302F BT (ZE_TF [ 1,344,117
THET NIEF BEMERZEEIRR

FR2021FE128310 » A #h & #E K s
FENIRITREMEE DRI A261.22
Bt ANRKE876.14B 5 1.20B HiE K
1,035.388 FE T ©

R2021FE12831H  IRTTREMEES
1E261.22(8 8 70~ 1.2018 5 $% &% 1,035.38
B =71 (20204 : 238.48f2# 75~ 1.3618
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E2F B MN0.55EF1.03EMNEF K
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In 2021, the Group’s primary sources of funding included
new bank borrowings, proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries,
proceeds from disposal of a joint venture, dividend income,
issuance of corporate bonds and net cash inflow from operating
activities, which amounted to HK$55,674 million, HK$4,851
million, HK$369 million, HK$564 million, HK$1,207 million and
HK$7,400 million, respectively. The Group’s funds were primarily
used for the repayment of bank borrowings, redemption of
corporate bonds, acquisition of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, interest and dividend payments, which
amounted to HK$27,753 million, HK$6,042 million, HK$25,118
million, HK$3,988 million and HK$3,637 million, respectively.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables from contracts with
customers

Accounts receivable JFE U BR =X
Notes receivable R Z

Less: loss allowance for trade receivables

Trade receivables are generally due within 60 days from the date
of billing.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables by invoice
date included in trade and other receivables at the end of the
reporting period:

0-30 days 0Z30H

31-60 days 31Z260H
Over 60 days 608 A
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Lid. P 78

ERENERBRAT

B BRI E 2

2021  AEENTEE SR REEN
SRTEE - LENBLABMEB - HES
ENEIFB REWANBTREES X
KETHEENRESRATE D5
556.74E# T~ 48.518 8 7T~ 3.6918 8
T~ 5.64EEB T 12.07B B T KR74.0012
B - AEEBNESFEREEERTT
BE-BLOrAEBEs BEYE - -KE-
RERFEARESEENBENRE G
BEKE DR %&277.53E 8T 60.42
BATT 251188 39.88EE T K
36.37E BT o

FEURBR TR

2021
—E-—%F

HK$’000
FET

29,397,906 19,435,085
438,236 1,002,828
PORKLREYE 20,437,913
(45,068) (75,095)
20,362,818

29,791,074

PR AR — AR IS IR B8 B BAREST60H M |
o

UTARRESHERCEBEETRIN R EMAE

W R IE PO Y E U AR R R 8 22 H ER R BR R
pAR) i

2021

—E—F

HK$’000

FET

13,396,411

8,990,210

1,020,802 1,106,344
15,418,929 10,341,359
20,437,913

29,836,142
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Trade payables &1 BR =X

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables by invoice WU TARREMKRSDIEZEEN REME
date included in trade and other payables at the end of the (THRIBRMENERIZXZHHANERE
reporting period: PR ig

2021
—E-—F

HK$’000
TR
0-30 days 0ZE30H CRTLRZEN 4,092,339

31-90 days 31E90H 2,879,972 3,392,367
Over 90 days 90B U k£ 3,145,167 1,643,035

11,193,484 9,127,741

Average credit term for purchase of goods is 90 days. BETHEERAB-

Key financial ratios of the Group FEBNEEMFBIEE

Current ratio (times) TENEEZ (2)
Quick ratio (times) RENEEE (2) 0.58
Net debt to shareholders’ equity ratio (%) 3 & & %1 §% 58 7 75 (%) 119.9
EBITDA interest coverage (times) EBITDAT S {RPEF & (1) O 6.7
Current ratio = balance of current assets at the end of SRENELE = RERNRBEELS
the year/balance of current liabilities at B MRELNTRBAERE
the end of the year 4EER
Quick ratio = (balance of current assets at the end of #R&ELZE = (RERNRBEELS
the year-balance of inventories at the end BN EENEFEESR
of the year)/balance of current liabilities at Ef?) SRELRNRSE
the end of the year B
Net debt to = (balance of borrowings at the end of FEAMBHK = (RNELKE ‘5”5 BR—1
shareholders’ the year-balance of cash and cash R FHRNBITHERKRIR
equity ratio equivalents at the end of the year-balance S -NEALNBERFIR
of pledged cash at the end of the year)/ THR) RERNEK
balance of equity attributable to owners NEHE NEBILERAG
of the Company at the end of the year BR
EBITDA interest =  (profit before taxation + interest expenses EBITDAR]E = RRATFIE+F B
coverage + depreciation and amortisation)/interest RIE (8 +ITE R FIEX
expenses (including capitalised interests) H (BEEREHE)
Note: MIEE
(1) Excluding non-cash income and expenses, being loss on disposal of assets, (1) A HFEREKL > QIEEERBEL FERK%
impairment loss and exchange gains and losses. I ARMEERI8E o
=xp Al IR rt 2021
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Foreign exchange risk

The Group collects substantially all of its revenue in RMB
and most of the Group’s expenditures, including expenditure
incurred in its operations as well as capital expenditure, are also
denominated in RMB. Dividends receivable from the subsidiaries
and associates are collected in RMB, HKD and Great Britain
Pounds (“GBP”).

RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates
of RMB could vary significantly from the current or historical
exchange rates as a result of controls that could be imposed
by the Chinese government. The exchange rates may also be
affected by economic developments, political changes and supply
and demand. The appreciation or devaluation of RMB against
HKD and United States Dollar (“USD”) may have positive or
negative impact on the results of operations of the Group.

The functional currency of major project companies of the Group
is RMB, the revenue and expenses are mainly denominated
in RMB, foreign exchange risk mainly arises from borrowings
denominated in HKD. However, certain entities are located in
Hong Kong and their functional currencies are HKD, their foreign
exchange risk mainly arises from balances denominated in RMB
and borrowings denominated in RMB and GBP.

In addition, given there are different functional currencies within
the Group, there is still foreign exchange risk which arises from
the transactions and balances within the Group even after
intragroup eliminations. The carrying amounts of foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities before
elimination as at 31 December 2021 are as follows:

BE

Assets

UsD ETT
RMB AR
HKD BT
GBP T
Liabilities afE
RMB AR
GBP T
UsD ETT
EUR BT

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge
its exposure against changes in exchange rates of the RMB
against HKD and USD.
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Events after the balance sheet date

The Group’s renewable energy business adopted the same
depreciation policy as the thermal power business. The estimated
useful lives for the power generating plants and equipment of
wind power and photovoltaic power were set at 18 years, with
the estimated nil residual value using straight-line depreciation
method. Upon recent assessment carried out by the management
taking into account past operating experience with the
combination of actual usage of relevant assets and considering
market practice by taking reference from major operators in
China’s power industry, the Board approved the resolution
that the estimated useful lives of the power generating plants
and equipment of wind power and photovoltaic power should
be adjusted from 18 years to 20 years, without adjusting the
estimated residual value. The revised estimation would take effect
from 1 January 2022.

Based on the Group’s carrying amount of the relevant fixed
assets for wind power and photovoltaic power projects in
operation as at 31 December 2021, the annual depreciation
would have decreased by HK$648 million and segment profit of
the renewable energy segment would have increased by the same
amount.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group provided certain
guarantees amounting to HK$389,491,000 (31 December 2020:
HK$378,367,000) to an associate.

In addition, there were certain pending litigations and claims
against the Group. After consulting with legal counsels, the
Directors are of the view that the likelihood of any material
adverse financial impact on the Group is remote, and no further
provisions need to be made in respect of such litigations and
claims.

Employees

The Group had 21,252 employees as at 31 December 2021
(2020: 21,611 employees).

The Company and its subsidiaries have concluded employment
contracts with all of their employees. The compensation of
employees mainly includes salaries and performance-based
bonuses.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEER/ERS

A. INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) strives to
ensure that the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) meet
high standards of safety, performance and corporate governance.

The Board has ultimate authority over, and oversight of, the
Group’s operations and regards good corporate governance as a
critical element in the drive to improve the Group’s performance
and achieve the Group’s vision of being a world class energy
provider and one of the most admired employers in China.

In 2021, CR Power has adopted all of the principles and
complied with the code provisions that were in force as set out
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as contained in
Appendix 14 to The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

On 1 January 2022, the Code has been amended (the “New
Code”), majority of code provisions effective applicable to
the financial year commencing on or after 1 January 2022.
The amendments to the New Code mainly include: alignment
of company’s culture with its purpose, values and strategy;
establishment of anti-corruption and whistleblowing policies;
board independence and its diversity; communication with
shareholders, publication timeframe of environmental, social
and governance reports to be aligned with the annual reports
etc.; and rearranging the structure of the code provisions
and disclosure requirements. To reinforce and enhance our
commitment to the highest level of corporate governance
practices and integrity, the Company has adopted various code
provisions in the New Code and will make necessary disclosure in
corporate governance report in the 2022 annual report under the
new disclosure requirement of the New Code. The code provision
numbers in this report follow the code provision numbers of the
Code before the New Code came into effect.

The following summarizes the Company’s corporate governance
practices and explains the implementation of recommended best
practices.
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A.1 The Board

The Board is responsible for the optimization of the
Company’s corporate governance, and is ultimately
accountable for the Company’s strategic planning, operating
activities and operating results.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the oversight and
review of management, administration and the overall
governance of CR Power and its strategic direction. The
Board plays a central supporting and supervisory role in
CR Power’s corporate governance structure, provides
leadership and guidance to the Group’s activities, and
oversees the execution of the Group’s business strategies.

This includes:
>  the protection of shareholders’ interests by seeking to

ensure that CR Power’s strategic direction provides and
creates value for its shareholders;
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»  establishing goals for management and monitoring the
achievement of those goals;

» authorising policies and overseeing the implementation
of these policies; and

»  seeking to ensure that CR Power’s internal control and
reporting procedures are complete, effective and abide
by laws and regulations as well as business ethics.

The Board should ensure that management can effectively
perform its duties. The Board’s policy is to regularly monitor
the effectiveness of management policies and decisions,
including the implementation of strategies.

The Board oversees the implementation and operation
of a risk management system. In addition to fulfilling its
obligations to generate rewards for shareholders who invest
their capital in CR Power, the Board recognises that CR
Power has responsibilities to its customers, employees
and suppliers and to the communities in which CR Power
operates.

In carrying out its responsibilities and powers as set out in
the Board Charter, the Board will at all times recognise its
ultimate responsibility to:

» maintain good corporate governance standards;

»  perform duties honestly, fairly and diligently;

» supervise safety, health and environmental issues
associated with the Company’s operations;

> establish and reinforce a “zero-tolerance” culture
against corruption;

»  comply with laws and regulations;
» avoid conflicts of interest;

» enable the Company to become an excellent corporate
citizen; and

» gain and maintain the social community’s respect for
the Company.
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Non-executive Directors should use all reasonable
endeavours to ensure that CR Power’s operations, business
and transactions are conducted in accordance with the law
and the highest standards of propriety.

The Company has set forth matters that require the Board’s
approval in its Board Charter.

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the Code principle and Code provisions A.1.1 to A.1.8, as
described as follows:

A1.1 Pursuant to code provision A.1.1, meetings of the
Board should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. During the year, the
Board held a total of nine Board meetings.

The Board met nine times in 2021. Each meeting
involved the active participation in person of a majority
of Directors entitled to be present.

During 2021, the following changes in directorship were
announced:

Mr. Chen Ying resigned as a Non-executive Director
of the Company, Mr. Wang Yan resigned as a Non-
executive Director of the Company, and Mr. Andrew
Ma Chiu-Cheung resigned as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 15
September 2021;

Mr. Liu Guixin was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company, Mr. Chen Guoyong was
appointed as a Non-executive Director of the
Company, and Mr. Yang Yuchuan was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
with effect from 15 September 2021;

Mr. Tang Yong resigned as an Executive Director and
the President of the Company with effect from 30
September 2021; and

Mr. Shi Baofeng was appointed as an Executive

Director and the President of the Company with effect
from 30 September 2021.
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The former and current Directors’ attendance at the AERRITEEHFELAFES
meetings of the Board and the Annual General Meeting EEEMARBREFAENE
(the “AGM”) during the year is as follows: mAE

Attendance
rate of board
meetings
during the
office of
directorship
ERESHMA
EEg8E
HE =X

Number
of board
Attendance
of the AGM
HERRE
HEXKE

meetings
attended
HEEEE
EERHY

Non-executive Directors JEMITES
Wang Chuandong FEH 9/9 100% ~4
Liu Guixin (Note 1) 2155 (FrzE1) 5/5 100%  N/A REFH
Chen Guoyong (Note 2) FREN S (Mi5E2) 5/5 100%  N/A @A
Chen Ying (Note 3) P (I5E3) 0/4 0% -
Wang Yan (Note 4) 2= (5E4) 3/4 75% v
Executive Directors BITES
Shi Baofeng (Note 5) B & (Mf5E5) 3/4 75%  N/A REA
Zhang Junzheng SREIL 8/9 89% ~4
Wang Xiao Bin Fw 8/9 89% v
Tang Yong (Note 6) E5B (fiste) 4/5 80% v
Independent Non-executive HiIIERITESE
Directors
Elsie Leung Oi-sie REH 9/9 100% v4
Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung RRE 5/9 56% v
Jack So Chak Kwong BRIZE 8/9 89% v
Yang Yuchuan (Note 7) BEN BEEET) 5/5 100%  N/A R#EH
Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung BB ([:E8)
(Note 8) 4/4 100% v
Note (1): Mr. Liu Guixin was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the MsE(1): RIEFAENR2021F9815H %
Company with effect from 15 September 2021. REARRBIERITES
Note (2): Mr. Chen Guoyong was appointed as a Non-executive Director of MIEE(2): PREIE Sc4ER20214F9815H
the Company with effect from 15 September 2021. ZEABRRBIERITESE -
Note (3): Mr. Chen Ying resigned as a Non-executive Director of the MEE@Q): PRIEALAER2021F98 158 #HE
Company with effect from 15 September 2021. KABIERITES
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Note (4): Mr. Wang Yan resigned as a Non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 15 September 2021.

Note (5): Mr. Shi Baofeng was appointed as an Executive Director and the
President of the Company with effect from 30 September 2021.

Note (6): Mr. Tang Yong resigned as an Executive Director and the
President of the Company with effect from 30 September 2021.

Note (7): Mr. Yang Yuchuan was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 15 September
2021.

Note (8): Mr. Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung resigned as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 15 September
2021.

A1.2 In 2021, arrangements were in place to ensure that all

Directors were given an opportunity to include matters
in the agenda for regular Board meetings. The Board
is supported by four committees, namely the Audit
and Risk Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Sustainability
Committee to ensure that it is well equipped to
discharge its responsibilities. Each committee has
its own terms of reference which are available on the
Company’s website (www.cr-power.com). The terms of
reference of each committee are updated regularly to
take account of changes in the rules and regulations
and governance practices. The chairperson of
respective committees reported to the Board regularly
and made recommendations on matters discussed
when appropriate. Senior management of the Company
may attend committee meetings upon invitation by the
chairpersons of the committees.

A.1.3 In the year under review, notice of at least 14 days was

given of a regular Board meeting, giving all Directors
an opportunity to attend. For all other Board meetings,
reasonable notice was given. The Board aims to set
dates of regular meetings, AGM and site visits at the
start of each year, so that all Directors can make proper
arrangements to ensure attendance of the meetings
and visits.
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A1.4 The Company Secretary attended 8 of 9 Board Al4 ABIMEBHE2021FRITH

meetings, 2 of 3 Audit and Risk Committee meetings
and all Sustainability Committee and Nomination
Committee meetings in 2021 except for meetings of the
Remuneration Committee where a person (that is not
a member of the senior management) was appointed
as secretary. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings
of Board Committees were kept by the Company
Secretary or duly appointed personnel and were
arranged to be reviewed by the Directors present at the
meetings before they were signed by the chairperson
of the respective meetings. Such minutes will be
made available by the Company for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director
when he/she deems necessary.

A1.5 Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board

Committees recorded in detail the matters considered
by the Board or Board Committees and decisions
reached at meeting, including any concerns raised by
Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final
versions of minutes of Board meetings and meetings of
Board Committees were sent to all Directors for their
comments and records respectively, within a reasonable

A15

IREFEEZTHBR 3NE
ZHERABREZEEGIZRH2N
KRFFERRFBERZEGMR
REETER EFMEES
EREANEE—BALT (B
FEREEANR BEWE-Z
FERETEZEENERITH
MARMEREXZENAES
wE ERHEREERER
BHRHEHEZIERE-BEE
FERETEHSEBNE
KRB R SRR AR
SR RHEEER-

EEENETEZEENEERC
B BREFENETE
BEgEZLERNFERFL
FRE BREEMESFREN
HEIFENRENER -BF
CNESZLZEGERERE
B RSB RNRRBER
GERREFTEREFDHMU

time after the Board or Board committees meetings HERERREAL R
were held.
A.1.6 The Board Charter sets out the policy that Directors, AMBEEEERNKRKITBES

especially Non-executive Directors should be provided
with sufficient resources in the furtherance of their
duties as Board/Committees members, including
access to independent professional advice, if
necessary, at the Company’s expense.

A1.7 Physical board meetings, as opposed to written

resolutions, were held to consider matters in which
a substantial shareholder or Director had a conflict
of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material. At
these physical board meetings, Independent Non-
executive Directors who, and whose close associates,
had no material interest in the transaction were present.
Directors who had a conflict of interest abstained from
voting.
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A.1.8 The Company has arranged corporate liability insurance
coverage in respect of legal actions against its
Directors.

The Board Committees have adopted, so far as practicable,
the principles, procedures and arrangements set out in A.1.1
to A.1.8 in the Code, where applicable.

The Chairman and the President

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman
and the President has been clearly established and set
out in writing. Under A.2.1 of the Code, the role of the
Chairman and the President should be separate to ensure
a balance of power and authority. The Chairman’s primary
responsibilities include deciding on the meeting schedule
and agenda, formulating Board policies, ensuring Board
effectiveness, promoting the Company and maintaining
the Company’s corporate governance. The President
has delegated authority from, and is re-sponsible to, the
Board for managing the Group’s business, including the
implementation of the strategies and initiatives adopted by
the Board.

During the period under review, the Company strictly
complied with the Code principle and Code provisions A.2.1
to A.2.9 as described below:

A2.1 The roles of the Chairman and the President of the
Company are separate and are currently assumed
by Mr. Wang Chuandong and Mr. Shi Baofeng,
respectively. The division of responsibilities between
the Chairman and the President has been clearly
established and set out in writing. After the resignation
of Mr. Tang Yong as an Executive Director and
the President of the Company with effect from 30
September 2021, Mr. Shi Baofeng was appointed as an
Executive Director and the President of the Company
with effect from 30 September 2021.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for providing
leadership for the Board. The duties are mainly to
ensure the effective operation of the Board, and the
establishment of and compliance with the corporate
governance practices and procedures. The Chairman
is also responsible for ensuring that appropriate
procedures are adopted to guarantee effective
communications with shareholders, and that the
shareholders’ opinions are circulated among all Board
members.
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The President is responsible for managing the
Company’s business and coordinating overall business
operations, implementing major strategies approved by
the Board and making day-to-day operation decisions.

None of the members of the Board has any
connections (including financial, business, family
relationship and other material/related relationships)
with each other (including between the Chairman and
the President).

A.2.2 All Directors were properly briefed on issues arising at

Board meetings. Any enquiries and requests from the
Directors were followed up and responded to by the
management of the Company in a timely manner.

A2.3 The Board papers contained sufficient details and

Directors were given reasonable time to review the
contents before the meetings. All Directors who were
present at the Board meetings received adequate
information, which must be accurate, clear, complete
and reliable, in a timely manner, prior to the meetings.

A2.4 One of the Chairman’s responsibilities is to provide

leadership for the Board. The Chairman ensures
that the Board works effectively and performs its
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. The
Chairman, with the help of other Executive Directors
and Company Secretary, is primarily responsible for
drawing up and approving the agenda for each Board
meeting taking into account, where appropriate, any
matters proposed by other Directors for inclusion
in the agenda. The Chairman should delegate this
responsibility to a designated Director or the Company
Secretary in the event of his absence at a board
meeting.
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A.2.5 The Chairman takes primary responsibility for ensuring

that good corporate governance practices and
procedures are established. The Chairman meets
regularly with Independent Non-executive Directors to
discuss, among others, suggestions and feedback with
regard to Board and corporate governance practices
and procedures and areas for improvement.

A.2.6 The Chairman encourages all Directors to make a

full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and
takes the lead to ensure that the Board acts in the
best interests of the Company. The Chairman also
encourages Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allows sufficient time for discussion of issues
and ensures that Board decisions fairly reflect Board
consensus.

A.2.7 The Chairman, Mr. Wang Chuandong, held a meeting

with the Independent Non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Executive Directors, Non-
executive Directors or management in November 2021.

A.2.8 The Chairman ensures that appropriate steps are taken

to provide effective communication with shareholders
and that their views are communicated to the Board as
a whole.

A2.9 The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and

debate by facilitating the effective contribution of Non-
executive Directors and ensures constructive relations
between Executive and Non-executive Directors.
During the year, due to COVID-19, Directors based in
Hong Kong were not able to visit the power plants in
mainland China. Instead, local management teams in
various regions were invited to prepare presentation
materials to the Board on recent business updates and
this will continue until the Board can resume travelling.
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A.3 Board Composition A3 EEFHVAM

The Board’s composition is determined in accordance
with the following principles, the Company’s Articles of
Association and relevant governance requirements:

» the Company should appoint at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors and maintain Independent
Non-executive Directors representing at least one-third
of the Board,;

» the role of Chairman and President should be held by
separate persons;

» the Board should comprise of Directors with an
appropriate range and mix of skills, experience,
expertise and diversity;

»  the performance of the Board and its members should
be reviewed annually and objectively; and

» all Directors must submit themselves for re-election at
regular intervals and at least every three years.

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of 10
Directors, 3 of whom are Non-executive Directors, 3 are
Executive Directors and 4 are Independent Non-executive
Directors. The number of Independent Non-executive
Directors complied with the requirements of Rule 3.10 and
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The list of Directors as at
the date of this report and their biographies are set out in
the Directors and Senior Management Section on page 18
to page 33 of this Annual Report, and are available on the
Company’s website (www.cr-power.com).
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Set out below are details of the composition of the Board RABREHP EEFRETEZE
and its committees as at the date of this report: EWREFEIBWT

Committee Membership

ZEENE
Board Audit and

Designation Sustainability Risk Remuneration  Nomination
Director EEERU TREZE BREEAR i =4
Wang Chuandong TER NE, C v C
Shi Baofeng Big E P
Zhang Junzheng REH E,VC
Wang Xiao Bin F E
Liu Guixin AEH NE v
Chen Guoyong EHEE: NE v
Elsie Leung Oi-sie REF INED v C v
Raymond Ch'ien Kuo Fung BRE INED v v v v
Jack So Chak Kwong BEN INED C v Vv
Yang Yuchuan wE INED ¢

Note: Mk -

C: Chairman C: *E

E: Executive Director E: HITES

NE:  Non-executive Director NE: JEHITEE

INED: Independent Non-executive Director INED: I IFRITES

P: President P: wmE

VC:  Vice Chairman VC: BIERE

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with REIBFE A B EEEST Lt

the above principles and Code provisions A.3.1 and A.3.2 [RAJERSFRESCA.8.1%A.3.2 » MUK

and the recommended best practice A3.3 as described as REBRASS T :

follows:

A.3.1 The Independent Non-executive Directors accounted AN BIUIFATESTABGESS
for more than one-third of the members of the REA#BBE=-2—BAR
Board and were expressly identified in all corporate BIMEHBEEEURLNAFB
communications that disclosed the names of the AEERBIFRITEESS
Directors. e

A3.2 The Company posts the names and biographical A.3.2 Z/A B R #8 uh (www.cr-power.
details of the Board members on its website comBINEEGHEN YLK
(www.cr-power.com), with their designations in the BE WERAESEHMH AR
Board clearly stated. The Company also posts on the Bl IR B A P AR UL T B H &R A
website of the HKEx an updated list of its Directors EE5E > 5P A1 A B BE
identifying their roles and functions and whether they BERABIUIFNITES-

are Independent Non-executive Directors.
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A.4

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
ERE

A3.3 In the year under review, none of the Independent
Non-executive Directors held cross-directorships
or had significant links with other Directors through
involvements in other companies. Please refer to page
24 to page 27 of this Annual Report for each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors’ biographies.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The Board’s Nomination Committee sets and reviews the
criteria for new Director appointments having regard to the
overall composition of the Board.

The Board seeks to ensure that its membership is such that
each Director:

» is a person of integrity;

»  has sufficient time available and abilities to perform his
or her role effectively;

»  brings an independent and questioning mind to his or
her role which enables him or her to exercise sound
judgment;

» enhances the breadth and depth of skills and
knowledge of the Board as a whole; and

» enhances the experience and diversity of the Board as
a whole.

The service term of every Director is 3 years. All Directors are
subject to regular retirement and retiring Directors are eligible
for re-election. The staggered structure enables the Board to
change its composition in an orderly manner over time while
maintaining leadership, stability and continuity, and allows
for regular evaluation of the mix of skills and experience, as
required.
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During the year under review, the Company strictly complied
with the above principles and Code provisions A.4.1 to A.4.3
as described as follows:

A41 Each Non-executive Director (including Independent
Non-executive Directors) receives a letter formalizing
his or her appointment and that letter outlines the
key terms and conditions of the appointment. Each
Non-executive Director (including Independent Non-
executive Director) is appointed for a term of 3 years.

In accordance with Article 120 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors,
including Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors
as well as Independent Non-executive Directors,
shall retire by rotation at each AGM of the Company,
provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least every three years and a
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. Pursuant
to Article 120 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Tang
Yong, Ms. Wang Xiao Bin, Dr. Ch’ien Kuo Fung,
Raymond and Ms. Leung Oi-sie, Elsie, retired from
office by rotation and were re-elected at the AGM on 7
June 2021 (the “2021 AGM”).

A4.2In accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association, all new Directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or being a new member of the Board of
Directors shall be subject to re-election by shareholders
at the next general meeting after their appointment (in
the case of filing casual vacancy) or next AGM (in the
case of addition to the Board). Pursuant to Article 98 of
the Articles of Association, Mr. Liu Guixin and Mr. Chen
Guoyong, who were newly appointed as Non-executive
Directors with effect from 15 September 2021, Mr. Yang
Yuchuan, who was newly appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director with effect from 15 September
2021, and Mr. Shi Baofeng, who was newly appointed
as an Executive Director and the President with effect
from 30 September 2021, shall retire from office and
are eligible for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.
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A4.3 As at the date of this report, among the Independent AdI AR ERH BILIERTE

Non-executive Directors, Dr. Ch’ien Kuo Fung,
Raymond and Ms. Leung Oi-sie, Elsie, have served
more than 9 years. Dr. Ch’ien and Ms. Leung were
re-elected at the 2021 AGM by separate resolutions.
The papers to shareholders accompanying those
resolutions included the reasons why the Board
believes he/she is still independent and should be
re-elected: This is because as Independent Non-
executive Directors with in-depth understanding of the
Company’s operations and business, Dr. Ch’ien and
Ms. Leung have expressed objective views and given
independent guidance to the Company over the years,
and they continue to demonstrate a firm commitment to
their roles. The Board considers that the long service of
Dr. Ch’ien and Ms. Leung have the required character,
integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of
Independent Non-executive Directors.
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In the year under review, the Company strictly complied REBFEE > AABBRI&EESTERL
with the principles and Code provisions A.5.1 to A.5.5 as K SFRMESXA.5.1EA.5.5 Bt in
described as follows: S ¢

A.5 Nomination Committee

AS1 ANBREBIRLEZEE IRAES
LB BIESRBIIFMITE

A.5.1 The Company has established a Nomination Committee
which is comprised of 4 members, including 3

Independent Non-executive Directors and Chairman of
the Board. In 2021, the Nomination Committee held
two meetings to, among other things, nomination of
appointment of new director, review the composition
and performance of the Board and the policy for
nomination of Directors. The attendance record of the
members of the Nomination Committee during the year

ENMEFTEIFE-N2021F
RELZEGHARMAEE
M (EHaR RemESENGT
R EEEHEMRKRTIEU
RIRZEENHBER -REEE
ERENREBEEEANNHES
EREFIIT

under review is set out as follows:

Number of meetings
attended/number of

meetings held Attendance

HEBITEH rate

i FE

Nomination Committee Members T = REk

Wang Chuandong (Chairman) FER (EFE) 2/2 100%
Elsie Leung Oi-sie REF 2/2 100%
Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung HRE 1/2 50%
Jack So Chak Kwong BROZEN 2/2 100%
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A52 The major responsibilities of the Nomination

Committee are to formulate and implement the policy
for nominating candidates for appointment of new
directors or for re-election by shareholders of the
Company based on criteria such as reputation for
integrity, accomplishment and experience, professional
and educational background, and potential time
commitments, and to assess the independence of
Independent Non-executive Directors. The terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee (which is
reviewed regularly and updated where necessary) have
incorporated the specific duties set out in the Code
provision.

In considering the new appointment of Directors,
the Nomination Committee follows the nomination
procedures and the process for nomination of
directorship under the nomination policy and assesses
candidates on criteria such as perspective, integrity,
independent mindedness, experience, skill and ability
to commit time and effort to carry out duties and
responsibilities effectively and makes recommendations
to the Board for approval. In 2021, based on the above
policy and procedures of the Nomination Committee,
the Nomination Committee recommended to the Board
for approval of the appointment of Mr. Shi Baofeng, Mr.
Liu Guixin, Mr. Chen Guoyong and Mr. Yang Yuchuan
as Directors of the Company.

A5.3 The Nomination Committee’s terms of reference are

available on the Company’'s website (www.cr-power.
com) and the HKEx website (www.hkexnews.hk).

A5.4 The Company ensures that the Nomination Committee

is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties.

Where necessary, the Nomination Committee may seek

independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense, to perform its responsibilities.
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A55 If the Board proposes a resolution to elect an
individual as an Independent Non-executive Director
at the general meeting, it will set out in the circular
to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting:

» the process used for identifying the individual
and why the Board believes the individual should
be elected and the reasons why it considers the
individual to be independent;

» if the proposed Independent Non-executive
Director will be holding their seventh (or more)
listed company directorship, why the Board
believes the individual would still be able to devote
sufficient time to the board;

» the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and

» how the individual contributes to diversity of the
Board.

The Company has included the above required information
in a circular dated 29 April 2021 for re-election of Dr.
Ch’ien Kuo Fung, Raymond and Ms. Leung QOi-sie, Elsie as
Independent Non-executive Directors at the 2021 AGM.

The Company has established a nomination policy of Board
members in the Board Charter. Pursuant to the nomination
policy, the Company strives to assure that nomination of
candidates to stand for election as Board members must go
through formal, prudent and transparent procedures. The
Board is required to evaluate the overall composition of the
Board and the skills of members on a regular basis, in order
to prepare succession plans, facilitate smooth handover
and to maintain efficiency at all times. Further details of the
nomination policy are available on the Company’s website
(www.cr-power.com).
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The Company has established a policy concerning diversity
of Board members which is available on the Company’s
website (www.cr-power.com). The Company strives to
achieve diversity of the Board by endorsing the principle
that the Board should have a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business. The Company welcomes a very diverse population
of people that reflects the range of cultures and background
spanned by its operations. These differences will be taken
into account in determining the optimum composition of
the Board. The Nomination Committee will consider, and
if appropriate, set measurable objectives to implement the
policy and review such objectives to ensure appropriateness
of the objectives and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives. The Nomination Committee has
reviewed the policy to ensure its continued effectiveness.

Since the adoption of the board diversity policy in December
2013, the Board has observed the policy and took into
account the objectives set out in the policy in reviewing
its Board composition to ensure that it has a balanced
composition of skills and experience in line with the
requirements of the Company’s businesses, and ensuring
that hiring, promotion, rewards and retaining of the best
people for the job are implemented regardless of their di-
versity profile. In particular, when selecting the candidates
for Directors, the Nomination Committee considered the
nomination policy and took into account the diversity
aspects (including without limitation, age, cultural and
educational background) as set out under the board diversity
policy. As a result, the Nomination Committee considered
that the appointments of the President of the Company,
Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors were appropriate and that there is sufficient
diversity at the Board level and did not, for the time being,
set up any measurable objective regarding the diversity of
the board.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Board plays a central supporting and supervisory role
in the Company’s corporate governance structure, provides
leadership and guidance to the Group’s activities and de-
velopment and oversees the work of the management and
its execution of the Company’s business strategies.
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TtEELSRS
In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with REIBFE A B BEIEEST Lt
the above principle and Code provisions A.6.1 to A.6.8 as [REB)EFRECA.6.1EA.6.8 4l
described as follows: Wt

A6.1 All newly appointed Directors will receive a

comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the
first occasion of their appointment in order to ensure
that they will have a proper understanding of the
operations and business of the Company and that they
will be fully aware of their personal responsibilities under
statute and common law, the Listing Rules, applicable
legal and other regulatory requirements, and the
Company’s business and governance policies.

Induction had been provided to Mr. Liu Guixin, Mr. Chen
Guoyong and Mr. Yang Yuchuan, who were appointed
on 15 September 2021 and Mr. Shi Baofeng, who was
appointed on 30 September 2021.

A.6.2 Independent Non-executive Directors and Non-

executive Directors actively participated in Board
meetings of the Company. The Company’s Audit and
Risk Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Sustainability Committee comprise a
majority of Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Directors were encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development programs at the
Company’s expense to remain abreast of changes and
developments impacting the business.
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The roles of Independent Non-executive Directors
also include providing their independent views to the
Board and management on business proposals and
strategies and supporting the implementation of these
strategies. Independent Non-executive Directors shall
take lead in board meetings in the event there are
conflicts of interest. They also scrutinise and monitor
senior management’s performance in meeting goals
and objectives. During the year, the Independent
Non-executive Directors also examined the Group’s
operations to broaden their knowledge of the Group’s
business.

AB.3 Directors’ attendance of Board meetings and

Committee meetings is set out on pages 86, 96,
105, 116 and 120 of this Annual Report. Each of
the Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors
(including Independent Non-executive Directors)
ensured that he/she gave sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Company.

A6.4 The Company has adopted the Model Code set

out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors
have complied with their obligations regarding dealings
in securities of the Company under the Model Code
throughout the year.

The Company has also established written guidelines
for senior management and employees in certain
functions in respect of their dealings in the securities of
the Company for their strict compliance. The Company
issued notices to all Directors, senior management and
relevant employees reminding them to comply with
the restriction on dealing of securities of the Company
under the above code and guidelines 60 days prior to
the publication of the annual results and 30 days prior
to the publication of the interim results.
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TEERERS

A.6.5 The Company’s Executive and Non-executive Directors ABS KABIMITHIENITES (8
(including Independent Non-executive Directors) ERIIENITES) 2HEZLIE
participated in various continuous professional HEEXERFE RAKE
development programs to develop and refresh Al AN R SE A IR FI T
their knowledge and skills to help ensure that their EENEHMEREEREBERES
contribution to the Board remains informed and He X BB EFLHEE
relevant. Directors are encouraged to participate in BIIRE > TETHABKREY
professional training programs and the Company also BERAEIIRE

organizes and funds such training programs.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors B E2021F12B31HIEFE &%
participated in training programs regarding Directors’ 22U THEMAEEHENEINE AT
responsibilities and duties and examined the Company’s ERTARANBHNEEETH AR F
operations. The Company has received the Directors’ BWHEESERAEINECER  HFEE
training records, which are summarised as follows: ERABEALEN T

Training

on recent
development of Site visits to
the Listing Rules, thermal
corporate power plants,
governance renewable

and Directors’ power projects or
responsibilities other operations

BRALHRA BithE R
TEER KOBERK
EEEMEAH AIB4ERERIER
ZEREAIE B H £ 75
Wang Chuandong FEH v v
Shi Baofeng (Note 1) SEIE (FYsE1) v 4
Zhang Junzheng SRE I v v
Wang Xiao Bin (Note 2) F/w (FEEE2) v -
Liu Guixin (Note 3) 215 (FFE3) v -
Chen Guoyong (Note 4) PR (Fi5E4) v -
Elsie Leung Oi-sie (Note 2) Z2E5 (MPsE2) v -
Raymond Ch'ien Kuo Fung (Note 2) 23R & (Hf:£2) v -
Jack So Chak Kwong (Note 2) g (fYaE2) v =
Yang Yuchuan (Note 2, 5) BE) (fFsE2+5) v -
Tang Yong (Note 6) EB (fisEe) v v
Chen Ying (Note 7) BRE (FsE7) v -
Wang Yan (Note 8) T Z (HzE8) v -
Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung (Note 2, 9) BB (fz%2-9) v -
Note (1): Mr. Shi Baofeng was appointed as an Executive Director and the MizE(1): LEIRLER2021F9830HEZST
President of the Company with effect from 30 September 2021. ABEANBDRITESREH -
Note (2): Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, Ms. Wang and all Independent Non- MsE2): BERFETSREEMXEE TX+
executive Directors were unable to leave Hong Kong for site visits to our RERBBUFNITESRERRSE
power plants in Mainland China. iﬁﬁﬁ i1 54 FP B PO 3 Y 85 B R R =
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Note (3): Mr. Liu Guixin was appointed as a Non-executive Director with effect
from 15 September 2021.

Note (4): Mr. Chen Guoyong was appointed as a Non-executive Director with
effect from 15 September 2021.

Note (5): Mr. Yang Yuchuan was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director with effect from 15 September 2021.

Note (6): Mr. Tang Yong resigned as an Executive Director and the President of
the Company with effect from 30 September 2021.

Note (7): Mr. Chen Ying resigned as a Non-executive Director with effect from 15
September 2021.

Note (8): Mr. Wang Yan resigned as a Non-executive Director with effect from 15
September 2021.

Note (9): Mr. Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung resigned as an Independent Non-executive
Director with effect from 15 September 2021.

A.6.6 Each Director has disclosed to the Company at the
time of his or her appointment, and on a periodic
basis, the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies
or organisations and an indication of the time involved.
Such disclosures should be made annually.

A.6.7 Independent Non-executive Directors and other Non-
executive Directors actively participated in Board
meetings and Committee meetings on which they
serve. In order to develop a balanced understanding
of the views of Shareholders, the Executive Directors
participated in roadshows and investor meetings to
meet with institutional investors during the year. As laid
out in the attendance table in A.1.1 on page 86 of this
Annual Report, majority of the Directors attended the
2021 AGM. The Company sets the date of the AGM at
the beginning of a year so all Directors are encouraged
to attend the AGM to enhance communication
with Shareholders. For the Company’s report on
communication with Shareholders, please refer to page
121 to 125 of the Annual Report.

A.6.8 Independent Non-executive Directors and other Non-
executive Directors actively participated in Board
meetings and Committee meetings and made a positive
contribution to the development of the Company’s
strategy and policies through independent, constructive
and informed comments.
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A7 BiIRRHERER

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with REBEFE > ARF BEEEST T
the Code Principle and Code provisions A.7.1 to A.7.3 as R AR SFRESCA.71EA. 7.3 4t
described as follows: W

A.7 Supply of and Access to Information

A.7.1 In respect of regular Board meetings and Committees ATI IMEHBHNESEEENRE

meetings, the Company’s policy is to provide at least
a 14-day notice prior to the meeting setting out the
intended agenda. An agenda and accompanying Board
and Committees papers are delivered in full to all
Directors at least three days before the intended date of
a Board meeting or Committee meeting.

A7.2 To enable Directors to make decisions based upon

the related data on hand, management is required to
provide adequate, complete and reliable information
and provide a briefing to the Board in respect of the
matters and issues under consideration. The Company
supplied Directors with monthly management reports
to keep Board members informed of the latest
development and performance of the Company.
The Board and Directors also have separate and
independent access to the Company’ s senior
management.

A.7.3 All Directors are entitled to have access to Board

papers and related materials. Queries from Directors
also receive a prompt and full response.
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B. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND BOARD
EVALUATION

The level and make-up of remuneration and
disclosure

B.1

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the Code Principle and Code provisions B.1.1 to B.1.5 and
the recommended best practices B.1.6 to B.1.9 except for
B.1.8 as described as follows:

The Board has established Remuneration Committee
and its primary functions are to evaluate the performance
of the Directors and senior management, approve the
terms of Executive Directors’ service contracts and make
recommendations on the remuneration packages, and to
evaluate and make recommendations on employee benefit
arrangements. All two members of the Remuneration
Committee are Independent Non-executive Directors.

In 2021, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings
to, among other things, review and determine the policy
for the remuneration of the Executive Directors, assess
the performance of the Executive Directors, and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of all Executive Directors and senior management.
The attendance record of the members of the Remuneration
Committee during the year under review is set out as
follows:

Remuneration Committee Members

Elsie Leung Oi-sie (Chairman) REF (X
Raymond Ch'ien Kuo Fung =RE
Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung (Note 1) BRE (k1)

Note (1): Mr. Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung resigned as a member of the

Remuneration Committee with effect from 15 September 2021.
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Bl il ZE @ MEMMITES

B.1.1 The Remuneration Committee may consult the

Chairman, the President or any independent third
party about the remuneration level of other Executive
Directors. The Company has a policy that the
Remuneration Committee may seek professional advice
from independent third parties if it thinks necessary at
the expense of the Company.

B.1.2 The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee

(which is reviewed and updated regularly) have
incorporated the specific duties set out in the code
provision of the Code. Code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) was
adopted by the Remuneration Committee.

B.1.3 The terms of reference of the Remuneration

Committee are set out on the Company’s website
(www.cr-power.com) and the HKEx website (www.
hkexnews.hk).

B.1.4 The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient

resources to discharge its duties. The Remuneration
Committee may seek professional advice from
independent third parties if it thinks necessary at
the expense of the Company in order to enable it to
properly discharge its duties and responsibilities.

B.1.5 The emoluments of the members of the senior

management team (excluding Executive Directors) are
within the following bands:

s B 58 ]
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Emolument bands
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000
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HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 to above
HK$5,000,000
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B.1.6 The Board has no disagreement with the Remuneration

Committee on remuneration or compensation
arrangements with regards to Executive Directors and
senior management.

B.1.7 A significant proportion of Executive Directors’

remuneration is structured so as to link rewards to
corporate and individual performance. The Company
sets its strategic and performance targets on an
annual and three-year rolling forward basis. Based
on the Company’s overall performance targets, the
Company assigns responsibilities and sets performance
benchmarks and evaluation methods for each Executive
Director, members of the senior management team
and other managerial staff. The total remuneration of
Executive Directors and senior management comprises
three key components, namely basic salary, annual
bonus and the Medium to Long-term Performance
Evaluation Incentive Plan. The actual performance of
the Company and each Executive Director and senior
management team members’ own performance against
performance targets determine the component paid
under the annual bonus and Medium to Long-term
Performance Evaluation Incentive Plan. Please refer
to Note 12 under the section “Notes to the Financial
Statements” in this Annual Report on page 218 to 221
for details on Directors’ remuneration.

B.1.8 The Company has not adopted the recommended

best practice to disclose details of any remuneration
paid to members of senior management (other than
Executive Directors) on an individual and named basis
in the Annual Report. Having disclosed Directors’
remuneration, remuneration of the five highest paid
individuals and emoluments of senior management
team by bands, the Company believes that disclosure
of individual senior management’s remuneration does
not benefit Shareholders. The majority of Shareholders
are concerned with the total amount of remuneration,
rather than on an individual basis.
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China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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B.1.9 Board evaluation is conducted on an annual basis.
During the year, this evaluation was conducted by
consulting each Director regarding the attendance
of the Board and Committee meetings, the director
training, Board diversity and improvements. The
evaluation report was considered and discussed by the
Board.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced,
clear and comprehensible assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects. It is also the Board’s
responsibility to oversee the preparation of the annual
accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group’s state
of affairs, results and cash flows for the year.

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the above principle and Code provisions C.1.1 to C.1.5 as
described as follows:

C.1.1 Directors were provided with financial information and
the related information of the Group enabling them to
make an informed assessment before the publication of
the interim results and the annual results, respectively.

C.1.2 To enable Directors to discharge their duties under
Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, senior
management is required to provide adequate, complete
and reliable information and provide briefing to the
Board in respect of the matters and issues under
consideration. The Company supplied the Board with
monthly management reports to keep Board members
informed of the latest development and performance of
the Group.
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C.1.3 The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility
for overseeing the preparation of financial statements
of each financial period, which gives a true and fair
view of the operating results and financial conditions of
the Group during such period. More information about
the external auditor’s responsibilities is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 129 to 330 of
this Annual Report. In preparing the financial reports for
the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors have
selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently; made judgments and estimates that
are prudent and reasonable, and prepared accounts on
a going concern basis. The Company does not foresee
any uncertainties in its ability to continue as a going
concern.

C.1.4 The Chairman’s Statement on pages 10 to 17 of the
Annual Report provides a summary of the Group’s
performance and future prospects on how the Group
will preserve value over the longer term and our
strategies for delivering the Group’s objectives.

C.1.5The Directors have acknowledged that it is their
responsibilities to present a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment extend to annual and
interim reports, other financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules, reports to regulators as well as
other information required to be disclosed pursuant to
statutory requirements.

The Company has not resolved to announce and publish

financial results on a quarterly basis and has not adopted
recommended best practices C.1.6 and C.1.7.
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C.2 [z EE KR AERES

C.2 Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has the overall responsibility to maintain
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems for the Group and to review their
effectiveness to safeguard Shareholders’ investment and
the Group’s assets. To this end, risk management and
internal control systems have been established to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement or
loss, and to manage or mitigate risks of failure to achieve
business objectives. The Board oversees the senior
management in design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems and the
senior management have provided a confirmation to the
Board on the effectiveness of these systems for 2021.

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the above principle and Code provisions C.2.1 to C.2.5 and
has taken into consideration recommended best practices
C.2.6 to C.2.7 as described as follows:

C.2.1 The Company’s target is to establish an efficient and
effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Company emphasizes on professional integrity and
high business ethics. 16,981 managerial officers and
staff signed an annual declaration on compliance with
the code of ethics for the year under review.

The Company and its subsidiaries provide regular
training to its management and staff. The training
sessions not only cover the technical and operational
aspects of our businesses, but also on business ethics,
Listing Rules, corporate laws and regulations and
internal controls.
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The Group has an internal audit department which is
responsible for the monitoring of the Group’s internal
control. The internal audit department has unrestricted
access and authority to review the information on the
business and internal control matters of the Group.
The Chief Audit Officer reports to the Audit and Risk
Committee, and may directly report to the Chairman of
the Audit and Risk Committee when necessary (where
sensitive content is involved). Also, he administratively
reports to the President. The internal auditors can
employ outside resources when necessary. In 2021,
the internal audit department completed internal audits
and follow-up audits on a number of subsidiaries and
branches of the Group, and presented their findings
and recommendations to the Audit and Risk Committee
and senior management of the Company.

During the year, the Board had reviewed the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems (including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions) of
the Group. The Board believes that in order to manage
the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s goals and
objectives to the maximum extent, the Group should
improve continuously its risk management and internal
control systems.

C.2.2 In March 2022, the Audit and Risk Committee reviewed

the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s internal audit function, accounting and
financial reporting function and believes that the
Group should monitor on an ongoing basis its total
resources in the accounting, internal audit, financial
reporting functions as well as those relating to the
Company’s ESG performance and reporting, and
continue to increase its investment and budgets for
staff recruitment, training programmes and information
technology system.
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C.2.3 The Board, through the Audit and Risk Committee,
reviews annually the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the
Company and its subsidiaries, such review considers:

» the changes in the nature and extent of significant
risks since the last review, and the Company’s
ability to respond to changes in its business and
the external environment;

» the management’s ongoing monitoring of risks
and the internal control system, and the work of
the internal audit function;

» the communication of the monitoring results to
the Board semi-annually that enables it to assess
control of the Company and the effectiveness of
the risk management;

» any possible significant control failings or
weaknesses that have been identified and the
extent to which they have caused unforeseeable
outcomes or contingencies that had or might
have, or may in the future have, a material impact
on the Company’s financial performance or
condition; and

> the effectiveness of the Company’s processes for
financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance.
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C.24In the year under review, the Company complied
with the risk management and internal control code
provisions C.2.4(a) to C.2.4(e) as described as follows:

(@)

The Board has delegated to senior management of
the Company the responsibility to design, operate
and monitor its risk management and internal
control systems for identifying and evaluating the
risks and probable exposures faced by the Group.
Key risks, control measures and management
actions are continually identified, reviewed and
monitored by the management. The internal
auditor assists and guides the management in
the formulation of risk policies and processes to
effectively identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks. The management has established a risk
identification and management process.

The senior management is accountable to the
Board for providing assurance on managing and
monitoring the risk management and internal
control.

The Group’s risk management and internal control
systems provide a systematic and disciplined
approach to risk management process, which
are embedded as an integral part of corporate
governance. The systems help sustain business
success, create value for stakeholders and
support the Board in discharging its corporate
governance responsibilities by proactively
identifying, addressing and managing key risks
within the Group.
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The Board is accountable for overseeing the
Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and for reviewing its effectiveness,
while the management and other personnel are
responsible for implementing and maintaining
a robust system of internal controls that covers
governance, compliance, risk management,
financial as well as operational controls to
safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholders’
interests. The systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide
reasonable, and not absolute assurance against
material misstatements or loss.

All findings and recommendations on internal
control deficiencies for each audit engagement
are communicated to senior management who
are required to establish remedial plans to
correct those internal control deficiencies within
a reasonable time period. Post-audit reviews are
performed regularly to monitor those agreed action
plans and to ensure that corrective measures of
previously identified internal control deficiencies
have been implemented as intended and on a
timely basis. Significant deficiencies of individual
audit engagement are reported to and reviewed by
the Audit and Risk Committee.

The Company has adopted a policy for certain
relevant employees who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished inside information
in relation to the Company or its shares, for
instance financial results of the Company. Relevant
employees are required to acknowledge their
understanding of this policy and the list of relevant
employees is updated at regular intervals. The
Group has management controls in place to
ensure that potential inside information can be
promptly identified, assessed and escalated for
the attention of the Board to decide the need for
disclosure. Furthermore, the Company ensures
that dissemination of inside information strictly
complies with the standards and disclosure
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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C.2.5 The Company has an internal audit function in place.

In the annual assessment of the effectiveness and
adequacy of the risk management and internal control
systems, the Company has taken into consideration the
recommended best practices contained in C.2.6 and
C.2.7.

The Company considers the risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate.

C.3 Audit and Risk Committee

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the Code Principle and Code provisions C.3.1 to C.3.7 and
recommended best practice C.3.8 as described as follows:

C.3.1 Full minutes of the Audit and Risk Committee meetings
were kept by a duly appointed secretary of the meeting.
Draft and final version of minutes of the Audit and
Risk Committee meetings were sent to all committee
members for their comments and records within a
reasonable time after the meeting.

C.3.2 The Company’s Audit and Risk Committee comprises
four Independent Non-executive Directors and
one Non-executive Director, with Chairman of the
Committee, who is an Independent Non-executive
Director, having the requisite qualification, knowledge
and experience. A former partner of the Company’s
existing auditor shall be prohibited from acting as a
member of the Audit and Risk Committee for a period
of two years from the date of the person ceasing to be
a partner of the firm; or to have any financial interest in
the firm, whichever is later.
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C.3.3 The main duties of the Audit and Risk Committee
include the following:

>

to investigate any activity within its terms of
reference with full access to all books, records,
facilities and personnel. It is authorised to seek
information it requires from any employee and all
employees are required to co-operate with any
request made by the Audit and Risk Committee;

to secure the attendance of outsiders with
relevant experience and expertise and to obtain
independent legal or other professional advice if it
considers necessary to carry out its duties; and

to be primarily responsible for making recommendation
to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and to raise any questions of its resignation or
dismissal.

The attendance record of the members of the Audit and
Risk Committee during the year under review is set out
as follows:

Audit and Risk Committee
Members

EiL
RBEEEER

Yang Yuchuan (Chairman) (Note 1) 18 EJI| (£ &)
(MF5E1)

Elsie Leung Oi-sie REF

Jack So Chak Kwong BR=

Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung BRE

Chen Guoyong (Note 2) PR B (fi5E2)

Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung (Note 3)  FEBE#¥ (Fff:E3)

Wang Yan (Note 4)
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Number of meetings
attended/number of

meetings held
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Note (1): Mr. Yang Yuchuan was appointed as the chairman of the Audit
and Risk Committee with effect from 15 September 2021.
Note (2): Mr. Chen Guoyong was appointed as a member of the Audit and
Risk Committee with effect from 15 September 2021.
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Note (3): Mr. Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung resigned as the chairman of the
Audit and Risk Committee with effect from 15 September 2021.

Note (4): Mr. Wang Yan resigned as a member of the Audit and Risk
Committee with effect from 15 September 2021.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Committee
have incorporated all the duties set out in the Code
provision and are reviewed regularly and enhanced
where necessary.

For the period from 1 January 2021 to the date of this
report, the Audit and Risk Committee has performed
its duties, including reviewing the Group’s interim
and annual results, risk management and internal
control systems, the internal control report prepared
by the Company’s internal audit department and the
statement relating to risk management and internal
control systems as set out in this report. The Audit
and Risk Committee also met with the external auditor
without the presence of Executive Directors and senior
management. In March 2022, the Audit and Risk
Committee reviewed the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021, including
the major accounting issues raised by the external
auditor.

C.3.4 The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Committee

are available on the Company’s website (www.cr-
power.com) and the HKEx website (www.hkexnews.hk).

C.3.51n 2021, there was no disagreement between the Board

and the Audit and Risk Committee on the selection and
appointment of the external auditor. The Audit and Risk
Committee is mandated to monitor the independence
of the external auditor to ensure true objectivity in the
financial statements. Prior to the commencement of
the audit of the Group’s 2021 accounts, the Audit and
Risk Committee received written confirmation from the
external auditor on its independence and objectivity.
The external auditor is refrained from engaging in non—
audit services except for limited tax-related services or
specific approved items. The Audit and Risk Committee
reviewed the external auditor’s statutory audit scope
and non-audit services and approved its fees.
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2021
—E-—F

2020
it 2
HK$’000
FH7

HK$’000
TET
12,480

660

ZHB AR
FERLBARTS

w5t

Audit services
Non-audit services

13,140

Total

Cl62021E  BiZURGEED
ERXEERUBTRE -

C.3.6 The Audit and Risk Committee was provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties in 2021.

C.3.7 The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Committee C7TEBEZHRBEZE TN EEHE
have incorporated all the duties contained in the Code 249 A ST R 5R STPR 8 RY BT B B
provision. Ho

it

/

C.3.8 The Company has established a whistleblowing policy C38 K AT B &I HREE KH

and system by which employees and others who deal
with the Group can raise concerns, in confidence,
about possible improprieties in any matter related

ErEEREXEBMERIE
A LR IR IR R E R R
EENERNEETKRESE

BHRBRHABRIEEAT

HHuk (www.cr-power.com) s B o

to the Group. The contents of the whistleblowing
policy are available on the Company’s website
(www.cr-power.com).

D. DELEGATION BY THE BOARD D. EEgENNEIT
D.1 Management functions D.1 EEBAE
In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with REIBEE  XAEBISETTE
the Code Principle and Code provisions D.1.1 to D.1.4 as FAJEEFRMEXD.1.1ED. 1.4 > #at
described below: (I
D.1.1 The Board is mainly responsible for formulating and DITEEEFTEEEFTWHIER
approving the business strategies, objectives, policies EEPEFEBE - BE KX
and plans of the Group, and monitoring the execution K st &l BB A & B B B BE
of the Group’s strategies. It is also responsible for TEERUHBRE LHE
overseeing the operational and financial performance BENRRESRRERR
of the Group and establishing appropriate risk control BRAEEHEEENER-
policies and procedures in order to ensure that the s EEgTREERSRE
strategic objectives of the Group are achieved. In BERRE RN ENEE-
addition, the Board is also responsible for improving
the corporate governance structure and enhancing
communications with Shareholders.
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 118 =S -
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The Board delegates its management and
administration functions to management and gives clear
directions as to the powers of management at the same
time, in particular, with respect to the circumstances
where management should report back and obtain
prior approval from the Board before making decisions
or entering into any commitments on the Company’s
behalf.

D.1.2 The Board Charter has laid out clearly the role of the
Board, including matters which are reserved for Board
approval and the functions delegated to management.
The Board Charter is reviewed regularly and amended
where necessary to take into account of any changes in
law and governance practices as well as any changes
in business operations.

D.1.3 The responsibilities of the Board and the management
are contained in the Board Charter which is updated
regularly to take account of changes in the laws and
governance practices.

D.1.4 The Company has formal letter of appointment for all
Directors setting out the key terms and conditions of
their appointment.

Board committees

During the year under review, the Company strictly complied
with the Code Principle and Code provisions D.2.1 and
D.2.2 as described below:

D.2.1 The Company has established written terms of
reference for the Committees (namely, Audit and
Risk, Nomination, Remuneration and Sustainability
Committees) of the Board. Details on the duties and
terms of reference of the Board Committees are
available on the Company’s website (www.cr-power.
com) and the HKEx website (www.hkexnews.hk).
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EERRE
D.2.2 The terms of reference of each Board Committee D2 BREEEZEFNREHEN
require it to report back to the Board on its decisions HREBRNEEGERRERE
and recommendations. & ©
In addition to the Nomination, Remuneration and Audit PRAFFHRFIGE ~105H K115
and Risk Committees meetings held as mentioned BRENERZEG FME
on pages 96, 105 and 115 of this Annual Report, the EgNEZERBEZEES
Sustainability Committee also held one meeting in Sho I RFEEREZEEN2021
2021. The attendance record of the members of the FHRBRA—REFZoAIIFEE
Sustainability Committee during the year under review REZEGmENDBEFENH
is set out as follows:. fEseaxa s -
Number of meetings
attended/number
of meetings held
Sustainability Committee AR E HE BT Attendance rate
Members ZBEgZ%E8 BERY HEER
Jack So Chak Kwong (Chairman) &2t (/%) 1/1 100%
Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung wRE 1/1 100%
Wang Chuandong FE® 1/1 100%
Liu Guixin (Note 1) 21&5H (5E1) N/A N N/A &
Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung (Note 2) BB #¥ (FizE2) 1/1 100%
Note (1): Mr. Liu Guixin was appointed as the member of the Sustainability MsE(1): RIEFAENR2021F9815H %
Committee with effect from 15 September 2021. REAFEEREZEENE
Note (2): Mr. Ma Chiu-Cheung, Andrew resigned as a member of the MiEEQ): BRRIFSRER2021F9R 150 8
Sustainability Committee with effect from 15 September 2021. FoOFBERZEENE
The major responsibilities of the Sustainability Committee AFELEEZEGNTERS R
include reviewing, and making recommendations to the HENRRRE-BERZE2MH
Board on, the Company’s policy and performance in relation ERIFR A EN QB BRMRITET
to the environment, health, safety and community relations. W kAESgRERTEESR-
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 120 m S

ERENERBRAT




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

D.3 Corporate Governance Functions

E.1

During the year under review, the Company strictly complied
with the Code provisions D.3.1 and D.3.2 as described
below:

D.3.1 The Board Charter includes the duties specified in the
code provision.

D.3.2 The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the Board Charter
including determining the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company, and duties performed by
the Board under Code provision D.3.1.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

Effective communication

The Company has adopted shareholders communication
policy which is available on the Company’s website
(www.cr-power.com). The Company strives to ensure that
the shareholders and potential investors are provided
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company.

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the Code Principle and Code provisions E.1.1 to E.1.5 as
described below:

E.1.1 In respect of each substantial issue at a general
meeting, a separate resolution was proposed by the
Chairman of the meeting, including the re-election
of individual Directors. The poll voting results of the
meetings are available on the Company’s website
(www.cr-power.com) and the HKEx website (www.
hkexnews.hk).

Matters resolved at the 2021 AGM

» Received the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2020 together with the Reports of
the Directors and the Independent Auditor

>  Approved payment of the final dividend of HK$0.406
per share for the year ended 31 December 2020
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Re-elected Mr. Tang Yong, Ms. Wang Xiao Bin, Dr.
Ch’ien Kuo Fung, Raymond and Ms. Leung Oi-
sie, Elsie, as Directors, and authorised the Board of
Directors to fix the remuneration of the Directors for the
year ended 31 December 2021

Appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as Auditor of the
Company and authorised the Board to fix the Auditor’s
remuneration

Granted a general mandate to the Board for the share
repurchase of a number not exceeding 10% of the total
number of the Company’s issued shares as at the date
of 2021 AGM

Granted a general mandate to the Directors to issue
new shares of the Company not exceeding 20% of the
total number of the Company’s issued shares as at the
date of 2021 AGM

Approved to extend the general mandate granted to
the Directors to issue new shares of the Company
by addition thereto of the shares repurchased by the
Company

E.1.2 The general meeting provides the ideal venue for

the interchange of ideas between the Board, the
management and Shareholders. We therefore
encourage Shareholders to attend our AGM to discuss
matters of business substance with the Board and
management and to give us valuable advice and
feedback on both operational and governance matters.
At the 2021 AGM, there were a total of 37 individual
Shareholders, authorised representatives of corporate
Shareholders as well as proxies participated and the
number of shares voted represented 78.93% of the
total number of the Company’s issued shares.
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As laid out in the attendance table in A.1.1 on page 86
of this Annual Report, a majority of Directors attended
the 2021 AGM. The Directors and senior management
of the Company took the opportunity to communicate
with the Shareholders present, and answered their
queries with respect to the Company’s operations
and industries. A representative of the external auditor
attended the 2021 AGM to answer Shareholders’
questions about the conduct of the audit and the
preparation and content of the auditor’s report (if any).

The Company, the Board and management highly value
the opinions and requirements of our Shareholders. The
Company communicates with Shareholders through
various channels including publication of interim
and Annual Reports, circulars, press releases and
announcements of the latest business developments,
operational results, major financing plans and other
developments of the Company on its corporate website
(www.cr-power.com) and the HKEx website (www.
hkexnews.hk) (where applicable) in a timely manner.

E.1.3 The notices are sent to Shareholders at least 20 clear
business days before the 2021 AGM and there was no
extraordinary general meeting held in 2021.

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), members of the
Company representing at least 5% of the total voting rights
of all the members having a right to vote at general meetings
may request the Directors to call a general meeting. The
request must state the general nature of business to be dealt
with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
the meeting. The request may consist of several documents
in like form and may be sent to the Company in hard copy
form or in electronic form and must be authenticated by the
person(s) making it.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to section 615 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the members of
the Company may request the Company to give to members
of the Company entitled to receive notice of the annual
general meeting, notice of a resolution that may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting. The
request may be sent to the Company in hard copy form (by
depositing at the registered office of the Company for the
attention of the Board) or in electronic form (by email: crp-
ir@crc.com.hk) and must identify the resolution of which
notice is to be given, authenticated by the person or persons
making it and received by the Company not later than 6
weeks before the annual general meeting to which the
requests relate; or if later, the time at which notice is given of
that meeting.

The Company will give notice of a resolution if it has received
the requests from (a) members representing at least 2.5% of
the total voting rights of all the members who have a right to
vote on the resolution at the annual general meeting to which
the requests relate; or (b) at least 50 members who have a
relevant right to vote.

Procedure for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as Director

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as Director are available on the website of the
Company (www.cr-power.com).

E.1.4 An Investor Relations team has been designated to
maintain purposeful dialogue and ongoing relationships
with investors and analysts. We strive to provide
quality information to Shareholders as well of our many
stakeholders regarding the latest developments of the
Company whilst ensuring that material information is
equally and simultaneously provided and accessible to
all interested parties.
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Investor Relations Activities

The Company consistently pays close attention to investor
relations activities and always believes that maintaining
effective communications with Shareholders and provision
of timely and accurate information are critical in creating
shareholder value.

The Company enhances communication with Shareholders
through various investor relations activities. Details of major
investor relations activities in 2021 are set out below.

In 2021, there were over 200 requests for company visits
and teleconferences from different investors. Together with
investor conferences and roadshows through virtual or audio
meetings, we communicated with approximately more than
1,500 fund managers and analysts. During the meetings with
investors, we explained the development and trend of the
power industry and updated investors on our operational
conditions, strategic planning and future outlook. We also
placed great emphasis on listening to investors’ feedback,
concerns and expectations so we can relay the messages
from investors to our management team.

Through emails or designated telephone lines, we also
provide Shareholders and potential investors with a channel
to obtain the latest information of the Company and have
their queries answered in a timely manner. We announce
our net generation volume figures on a monthly basis on our
Company’s website (www.cr-power.com) as well as through
announcements on the HKEx website (www.hkexnews.hk).

The Board always welcomes Shareholders’ views and input.
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board by addressing them to the Investor
Relations Department of the Company by letter, telephone,
fax or email. Details of the contact information can be found
on page 332 of this Annual Report.
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E.1.5 The Company adopts a general dividend policy that E15 R ABIRM—MBREEHE > 5

aims to provide Shareholders out of the Group’s profit
attributable to shareholders in any financial year, subject
to the criteria set out below.

Such declaration and payment of dividends shall
remain to be determined at the discretion of the Board
and subject to all applicable requirements under the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and the articles of association of the Company.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also
take into account, inter alia:

ERERMBEERERFR
RIEMAEBRZREEGE
Mo HERE ST THIRZ -

BRERNRKNRENBEES
BNBERE LAEBTFERE
PIE622F (A BFRA) R R
BB ERMRNPAEERR

TEo

BREKNKRER  EXQTE
R (HRER):

> the Group actual and expected financial > FREENERKTERME
performance; x4

>  shareholders’ interests; > RE#EE;

> retained earnings and distributable reserves of the > AREFEBRMNKAIDE
Company; 5

>  the capital structure of the Company; > ERABNEXREGE

> the Company’s capital expenditure and future > AREINEBEARBEEZEREEK
expansion plans; EREETE;

>  statutory and regulatory restrictions; > FEEKEERS

> general business conditions and strategies; > EREEIRIEAEE;

> general economic conditions, business cycle of > ERELEIRIE -AEEDN
the Group’s business and other internal or external EBEH UK EHA
factors that may have an impact on the business NCIES A BT =P8N
or financial performance and position of the TR R ZRH th R Ef aY
Company; and SMERERI R 5 &

>  other factors that the Board deems appropriate. > EEERABENHMEA
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The Board may propose the payment of dividends, if
any, with respect to the Company’s shares on a per
share basis.

In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in
the form of shares subject to and in accordance with
the procedures set out in the Company’s articles of
association.

Except for interim dividend, any dividends declared
by the Company must be approved by an ordinary
resolution of shareholders at the general meeting and
must not exceed the amount recommended by the
Board.

The Company will continually review its dividend policy
and reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion
to update, improve and/or modify its dividend policy at
any time.

E.2 Voting by Poll

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the Code principle and Code provision E.2.1. The Chairman
explained the detailed procedures for conducting a poll at
the 2021 AGM and answered questions arising therefrom (if
any).
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COMPANY SECRETARY

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the Code principle and Code provisions F.1.1 to F.1.4.

The role of Company Secretary is taken on by Ms. Wang
Xiao Bin, who is also an Executive Director and Senior Vice
President of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge
of the Company’s affairs. Her duties as Company Secretary
include ensuring good information flow among the Directors
and that board policy, procedures and all applicable laws,
rules and regulations are followed. She advises the Directors
through the Chairman of the Company and also facilitates
induction and professional development of Directors.

In 2021, Ms. Wang attended at least 15 hours of relevant
professional training which complied with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

In the year under review, there were no changes to the
Company’s articles of association.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte

To the Members of
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set
out on pages 136 to 330, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill, property, plant and
equipment with impairment indicators, mining rights and related
mining structures under construction

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill, property,
plant and equipment with impairment indicators, mining rights
and related mining structures under construction as a key audit
matter because of the significant degree of judgment made by the
Group’s management in determining the value in use (“VIU”) of
these assets.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying value of goodwill, net of
accumulated impairment losses, amounted to HK$663,659,000.
Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment assessment and as
explained in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements,
goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) of
the Company’s subsidiaries within two segments, thermal power
and renewable energy, in the People’s Republic of China, for the
purpose of impairment assessment.

Besides, as disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, out of the total property, plant and equipment
amounted to HK$192,953,359,000 as at 31 December 2021,
the Group’s management identified assets with a net book value
of HK$15,025,952,000 of certain thermal power generating
plants and renewable power generating plants with impairment
indicators. Management of the Group performed impairment
assessment in relation to such assets and each thermal power
generating plant or renewable power generating plant is
determined as a CGU.

As disclosed in notes 18 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, mining rights and related property, plant and
equipment not yet available for use, which are mining structures
under construction, with a net book value as at 31 December
2021 of HK$4,558,859,000 and HK$4,561,182,000 respectively.
Management of the Group performed impairment assessment in
relation to such assets and each coal mine is determined as a
CGU.
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The impairment assessment was performed by the Group’s
management using VIU model that estimates the value of each
CGU. The VIU model involves significant judgement in determining
the assumptions used in the calculations as further detailed in
notes 4(b), 4(c), 4(d), 15, 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements. The VIU is determined based on the cash flow
projection for the corresponding CGUs discounted to its present
value and requires the use of key assumptions include:

° generation volumes of the power plants;

o electricity prices;

° coal prices;

° output volumes for the coal mines under construction; and

° discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the
time value of money and risks specific to the CGUSs.

The VIU was less than the carrying value for certain CGU resulted
in impairment charges of HK$98,774,000 against goodwill for the
year ended 31 December 2021. No impairment charge has been
recognised for property, plant and equipment with impairment
indicators, mining rights and related mining structures under
construction for the year.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of goodwill,
property, plant and equipment with impairment indicators, mining
rights and related mining structures under construction included:

o Understanding and evaluating the Group’s methodology and
assumptions used in determination of VIU of the CGUs;

° Evaluating the reliability of the cash flow projections prepared
by management in prior year, on a sample basis, by
comparing them to the actual results in the current year and
understanding the causes of any significant variances;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
ERVRER S CHE S

e Assessing the reasonableness of the management’s key
assumptions used in the impairment assessments with
supporting documents on a sample basis as follows:

—  Assessing the generation volumes of power plants by
comparing them with the generation capacity approved
by the government and historical generation volume;

—  Comparing the electricity prices to the latest selling
price and industry forecast;

—  Comparing the coal prices to the industry forecast of
the coal market; and

—  Comparing the output volumes for the coal mines
currently under construction with the estimated coal
reserves report and government approved output.

° Involving our internal valuation experts to evaluate the
appropriateness of the methodology and reasonableness of
discount rates by benchmarking the discount rate against
comparable entities on a sample basis; and

° Performing sensitivity analysis on the key inputs, including
generation volume of power plants, electricity prices, coal
prices, output volumes for the coal mines currently under
construction (as applicable) and discount rates, to evaluate
if any further impairment charges of goodwill, property, plant
and equipment with impairment indicators, mining rights and
related mining structures under construction is required to be
made by the management.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
ERVRER S CHE S

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Zhu Chen.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
March 16, 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

B RmR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE_ T F+_A=+—HIEE

NOTES 2021 2020
B 5+ ZEZ-F C"EEEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TAET
Turnover EELE 5 CENCERIEN 69,550,811
Operating expenses KE A
Fuels Jay St (vt (32,494,062)
Depreciation and amortisation e A i (AN YASTN (11,712,737)
Employee benefit expenses BERAMAX 6 ((RIZETWY  (6,000,882)
Repairs and maintenance MBI 4EE [PEJEREIDY  (2,118,862)
Consumables ik (I RXPAN]  (1,043,317)
Impairment charges VEAIEEEES (432,674) (599,893)
Tax and surcharges & K M0 (671,259) (700,722)
Others Hith (PRALRPIN (2,157,142)
Total operating expenses IR R A (CYMEONER)] (56,827,617)
Other income HAE A 7 2,812,146 2,460,379
Other gains and losses Hihigm 8 PR (1,090,381)
Operating profit KERHE SRl 14,093,192
Finance costs MBER 9 (CNLGENEE] (3,422,294)
Share of results of associates FEILHE XS 21 241,346 555,373
Share of results of joint ventures ELEEEREER 22 (119,282) 244,058
Profit before income tax R PRS2 AU ) 10 IRZIRYCN 11,470,329
Income tax expense PRSI & 11 CLyfkE)  (2,793,994)
Profit for the year FRFE 884,039 8,676,335
Profit for the year attributable to: FRFHEBR -
Owners of the Company ZiN/NETEZ Z DN 1,592,752 7,582,668
Perpetual capital securities holders KABRFESFEA 43 462,980 235,327
Other non-controlling interests HMIEZEH 1 #E R (1,171,693) 858,340
ﬂ 8,676,335
Basic Earnings per share attributable EZAERNFENR AT
to owners of the Company during BEAZERERN
the year 14 HK$0.33 HK$1.58

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income (loss)
ltems that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences
Share of other comprehensive
income of investments accounted
for using the equity method
Release to profit or loss in relation
to disposal of subsidiaries
Release to profit or loss in relation
to disposal of associates
Items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss
Fair value changes on equity
investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income,
net of tax
Remeasurement of defined
benefit pension plan
Transfer of deferred tax liability
due to disposal of FVOCI

Other comprehensive income for the
year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the
year, net of tax

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Perpetual capital securities holders
Other non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for the ER2MEUKALLE RE)

year, net of tax

B
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE_ TS+ _A=+—HIEE

2021
—E-—%F
HK$’000
FHET

884,039

4,194,597

101,257

1,627

(13,762)

(27,704)

187,180
4,443,195

5,327,234

5,746,330
462,980

(882,076)

5,327,234

2020
—ECEF

— ==

HK$’000
THETT
8,676,335

8,107,285

98,262
2,401

(20,639)

463,959

8,651,268

17,327,603

15,641,711
235,327
1,450,565

17,327,603
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ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Goodwiill
Mining rights

Exploration and resources rights
Deferred tax assets
Other receivables and prepayments

Interests in associates

Interests in joint ventures

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive
income (FVOCI)

Loans to a FVOCI investee company

Loans to a non-controlling
shareholder

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables, other receivables
and prepayments

Loans to an associate

Loans to joint ventures

Loans to a FVOCI investee company

Amounts due from associates

Amounts due from joint ventures
Amounts due from other

related companies
Pledged and restricted bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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15
16
17
18
19
20

24

21
22

23

23

29

25

26
21
22

23
27
28

29

30
31

2021
—E-—%F
HK$’000
FET

192,953,359
5,679,555
663,659
4,558,859
165,944
1,040,784

12,600,647
8,760,459
5,760,413

1,138,982

233,414,547

6,748,274
37,768,557

83,904
262,377

372,107
406,333

35,375
176,573

152,819

7,934,211
53,940,530
287,355,077

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BIFAFINRE

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
RI®2—F+"A=+—H

2020
—EIERF

HK$’000
THETT

180,816,825
5,703,539
745,354
4,464,641
161,205
861,407

9,541,081
8,203,530
5,778,918

2,383,337

319,223

14,852
218,993,912

2,911,509

31,428,420
220,772
300,080

131,519
120,076
62,837

126,241

300,087
5,036,484

40,638,025
259,631,937



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BHMFIRRR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
RIZ2_—F#+"A=+—H

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Emkai

2021
—EZ—%F

HK$’000
FTAET

Capital and reserves BEXKEF#E
Share capital N 41 PRI CWaON 22,316,710
Other reserves HitmE 42 21,680,974 EERIKelooRFele)
Retained earnings RE R 44,389,984 EEEIHYEReRLY
Equity attributable to owners of NATEB AR
the Company 88,387,668 85,802,768
Perpetual capital securities holders KABXRFBHFFAA 43 10,827,061 10,827,061
Other non-controlling interests H A IEZ S 7,835,877 9,320,463
Total equity EiE LAV el 105,950,292
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities EREBIEE
Borrowings =h= 37 ORI ORVACN 82,109,487
Contract liabilities aRafR 33 858,566 421,748
Lease liabilities HEAE 38 863,241 892,045
Deferred tax liabilities BIER &R 20 351,725 608,780
Deferred income IRIEUT A 39 973,525 978,306
Retirement and other long-term FEEH R R R E R AR
employee benefits obligations BERM A 40 913,356 887,433
Other long-term payables Hith RN 26(b) 2,974,419 2,718,914
112,245,011 88,616,713
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BHAFIRRR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
RIFZ—F+"A=+—H

2021
—E-—F

HK$’000
FTAET

Current liabilities RENBE
Trade payables, other payables FEATRR RN~ LA FE(T

and accruals RIEKRETER 32 34,136,474
Contract liabilities sRIAE 33 1,481,794
Lease liabilities HEASRE 38 114,999
Amounts due to associates S hERIE 34 772,877
Amounts due to joint ventures &= ERIE 35 566,022
Amounts due to other e E R E A B FIB

related companies 36 7,391,714
Tax liabilities ==L 409,820
Borrowings = 37 23,185,760

_ 68,059,460
Total liabilities wam’ 180,304,471
Total equity and liabilities HEEKkEE 287,355,077

33,586,853
1,720,182
183,165
1,115,631
683,231

6,458,016
1,160,066
20,157,788

65,064,932

153,681,645
259,631,937

The consolidated financial statements on pages 136 to 330 were BEEGENR _Z__F=H+/\HE®
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on &IEHETIEEH N E136EEFIB0EM S

March 16, 2022 and are signed on its behalf by: HEBRRT THTNEEAREEX
=g
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
=2 B

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AOHRERE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET BT
Operating activities REEE
Profit before income tax BRPRSIR AT 1,841,575 11,470,329
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation and amortisation IEREH 14,597,585 11,712,737
Impairment charges EAIEEES 432,674 599,893
Exchange losses, net ERTNEEI=ES 431,217 878,392
Interest expense F B> 3,759,788 3,422,294
Interest income FEUWA (300,601) (348,549)
Share of results of associates BEHMEREER (241,346) (555,373)
Share of results of joint ventures BiLAESLEER 119,282 (244,058)
Dividends income from FVOCI UAnBEEEES
investee companies SFAHMGRE WG
ETHEENHEE
REIREWA (106,600) (125,760)
(Gains) losses on disposal of property, plant HEME - BEKHE
and equipment B (Wz) 518 (70,697) 215,224
Gains on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFRAEEEN KT (131,247) (27,582)
Losses (gains) on disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAREE Wm) 761 (1,736)
Gains on disposal of associates HEMELE KT - (4,891)
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HEGELENT (61,161) -
Operating cash flows before movement SEEREHAIN
in working capital REWE R 20,271,230 26,990,920
(Increase) decrease in inventories FE8 Em /R (3,727,263) 482,099
Increase in trade receivables, other receivables FEUTAR TN~ HAFE R
and prepayments B R B RIAE N (10,960,705) (6,261,275)
Increase in trade payables, other FETER T EAFE T
payables and accruals FIEKRESTE B 4,088,611 1,511,050
Increase in retirement and other long-term e RARREMER
employee benefits obligations BT EHM kAL 12,238 772,441
Cash generated from operations RETEHELNRE 9,684,111 23,495,235
Income tax paid BAMER (2,284,539) (2,792,962)
Net cash from operating activities BRETHELENRETHE 7,399,572 20,702,273
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHEZRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

Investing activities
Dividends received from associates and joint ventures

Dividends received from subsidiaries disposed
of in prior years
Dividends received from FVOCI investee companies

Interests received
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment,
mining rights and right-of-use assets
Advance proceeds from compensation for
demolition of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries engaging
in coal mining business
Proceeds upon dissolving a subsidiary
Proceeds from disposal of associates
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture
Proceeds from disposal of a FVOCI investment

Loans to an associate

Loans repaid by an associate

Loans repaid by joint ventures

Loans to joint ventures

Loan to other related parties

Investment made into FVOCI investment

Capital contributions into associates
Capital contributions into joint ventures
Net cash outflow on acquisition of interest
in subsidiaries
Net cash outflow on acquisition of interest
in an associate
Prepayment on acquisition of interest in an associate

Government grants related to assets

Net cash used in investing activities

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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2021
—E--F
HK$°000
FTHERT

462,890

101,045
386,412

(25,117,553)

566,149
166,718

4,850,850
21,209

368,546

159,035
(18,063)
158,761
61,217
(95,320)

(71,219)
(78,557)
(357,178)
(133,137)
(717,655)

(126,985)
14,697

(19,398,138)

2020
—E-EF

—<—=

HK$'000
TET

1,055,217

264,888

246,645
36,705

(30,528,698)

204,597

583,786

349,147
(182,591)
256,398
(117,695)

(8,745)

(74,495)
(73,259)
(652,590)

16,501
(28,624,189



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ABHEERE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

2021 2020
ZEZ-F “ECEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET TET
Financing activities REED
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITBEMENE 55,673,507 42,912,951
Repayment of bank borrowings BERIR{TEE (27,753,140) (33,589,910)
Proceeds from issuance of perpetual capital securities Tk A BARBHFIERIAE - 5,257,010
Proceeds from issuance of corporate bonds and BIREAEFRER
notes g1 1,207,390 2,274,560
Redemption of corporate bonds and notes BRARESRER (6,042,400) (2,568,454)
Advances from an intermediate holding company PR A B BT 1,000,000 2,464,380
Repayment of advance from an intermediate EBERBERABDER
holding company (700,000) (2,783,279)
Proceeds from disposal of interests in HEHRBARER
subsidiaries without loss of control (CRee kR EHIfE)
FrigRUE - 110,722
Capital contributions by non-controlling interests T EREHE 238,853 173,103
(Repayment of advances from) advances (BEMELERN
from associates KRR (375,156) 607,147
(Repayment of advances from) advances from (BERELERRN
joint ventures BELERN (146,532) 469,660
Repayment of advances to other related companies BIEEMEAK AR BR (143,646) (97,749)
Advances from non-controlling interests —X B AR LR ER
of a subsidiary Bo 5,416 —
Principal elements of lease payments BEHERELE (149,678) (168,307)
Interests paid EFHE (3,987,665) (3,975,038)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company BREAATNEBEARE (3,154,904) (2,755,790)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BB AR IFER
of subsidiaries BalRE (482,129) (589,773)
Interest paid to perpetual capital securities holders BEUKABERESHEA
FE (462,980) (235,327)
Underwriting fees for issuance of perpetual ZKABEXRD S
capital securities BITNREE = (11,059)
Net cash from financing activities MEEFBHEENRETFE 14,726,936 7,494,847
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents BR&RE &% EY)
@m, (i) $e 2,728,370 (427,069)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year ~E#HE &KL EEY 5,036,484 4,907,306

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

BEXEFHNTE 169,357 556,247
EXRERFEEEN 7,934,211 5,036,484
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB IRRMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE_T_—F+°A=1+—HIEE

GENERAL

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Limited (the
“Company”) is a public company incorporated in Hong
Kong and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
intermediate holding company of the Company is China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong. The directors regard the ultimate
holding company of the Company to be China Resources
Company Limited (“CRCL”), a company registered in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the construction and operation of
power stations.

The address of the registered office of the Company is
Rooms 2001-2002, 20th Floor, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency
of the Company. The directors of the Company consider
that HK$ is the appropriate presentation currency since the
Company is a public company with the shares listed on the
Stock Exchange where most of its investors are located.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Amendment to
HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the
IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the
International Accounting Standards Board issued in June
2021 which clarified the costs an entity should include
as “estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when
determining the net realisable value of inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BE

2.

B F+ZRA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (conTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts and accounting policies on application of
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments relate to changes in the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial
assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform, specific hedge accounting
requirements and the related disclosure requirements
applying HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
(“HKFRS 77).

As at 1 January 2021, the Group has bank and other
borrowing amounted to HK$25,316,000,000, the interest of
which are indexed to benchmark rates that will or may be
subject to interest rate benchmark reform.

During the year, the Group’s LIBOR bank and other
borrowings with carrying amounts of HK$735,690,000 have
been transitioned to the relevant alternative benchmark
rates. Such transitions have had no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements as the Group has
applied the practical expedient in relation to the changes
in contractual cash flows resulting from the interest rate
benchmark reform for bank loans measured at amortised
cost. Additional disclosures as required by HKFRS 7 are set
out in note 46.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (conTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments?®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture*

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment -
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulffilling
a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018 - 20202
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BE

2.

B F+ZRA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (conTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets
in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that
it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, for leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities (please
see Note below), for transactions in which provisions for
decommissioning and restoration are recognised with the
corresponding amounts recognised as part of the cost of
the related assets, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements
to the relevant assets and liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant assets and
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption.

In addition, the Group will recognise a deferred tax asset
(to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible
and taxable temporary differences associated with the
provisions for decommissioning and restoration and the
corresponding amounts recognised as part of the cost of the
related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (conTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
(Continued)

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application
permitted. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts
of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are subject
to the amendments amounted to HK$1,300,567,000 and
HK$978,240,000 respectively, and the carrying amounts
of provisions for decommissioning and restoration and the
corresponding amounts recognised as part of the cost of
the related assets which are subject to the amendments
amounted to HK$114,974,000 and HK$114,974,000
respectively. The Group is still in the process of assessing
the full impact of the application of the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and
Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use”

The amendments specify that the costs of any item that
were produced while bringing an item of property, plant
and equipment to the location and condition necessary for
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management (such as electricity produced when testing
whether the relevant property, plant and equipment is
functioning properly) and the proceeds from selling such
items should be recognised and measured in the profit or
loss in accordance with applicable standards. The cost
of the items is measured in accordance with HKAS 2
“Inventories”.

The Group’s existing accounting policy is to account for sale
proceeds on samples produced during testing as reduction
of cost of the relevant property, plant and equipment. Upon
application of the amendments, such sale proceeds and
the related costs will be included in profit and loss with
corresponding adjustments to the cost of property, plant
and equipment. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
sale proceeds and related costs included in property, plant
and equipment had no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE-Z”—

F+RA=1+—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (conTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

()  the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are
met at the end of the reporting period, even if the
lender does not test compliance until a later date;

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current
or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2021, the application of the amendments will not
result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

3. RUSHUBHRRVEE
REAXETHER

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 31 RHNSHUBERRNEE

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. For the purpose of preparation
of the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$14,118,930,000. In
addition, there were outstanding capital commitments
amounting to HK$14,024,401,000 (Note 48). The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that,
taking into account the current operation of the Group
as well as the banking facilities (Note 37) available to
the Group, the Group has sufficient working capital to
enable it to meet in full its financial obligations as and
when they fall due in the coming twelve months from
the date of statement of financial position. Therefore,
these consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in
the accounting policies set out below. Historical cost is
generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technigue. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RUSHIAFBIRRWEE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REASZHHEE®
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EAEHEE @

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of a subsidiary is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of a subsidiary to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant a subsidiary upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing a
subsidiary

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in the Group losing control over the a
subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components
of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the a
subsidiary, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or
a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-
generating units).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an
operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-
generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the
cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating
units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate and a joint venture is
described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of associates and
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate
or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3. RUSHMABHRRIVEE
REXEHABE®

3.2 EXGFHEE®@®

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a
joint venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of
the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis
as would be required if that associate or joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

3. RUSHMABHRRIVEE
REXEHABE®

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EXGFHEE®@®

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues
to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest
if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a
joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate or joint venture
are recognised in the consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

3. RUSHMABHRRIVEE
REXEHABE®

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EXGFHEE®@®

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purpose (other
than construction in progress as described below).
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction work in progress comprises infrastructure
construction of new power plants, technical
improvement projects of existing power plants and
coal mines being constructed, is carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is
presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than construction in progress) less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual value and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses, and are amortised
using the unit of production method based on the
proved and probable mineral reserves.

Exploration and resources rights

Exploration and resources rights are recognised at cost
on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
exploration and resources rights are stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Exploration and
resources rights include the cost of exploration rights
and the expenditures incurred in the search for mineral
resources as well as the determination of the technical
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting
those resources. When the technical feasibility and
commercial viability of extracting mineral resources
become demonstrable and relevant mining rights
certificate is obtained, previously recognised exploration
and resources rights are reclassified as mining rights.
These assets are assessed for impairment before
reclassifications.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, mining rights and exploration and
resources rights

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, mining rights and
exploration and resources rights to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, mining rights and exploration and
resources rights (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, mining rights and
exploration and resources rights are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 168
EHEHNEZERERAT

3. RUSHABHRRIVEE
REXEHABE@®

3.2 EXGFHE®@®

VE - -BERRE EHEE

B FRIEEU R EREN IR 1E R
& (&)

NE-BERRFE ERESAE
E-REEUKRERBHREZ
BJ U (o] <5 B8 75 18 Bl {5t o i £
A8 B s 5T A R Bl 28 0 B 7R
EEEETAEEMBRTE
FEURAREIEER-

RARREEEBUNRE
Ko W27 5B -—HNDE
BEE A GESEGDEEM
HIREELEEMU SRS
EURUGE-—HMMNoEEE
WER/NREEEBUAER 7
WRIEEREXEEFBIIR
TELBUNFcELEMUE
PIEE WHEERREEELE
URREEEEMERNRE
BETLER

A EIEEASARBEREE
RARERBEZREE &
SHEEREER G5t RKE
TMEGHAMRAIRERME
EHRE ZMAMERER
IR ERREEENER TS
FEhkREE (AFETELE
i) FERNER CR#HZ AR
REESFARRRERE) o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

3. RUSHMABHRRIVEE
REXEHABE®

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EXGFHEE®@®

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, mining rights and exploration and
resources rights (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories include fuel oil for power generation, coal,
materials for repairs and maintenance and spare
parts, and are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all costs necessary to make sale. Costs necessary
to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interest of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component and are accounted for by applying other
applicable standards.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land and buildings and
photovoltaic facilities that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the
lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. RUSHABHRRIVEE
REXEHABE@®

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EXGFHE®@®

Leases (Continued) fHE &

The Group as a lessee (Continued) TEBEAEREA @
Right-of-use assets FEHESE

The cost of right-of-use assets includes: FTREEENMRAEE

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;
and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if

the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use assets. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation before 1 January 2005 is treated as non-
monetary foreign currency items of the acquirer and
reported using the historical cost prevailing at the date
of acquisition.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost
of providing benefits is determined using the projected
unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being
carried out at the end of each annual reporting period.
Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and
losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling
(if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding
interest), is reflected immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a charge or credit
recognised in other comprehensive income in the
period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised
in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately
in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit
or loss.

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the
period of a plan amendment or curtailment and a gain
or loss on settlement is recognised when settlement
occurs. When determining past service cost, or a gain
or loss on settlement, an entity shall remeasure the net
defined benefit liability or asset using the current fair
value of plan assets and current actuarial assumptions,
reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the
plan assets before and after the plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement, without considering the effect
of asset ceiling (i.e. the present value of any economic
benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate
at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit
liability or asset. However, if the Group remeasures
the net defined benefit liability or asset before plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement, the Group
determines net interest for the remainder of the annual
reporting period after the plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement using the benefits offered under the
plan and the plan assets after the plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement and the discount rate used
to remeasure such net defined benefit liability or asset,
taking into account any changes in the net defined
benefit liability or asset during the period resulting from
contributions or benefit payments.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

e  service cost (including current service cost, past
service cost, as well as gains and losses on
curtailments and settlements);

o net interest expense or income; and
4 remeasurement.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position represents
the actual deficit or surplus in the Group’s defined
benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation
is limited to the present value of any economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plans or
reductions in future contributions to the plans.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3. RUSHUBHRRVEE

REXEHABE@®

3.2 EXGFHE®@®

Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Discretionary contributions made by employees or third
parties reduce service cost upon payment of these
contributions to the plan.

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there
will be contributions from employees or third parties,
the accounting depends on whether the contributions
are linked to service, as follows:

o If the contributions are not linked to services (for
example contributions are required to reduce
a deficit arising from losses on plan assets or
from actuarial losses), they are reflected in the
remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability
or asset.

° If contributions are linked to services, they reduce
service costs. For the amount of contribution
that is dependent on the number of years of
service, the entity reduces service cost by
attributing the contributions to periods of service
using the attribution method required by HKAS
19 paragraph 70 for the gross benefits. For the
amount of contribution that is independent of the
number of years of service, the entity reduces
service cost in the period in which the related
service is rendered.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at
the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer
withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when it
recognises any related restructuring costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service cost,
interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that another HKFRS requires
or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in a subsidiary and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right—
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised
due to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date
of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required
to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

Provisions for the Group’s restoration, rehabilitation
and environmental expenses are based on estimates of
required expenditure at the mines in accordance with
PRC rules and regulations. Provisions are measured at
the present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase
in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at fair value through profit or loss, except that at
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
“Business Combinations” applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the capital reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to retained
earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the
cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the
“other income” line item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
including trade and other receivables, loan to/amounts
due from related parties (including associates, joint
ventures, FVOCI investee companies, non-controlling
shareholders and other related parties), pledged and
restricted bank deposits, bank balances, and financial
guarantee contracts which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

()  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

()  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

° it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised
in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the ECL is the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss
that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined,
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects
the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks
are taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contract, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNuED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition
to measure at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the capital reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss but is transferred to retained
earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual
obligation for the Group to deliver cash or other
financial assets or the Group has the sole discretion
to defer payment of distribution and redemption of
principal amount indefinitely are classified as equity
instruments. The dividends for the perpetual capital
securities are accounted for as profit distribution.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to associates, amounts due to joint
ventures, amounts due to other related parties and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair
values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

3. RUSHMABHRRIVEE
REXEHAHE@®

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTtinueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EXGFHE®@®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability to
which the amortised cost measurement applies as a
result of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group
applies the practical expedient to account for these
changes by updating the effective interest rate, such
change in effective interest rate normally has no
significant effect on the carrying amount of the relevant
financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows is required by interest rate benchmark
reform if and only if, both these conditions are met:

° the change is necessary as a direct consequence
of interest rate benchmark reform; and

e  the new basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is economically equivalent to the previous
basis (i.e. the basis immediately preceding the
change).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BE

4,

B F+ZRA=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumption
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

4(a) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The estimate of depreciable lives of property, plant
and equipment, especially power generating plant
and equipment and mining structures, was made by
the directors of the Company with reference to the
following: (1) the historical usage of the assets; (2)
their expected physical wear and tear; (3) results of
recent durability assessment performed; (4) technical
or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in production of similar fixed assets;
and (5) the changes in market demand for, or legal or
comparable limits imposed on, the use of such fixed
assets. When the useful lives differ from the original
estimated useful lives, management will adjust the
estimated useful lives accordingly.

The current estimated useful lives are stated in Note
15. It is possible that the estimates made based on
existing experience are different to the actual outcomes
within next financial period and could cause a material
adjustment to the depreciation and carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. EAXE:tHER{&stAEA
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION BARIZERMNEERKIE @
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

st REABAERIZ N EE KR @)

4(b) Estimated impairment of property, plant and 4b) V¥ BERRERIGEHE

equipment

In determining whether a property, plant and
equipment is impaired or the event previously causing
the impairment no longer exists, management has
to exercise judgement, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred that may affect the
asset value or such event affecting the asset value has
not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset or derecognition; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions, including generation
volumes of the power plants, electricity prices, coal
prices, output volumes for the coal mines under
construction and discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the time value of money and
risks specific to the CGUs, to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by management
to determine the level of impairment, including the
discount rate or the growth rate assumptions in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect net
present value used in the impairment test.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, impairment
charge amounting to HK$179,355,000 (2020:
HK$422,701,000), out of total HK$179,355,000 (2020:
HK$100,696,000) were related to certain individual
assets planned to be retired or obsolete to follow the
change in technology and regulating environment, and
Nil (2020: HK$322,005,000) were related to projects
with impairment indicators. Further considerations in
performing impairment assessment regarding property,
plant and equipment are set out in Note 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE-Z”—

F+RA=1+—HLFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. T A®i#I6R{LstAER

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (conTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

4(c) Impairment review of goodwill

As of 31 December 2021, there was goodwill
substantially arising from acquisition of various
power plants amounting to HK$663,659,000 (2020:
HK$745,354,000) (Note 17). Determining whether
goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which
goodwill has been allocated. The recoverable amounts
of each of CGUs are determined based on value in
use calculation. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the CGU and any residual value from
disposing the related assets and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. Impairment
losses of HK$98,774,000 (2020: HK$82,000,000) were

recognised for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The details of the assumptions used by management
and the sensitivity analysis are disclosed in Note 17.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. E A& #IEIR (&t FEA
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION BAEIZENEERE@®
UNCERTAINTY (conTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

fi 5t RBABAE R T E AR (@)
4(c) AR AR

4(d) Impairment review of mining rights

Mining rights are reviewed for impairment whenever one
of the following events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable (the list is not exhaustive).

e  The period for which the entity has the right to
explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not
expected to be renewed.

e  Substantive expenditure on future exploration for
and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific
area is neither budgeted nor planned.

o Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
in the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources
and the entity has decided to discontinue such
activities in the specific area.

e  Sufficient data exist to indicate that, though
a development in the specific area is likely to
proceed, the carrying amount of the exploration
and resources rights is unlikely to be recovered in
full from successful development or by sale.

e  Mining right are under development and not yet
available for use.

In estimating the recoverable amounts of assets,
various assumptions, including future cash flows to be
associated with the mining rights and discount rates,
are made. If future events do not correspond to such
assumptions, the recoverable amounts will need to be
revised, and this may have an impact on the Group's
results of operations or financial position.

At 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of mining
rights is HK$4,558,859,000 (2020: HK$4,464,641,000)
(Note 18). During the year ended 31 December 2021
and 31 December 2020, no impairment charge has
been recognised for mining rights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Turnover represents revenue arising from (i) sales of
electricity, and (i) heat generated and related service by
thermal power plants during the year. The group is currently
engaged in two business areas — thermal power (inclusive
of coal-fired and gas-fired power plants) and renewable
energy (inclusive of wind farms, hydro-electric projects and
photovoltaic power generation).

Sales of electricity (i) & SIIHE (i)

— Sales of power generated from —KNEBHREBHE
thermal power plants
— Sales of power generated from — A BAEREBHE

renewable energy

Heat supply related (by thermal power ZUAE{HFE (kB8 g 25 ) (ii)

plants) (ii)

— Heat supply —ENBEHIE

— Heat supply pipeline maintenance ~ —ZASE (L FE B B 4 E RS
service

For sales of electricity and heat supply, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when electricity and heat
is generated and transferred to the power grid owned
by the respective regional or provincial grid companies
or the customers, respectively. For heat supply pipeline
maintenance service, revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-makers (“CODM”). The CODM mainly include
executive directors and members of senior management
of the Company. For the purpose of resources allocation
and performance assessment, the CODM review operating
results and financial information on a group company by
company basis. Each such group company is identified as
an operating segment. When the group company operates
in similar business model with similar target group of
customers, the group’s operating segments are aggregated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT 5. EXRERTEBEN @

INFORMATION (conTiNuED)

The Group’s operating and reportable segments under BEEBMBREENEERTEE

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are as follows: DER)  REBENEE KD 2D I

mr

() Renewable energy represents sales of electricity, () PIBERERIEHEE N #E
development, construction, management and operation B-EE-BENRZEERES
of wind farms, hydro-electric projects and photovoltaic KADEEBB RAREE (M7
power generation (‘renewable energy”). BERERY -

(i)  Thermal power represents sales of electricity, provision (i) WHESBIEHEEE D EHME
of related services, development, construction, FlRG ER R -BEERS
management and operation of coal-fired and gas-fired EMEEmERIMRER (MK
power plants (“thermal power”). Bl o

Transaction price allocated to the remaining PEREFEREHANRGRENEE

performance obligation for contracts with customers MR ZENR

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance N ZE T —FRIZEZEF+TA

obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 —t+—HPETFTRGRBEATENR

December 2021 and 2020, and the expected timing of SBR CREZRIEL D RENR) KIE

recognising revenue are as follows: R TREARF AN ¢

2021 2020
—s-—F —T-=k

Heat supply  Heat supply

HBEHRE EREHFE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Within one year 1,481,794 1,720,182
More than one year il —F 858,566 421,748

2,340,360 2,141,930

All sales of electricity are for periods of one year or less. As FTEEHEEHN A —FEHUAT-

permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated HUE B HFREZEFE155R R

to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. OB TFTRERERGOANRIS
BT THE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB RRM

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (conTINUED)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SEGMENT REVENUE B =

HK$’000

5 EXBERABER w

SEE R A

UTRBRAIZ2RDMEIDNEER
Wrmk ;e SR AE DA

BE_TZ_—F+°-HA=+—HL
FE

Renewable
energy
AT B ERER
HK$’000
FET

Thermal
power

Total
st
HK$’000
F#Ex

AE

FET

External sales

Timing of revenue recognition & 53 U & AY BF RS

— at a point in time
— over time

Segment (losses) profit

Exchange losses, net

Profit before income tax

NERSHE 69,519,744 20,280,171 89,799,915

—RE B 69,394,278 20,280,171 89,674,449

—PE R FE SR 125,466 = 125,466

69,519,744 20,280,171 89,799,915

DEB (B518) F8 (7,155,981) 9,428,773 2,272,792

PE R R Bk (431,217)
FRETISFATF)

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT 5. EXERAIIFEF @
INFORMATION (conTiNuED)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DEUR I R AR @
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BHE_T-ZEF+"H=+—HIt
FE
Thermal Renewable
power energy Total
WE  AIBEFER 4Bt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEIT FET FAET
SEGMENT REVENUE DEPUL ER
External sales SNEREE & 57,072,276 12,478,535 69,550,811
Timing of revenue recognition e B UK & BY B 5]
— at a point in time —RE R 56,979,696 12,478,535 69,458,231
— over time — B R RS HE SR 92,580 — 92,580

57,072,276 12,478,535 69,550,811

Segment profit D EFE 7,546,354 4,802,367 12,348,721
Exchange losses, net ERTNEE=ES (878,392)
Profit before income tax PRPTIS AT A 11,470,329
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the KE DB R G 5T B R B Y sE 3T 4t
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note NAEEGEEKAER -
o
s & 207 . Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT 5. EXERAHBEH @
INFORMATION (conTiNuED)
Segment assets and liabilities IHEERER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and UTARUERDHI DN EAEER
liabilities by operating and reportable segment: BEERBEDWN:

2021
—E-—%F

HK$’000
FET

DEEE

Segment assets

— Thermal power —NE IRYAYCRPZY N 133,363,219
- Renewable energy —ABEER IPCRGRICRRE 126,268,718
Total segment assets and MOBEERGHEE
consolidated assets PV 259,631,937
Segment liabilities DEEE
— Thermal power —WE CY@SRWEIM 81,071,618
- Renewable energy —aBEER PR PRl 72,610,027
Total segment liabilities and woMEaBEREHEE
consolidated liabilities I VAl 153,681,645
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances MEBERDHRBRN DI 2D E
and allocating resources among segments, all assets and BRMEs FEEERBERESE
liabilities are allocated to operating segments in the current ENEEZEDE -
year.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE_ S —F+"_RA=+—HLEE

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT 5. EXERIHBEH @
INFORMATION (conTINUED)
Other segment information Hth EpE*
For the year ended 31 December 2021 iﬁ?i;ﬁi—fﬁ‘l—iﬁ =+—Hl1

Thermal Renewable
power energy Total

KE  AIBEER AR5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET FTAET

Amounts included in the BIEESIFIE R

measure of segment DEEESTEN

profit and segment assets: Gk
Additions to non-current JETRENE ERIIE AN()

assets (i) 6,965,734 20,339,846 27,305,580
Depreciation and amortisation 37 K # 4 8,122,742 6,474,843 14,597,585
Impairment charges EAEEEES 424,282 8,392 432,674
Net gains (losses) on disposal  HEYE  HEK&

of property, plant REUWE (B18)

and equipment FEE 72,434 (1,737) 70,697
Share of results of associates FEML B (D2 2EAE (367,129) 608,475 241,346
Share of results of EhEEhEES

joint ventures (252,532) 133,250 (119,282)
Finance costs M5 & A 1,133,472 2,626,316 3,759,788
Interest income FEUWA 247,630 52,971 300,601

Amounts regularly provided to  EHiM T B = ERK
CODM but not included in the  HiRMHEBREER

measure of segment profit: DEFEEFEN
8
Income tax expense FTiSi &R 942,358 957,536

Annual Report 2021
FIR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT 5. EXERAHBEH @
INFORMATION (conTiNuED)
Other segment information (Continued) Hitt3HMEE @
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE_ZT_ZF+_A=1t—HIL
FE
Thermal Renewable
power energy Total
NE  AIBESER 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FET TET
Amounts included in the BREESSF B ED
measure of segment B ESTENERE !
profit and segment assets:
Additions to non-current JETRENE ERIIE N()
assets (i) 6,055,124 31,364,598 37,419,722
Depreciation and amortisation 78 K # i 7,452,868 4,259,869 11,712,737
Impairment charges EAEECEES 271,609 328,284 599,893
Net losses on disposal HEYZE BB MK
of property, plant B RS I8/ F 58
and equipment 155,914 59,310 215,224
Share of results of associates PRI E PEEE 555,373 — 555,373
Share of results of ELhEEhEES
joint ventures 73,056 171,002 244,058
Finance costs MBER 1,909,599 1,512,695 3,422,294
Interest income FEUWA 308,864 39,685 348,549

Amounts regularly provided to  EHiR £ B & ERK
CODM but not included in the  HiRMHEBREERE

measure of segment profit: DEF)EFEN
ok
Income tax expense FTiSIR &R 2,129,818 664,176 2,793,994
0] Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets and financial instruments. (i) %Q@j BETORELERBESERER
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 21 0 "‘T*u— .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (conTiNuED)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are principally located in the
PRC. The Group’s revenue from external customers
are mainly attributed to customers located in the PRC.
The Group’s non-current assets excluding deferred tax
assets and financial instruments, which amounted to
HK$231,142,895,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$213,583,470,000) are located in the mainland China.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of each corresponding year
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as
follows:

Customer A (Note) ZEA (ffsh)
Customer B (Note) EFB (&)
Customer C (Note) EEC (MfsH)
Customer D (Note) ZED (fysh)

Note: Revenue from both the thermal power and renewable energy segments.

6. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Wages, salaries and bonus
Pension costs

TE #HERIEA

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

SEBRTHEN @

i E

FEEBNEBEFTEMUNTR KE
BREXRBISELNK T EER
BARFENER R _—
+B=4+—HB'&xEEMIFER
BEEFERELEMERNEERER
T H) 231,142,895,000 7T (ZF
T4 1 213,583,470,0005E 7T) (L HL
B P9 #f

EREEERNEHN

REHEFEEMAERBHELR
B10%HE R mMT ¢

2021

2020
—EBFE
HK$'000
TAET
11,040,140

—E—%F
HK$’000
FET
12,913,775

N/A 8,929,209
N/A 6,966,614
N/A 8,209,276

(D) © RENERAIBEERD SIS

6. [EEEFIRAZ

2021
—E_—F
HK$’000
FAERT

5,327,551 4,663,626

— retirement benefit schemes
(Note 40 (i) & (ii))

Termination benefit costs
(Note 40 (iii)

Expenses capitalised in construction
in progress:

Other staff costs

Pension costs

BN —BEEZ B E

(Pt 52 40(0) R (i)
1,016,333 1,129,882
rIERERFMER (=
40(iii)) 10,658 207,374
6,354,542 6,000,882
RERIZANERNEHNER :
HhE8 T g 327,771 547,703
Iy NI WN 51,133 28,211
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

6. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

(CONTINUED)

(i)

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

Five highest paid individuals

Salaries and other benefits
Bonus
Post-employment benefits

Emolument bands
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000

HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include three (2020:
one) directors whose emoluments are disclosed in the
analysis shown in Note 12. The emoluments paid to the
remaining two (2020: four) individuals during the year
are as follows.

#rE M HEMER
fEAL
RERR BN

Emoluments of these Two (2020: four) individuals other
than directors are within the following bands:

e
2,600,001t E
3,000,000/ 7T
3,000,001t E
3,500,000/ 7t
3,600,001 T E
4,000,000/ 7T
5,000,001 T E
5,600,000/ 7T
5,600,001t E
6,000,000/ 7t

ESEFEZ @

(i)

hamEHMAL

FR-EEBRLRSHMA
TEE=Z2 (ZEFF ! —
£) EE (MIsH12F 5 D4 R BR
HEFM) - FAM TER T M

“E2TEF M) ATHE
Bian T e

5,382
7,716
444

13,542

tEms (CE22F 04) A
T (BEERIN BEFINAF T
HE :

Number of individuals
A#
2021
—E-—%F

2020
BT

=




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HtgA

Sales of scrap materials and
by-product

Government grants (Note)

Interest income

Service income

Dividend income from FVOCI
investee companies

Others

HE BE i R Bl E o

BT R Bh (B )

AUESYON

R EUA

KEUAREESFEREF
st AR AhAR & W AU
RERFHREWA

HAth

2021

— = —
—_=

HK$’000
FET

2020
—ETRE
HK$’000
THET

1,193,457 1,113,151
704,137 529,191
300,601 348,549
430,127 315,819
106,600 125,760

77,224 27,909
2,460,379

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group received grants from certain
PRC governmental departments to compensate high operating costs amounting
to HK$60,383,000 (2020: HK$21,296,000). Those conditions attached with these
grants have been met before receipt of the grants and, therefore, the Group
recognised the grants as income upon receipt.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group received grants amounting
to HK$39,664,000 (2020: HK$34,589,000) from the PRC government, which were
to encourage certain PRC subsidiaries to close down the coal mines as a result of
the China’s supply-side reform.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group received grants of
HK$297,942,000 (2020: HK$287,138,000), from the PRC government, for
encouraging certain PRC subsidiaries to increase supply of electricity, and grants
for encouraging the development of environmental friendly electricity generation
of HK$246,964,000 (2020: HK$129,511,000). Those conditions attached to
these grants have been met before receipt of the grants and, therefore, the Group
recognised the grants as income upon receipt.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, government grants relating to
assets that are credited to other income amounted to HK$59,184,000 (2020:
HK$56,657,000) (Note 39).

2,812,146

P EE -

HE_Z-—F+_A=+—RHLLEE t&H
W B 25 F o B BT 30 P9 25 1 (B 48 ' pl A4S 3
B AR AL 0 £ %87/460,383,0008 T (CE-F
£F 121,296,000/ 7) c ZEMEMMMFEREER
WERRIB AT B AL R AR E R U R R
B AURA ©

RBEE_S_—S+_B=+—HILEE &&
(3 Wi = A [ BT 8% TR 9 #8 A5 39,664,000 7T (Z
T T T4 34,589,000587T) ° AR EENE T HE
M /B A B) 22 HE R BN AR I R 2 RE SRR o

NBE_E2-_—&+-B=+—HLEE K
£ B W B A TS 225 A B9 45 297,942,000 7T

TR TR 287,138,000 7T) TR SRS
FTHENBAINEESE MU ERFHER
1R3¢ EIE B #5246,964,0008 75 (T -4 ¢
129,511,000/ 7T) ° ZE /mBNHIMIAE IR BRI
ERIBHT B ER > KL AN E B P U R
HERIAUA ©

REE_Z_—F+"A=+—HIEEE A
Hth A B E EAE R B 458 459,184,0007% 7T
(ZZ T4 156,657,000 7T) (MIzE39) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

8. Hfthifim

2021
—E-—£

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

HK$’000
FET

2020

—E-EHF

— ==

HK$’000
THETT

Exchange losses, net RN E=ES

(431,217) (878,392)

Gains (losses) on disposal of property, HHE¥ZE - E KR EH

plant and equipment Wz (B518) 70,697 (215,224)
Gains on disposal of right-of-use HEGCAEEEN KRG

assets 131,247 27,582
(Losses) gains on disposal of HEHNBARMN (BB Wa

subsidiaries (761) 1,736
Gains on disposal of associates HEBME A AENKE - 4,891
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HESEPENKR 61,161 —
Bargain purchase gain arose WHENB AR EENRE

from acquisition of BEWE (fi5T44)

subsidiaries (Note 44) 44,813 -
Other Hth 31,981 (30,974)

(92,079) (1,090,381)
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MHEEH

Interests on borrowings EEF S

2021
=B 5
HK$’000
FAET

3,937,288 3,567,921

Interests on corporate bonds NEBEFREEFE

and notes 403,410 412,389
Interests on loans from related parties R 5 & A 2 51,377 145,560
Interests on lease liabilities HEaENE 25,895 49,801
Others Hith 58,940 54,824
4,476,910 4,230,495

Less: Interests capitalised in B RERIREAREN
construction in progress (Note 15) M2 (FsE15) (717,122) (808,201)
3,422,294

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on
funds borrowed specifically for the purpose of obtaining
qualifying assets and on the general borrowing pool which
are calculated by applying an average capitalisation rate of
3.87% (2020: 4.21%) per annum to expenditures incurred on
qualifying assets.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

3,759,788

FRECEREMEER RN AR
BEEREEFIBESRERRB
BHEG UREFFHELREAE
387% (ZEZZF 1 4.21%) 57 ES
EREEELEMREX -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

10. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. BRER1IS IR B FU

2021 2020
—E-—F —E=_TF

HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET

BRPTS IR AN F B E R

Profit before income tax has been

arrived at after charging: TE&IE
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMEN & 12,447 13,216
Cost of inventories recognised FERAERASZH

as expenses 59,758,988 33,538,099
Depreciation and amortisation ITEE e 8 \ERYRTI N 11,712,737
Expenses capitalised in RERIERERECNER :

construction in progress:

Depreciation and amortisation 7 EE R iH 48,574 140,324

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FRSIRER

2021 2020
—EZ—& C"ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET THETT

EHRE

Current taxation:

- PRC Enterprise Income Tax — R EMER
(“EIT”) (ThEEEMEH) 1,177,209 2,932,795

Deferred taxation credit (Note 20) RIEFRIE R (MFEE20) (219,673) (138,801)

Total #a=A 957,536 2,793,994
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as FEEXMEEERRE B &L
the Group had no taxable profit in Hong Kong or incurred tax I RN F B ELEEEE > R &
losses for both years. MEBFERIELHEE -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been calculated based on FETXMEREREBERNHE
the estimated assessable profits in accordance with the b B~ Bl B9 A R IR K% (5T FE SRR
relevant tax rates applicable to certain subsidiaries in the FEFE
PRC.

Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTIiNUED) 11. FRISIRER @

Pursuant to CaiShui [2012] No. 10 Notice on the Execution
of the Catalogue of Public Infrastructure Projects Entitled
for Preferential Tax Treatment, certain wind power projects
of the Group, which were set up after 1 January 2008,
are entitled to a tax holiday of a three-year full exemption,
followed by a three-year 50% exemption of enterprise
income tax, commencing from their first turnover-making
year.

Pursuant to CaiShui [2011] No. 58 Notice on Tax Policy
Issues concerning Further Implementing the Western China
Development Strategy, certain group companies located in
the western regions of the PRC, are entitled to a tax holiday
of a two-year full PRC enterprise income tax exemption,
followed by a three-year 50% exemption commencing
from their first year of reporting turnover and can enjoy a
preferential income tax rate of 15% after the tax holiday.

In addition, certain of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries
are entitled to certain tax credit (“Tax Credit”) against their
assessable EIT, which is calculated as 10% of the current
year’s purchases and use of specific environmental friendly,
water and energy-saving, safety-enhanced equipment in the
Group’s electricity generation business. The portion of Tax
Credit that has not been utilised in the current period can be
carried forward for future tax credit over a period of not more
than five years.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 216
EHEHNEZERERAT

18 45 81 2 [2012]1 098 (B35 ~ DR
R85 B 11T A HE L B 2 B
B %R EEESERMMED
BH)  AEER_BBNE—F—
AMERTNETASEEAEE
1 7] £F B A2 B0 = 45 16 B4 S U P 7S
B TIBE 8 = 4 J 3 2 B 9 1 22
181 o

RIRI12[2011]585% (BE R A B
75 B K A 3% B BR A R AR IR 8 R
BYEBAN) > & TR PEASER
ARBEEEENEEENMFRR
BAThBEEERER 2R =F%
MY REEEFMER BRBEZH
BEEH15%NEBEMBRMRK -

HESh > BATE T HEME QS5
BRMEEMENEZE—ERNEE
B(RERE) ZMNEBER
rEEAEENEEEBBERE
RIRR BBk RZEEARR
#BRI10% 5t B o 25 HA ] 10 4% 5 5 AY
MIREZ DRI EE IR REER
MR ISR AF-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTiNnuED) 11. Fhii8IRE&ER @
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to REAFEE FIEREREGHIESR
the profit before income tax per the consolidated statement ROPRFIEIRAIFEHIRAT -

of profit or loss as follows:

2021
—E-—%F

HK$’000
FHETT
BRETS M AIA)H VSO 11,470,329

Profit before income tax

Calculated at a tax rate of 25% BRE25% (T2 ZEFE .
(2020: 25%) 25%) 5t& 460,394 2,867,582
Tax exemptions and concessions YA B R IEE &
rates granted to PRC subsidiaries =51 (1,351,869) (674,793)
Other tax credit HRBEESR (1,475) (120,300)
Income not subject to tax BRI A (309,007) (233,122)
Expenses not deductible for tax e
purposes 435,703 643,972
Unrecognised deductible RSB RERFELR
temporary differences 44,715 145,759
Unrecognised tax losses RHESBIRIBE 18 1,802,958 193,849
Utilisation of previously FRAEREENRESERE
unrecognised tax losses and =R
temporary differences (135,128) (112,708)
Withholding tax on the earnings RETH B AR EL FARERE
remitted/anticipated to be remitted ~ HAIEF]FEINR
by certain subsidiaries 11,245 83,755
Income tax expense for the year FRFTSNER 957,536 2,793,994
Tax rate of 25% (2020: 25%) is adopted for the taxation MIEBHRKRA2% (ZCE_ZFF
reconciliation as such tax rate is applicable to most of the 25%) MEFHE > RERAFERNAEEH
Group’s operations in the PRC for the year. REBDHBZEFRERAZRE
The tax credit relating to other comprehensive income is as ERAEMGERaNRIESZ B
follows: S <

2021 2020
“BC-F ZTCTE

Before tax Tax charge  Aftertax Before tax Taxcharge  After tax

Mg REZH ik fal  REH &

HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000

FER TAT FERT TART TERT TERT
Fair value changes UrnBEtEEEs
of FVOCI sTARAMG & K@M

AREEED (18,130) (B 627,580  (163,621) 463,959
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE_ T —F+_HA=+—HLEE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 12. %i* HENTERES

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EEREEHNITEMS
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 BHE_ET-_—4F#+"H=+—HIt
December 2021 is set out below: FE SEENMEEIWT :

Salaries and
Fees bonus

e FHERTEAL
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

Non-executive directors: FRITES !
Wang Chuandong FER
Chen Ying (i) PR 2 (i)
Wang Yan (iii) F (i)

Liu Guixin (iv) BIEH(v)
Chen Guoyong (v) BREIE (V)

Executive directors: HTES:
Shi Baofeng (vi) E 1% (vi)
Tang Yong (vii) J& B (vil)
Zhang Junzheng SRE
Wang Xiao Bin TN

Independent non-executive MBI IFHITESE !
directors:

Ch’ien Kuo Fung, mRE
Raymond

Leung Oi-sie, Elsie REF

Ma Chiu-Cheung, F5 BR # (vil)
Andrew (viii)

So Chak Kwong, Jack BREN

Yang Yuchuan (ix) 1% E (i)

Pension
costs Total

BB 5t

HK$°000 HK$’000
FET TET




12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (conTiNuED)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31
December 2020 is set out below:

Fees

ik
HK$'000
TET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

12.E5 HEATERES

0
EEREEVNITENE @

BHE_Z_Z¥F+_B=+—HL
FE - ZEEEMNMEEYIWMT

Salaries and Pension
bonus costs Total
e RAEA RIREL A Kt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH7 i Fin

Non-executive directors:
Wang Chuandong
Li Ru Ge
Chen Ying (ii)
Wang Yan (iii)
Ge Changxin

Executive directors:
Tang Yong (vii)
Zhang Junzheng
Wang Xiao Bin

Independent non-executive

directors:

Ch'’ien Kuo Fung,
Raymond

Leung Oi-sie, Elsie

Ma Chiu-Cheung,
Andrew (viii)

So Chak Kwong, Jack

JEHITESE .
TER
TUE
e 7% (i)

F Zii)
BEM

HITESE
J& B (vil)
REH
T

BIUENTEE .

2R

g

5 BB 3 vill)

BRE

470
470

470
470

1,880

2,236 145 2,381
1,851 134 1,985
4,116 78 4,194
- = 470
- - 470
- - 470
- - 470
8,203 357 10,440
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EHBENEZERARAF

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (conTinuED)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

(i) Remuneration to a director is generally an emolument paid or payable in
respect of that person’s services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries undertakings.

(ii) Mr. Chen Ying resigned as a Non-executive Director on 15 September

2021.

(ii) Mr. Wang Yan resigned as a Non-executive Director on 15 September
2021.

(iv) Mr. Liu Guixin was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 15 September
2021.

(V) Mr. Chen Guoyong was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 15

September 2021.

(Vi) Mr. Shi Baofeng was appointed as an Executive Director on 30 September
2021.

(viy  Mr. Tang Yong resigned as an Executive Director on 30 September 2021.

(vii) ~ Mr. Ma Chiu-Cheung, Andrew resigned as an Independent Non-executive

Director on 15 September 2021.

(ix) Mr. Yang Yuchuan was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director on 15 September 2021.

During the year, no remuneration has been paid by the
Group to the directors or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office.

Certain executive directors who did not receive emoluments
during the reporting periods, also held positions in the
shareholders of the Company and their subsidiaries
(“Shareholder’s Entities”) and the emoluments were borne
by the respective Shareholder’s Entities for the services
rendered for the Shareholder’s Entities. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, it is not practicable to allocate
their remunerations to the Group.

No directors have waived any remuneration during the year.

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

Other than those disclosed above, none of the directors
received or will receive any retirement benefits or termination
benefits during the year (2020: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (conTiNuED)

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2020: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

As at 31 December 2021, there are no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors (2020: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year (2020: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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13. DIVIDENDS

during the year:

Final dividend for 2020 of
HK$0.406 (2020: for 2019
of HK$0.348) per share
on 4,810,444,000 (2020:
4,810,444,000) shares

Interim dividend for 2021
of HK$0.25 (2020: 2020
of HK$0.225) per share
on 4,810,444,000 (2020:
4,810,444,000) shares

Dividend proposed after the end of

the reporting year:

Dividend recognised as distribution

Proposed final dividend for 2021 of
HK$0.045 (2020: HK$0.406) per

share (Note)

Note: A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 of
HK$0.045 per share, amounting to a total dividend of HK$216,470,000
is to be proposed at the annual general meeting on 7 June 2022. The
consolidated financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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13. I 2

2021
—E-—£

HK$’000
FET

B 544,81 o 444 ,000/%

(— = —= ﬂf
4,810,444,0000%)
RPN _E_ZTF
%%Héakoqﬁ%ﬁ

TECEF I _E-HE
E:HXO.348/%T|:)
B 544,81 o 444,0008%
(ZE2ZZ=F
4,810,444,0008%)
BRIPEZN_E_—%
FHERIR B & %0.258 7T

“EIEF . CECEF
F10.225% 7T)

1,953,040

3,155,649

& HR0. 045%7_5
(ZE =4 . 0.40687T)
(FF %) 216,470

1,202,609

2020
—ECEF

— ==

HK$’000
THETT

1,674,034

1,082,350
2,756,384

1,953,040

e HEZZ-—F+"A=+—BHLFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. SREF
Basic B
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit ERERBHNEKRABHEE AR
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted R EBRUFEARNBEZEITE BRI
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year BFHH (KR EBELRIEETER
excluding ordinary shares purchased by the Company and MR EBERRERIN 5T -

held as treasury shares.

Profit attributable to owners of the KABHEE AFELFE
Company (HK$’000) (F#&7T) 1,592,752 7,582,668
Weighted average number of B TEHBERAINEFI9H
ordinary shares in issue (F5)
(thousands) 4,810,444 4,810,444
No diluted earnings per share for both 2021 and 2020 were ARAE_E_—FR_EZEFL
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue BEETETEER RELERZZE
for both 2021 and 2020. T FRIZTEFUIEZINEGRK
BERT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At 1 January 2020

Cost

Impairment

Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December
2020

Opening net book amount
Exchange adjustments
Additions

Transfer

Disposals

Impairment

Depreciation charge

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2020

Cost
Impairment
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Buildings
BT
HK$'000
TET
R-E-%%—-HF—H
R 40,422,872
HE (229,238)
LEHTE (14,819,550)
IREFE 25,374,084
HE_T_-EH
+-A=+-H
IEEE
ENREEE 25,374,084
EREE 1,693,259
hE 457,919
a2 2,328,362
HE (106,668)
A (51,186)
&R (1,807,651)
ERREFE 27,888,119
RIEZEE
+=A=+—H
A 45,663,619
HE (210,132)
REHinE (17,565,368)
IREFE 27,888,119

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

Power
generating
plant and
equipment

EEMRRE

HK$'000
TR

157,639,110
(303,338)
(59,902,992)

97,432,780

97,432,780
6,753,321
3,811,641

16,589,434

(498,115)
(50,040)
(9,440,823)

114,598,198

187,389,420
(227,164)
(72,564,058)

114,698,198

15. Y% « B R s

Motor
vehicles,
furniture,

Mining fixtures
structures and others
FERE  REREN

5B R HAt
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR THT

330,304 2,183,016
(305,674) (6,518)
(74,630)  (1,318,291)

= 858,207

- 858,207
- 44,408
- 217,997
- 11,068
- (25,055)
- (272)
- (223,770)

= 882,583

380,304 2,463,625
(305,674) (35,941)
(74,630)  (1,545,101)

= 882,583

Construction
in progress
HRIRE

HK$'000
TET

28,477,880
(1,561,849)

26,916,031

26,916,031
2,002,706
27,868,082
(18,928,864)
(88,827)
(321,209)

37,447,925

38,983,982
(1,536,057)

37,447,925

Total
st

HK$'000
TER

229,103,182
(2,406,617)
(76,115,469)

160,581,102

150,581,102
10,493,694
32,355,639

(718,665)
(422,701)
(11,472,244)

180,816,825

274,880,950
(2,314,968)
(91,749,157)

180,816,825
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. % - BERERE @

(CONTINUED)

Motor

Power vehicles,

generating furniture,

plant and Mining fixtures  Construction
Buildings equipment structures  and others in progress Total
BF ZERRRE FRRE SERA. TRIR Hact
KERHLM
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER THET TER

Year ended 31 December HE_E_—f

2021 +ZA=+-H
LEE
Opening net book amount  E#BRE 3 & 27,888,119 114,598,198 882,583 37,447,925 180,816,825
Exchange adjustments ~ ERBE 821,491 3,756,104 25,469 692,169 5,295,233
Additions RE 344,290 3,007,775 452,695 18,013,673 21,818,433
Transfer =t 1,655,867 29,564,253 34,999  (31,255,119) -
Disposals HE (53) (478,303) (8,991) (35,247) (522,594)
Impairment RE (45,578) (105,415) (727) (27,635) (179,355)
Depreciation charge ERY (1,987,485)  (12,008,113) (279,585) (14,275,183)

Closing net book amount R ERE#{E

At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—-%

+-B=+—-H
Cost A 48,937,844 225,047,195 380,304 2,891,944 26,423,787 303,681,074
Impairment BE (227,257 (221,939) (305,674) (4,135)  (1,588,021)  (2,347,026)
Accumulated depreciation EEHTE (20,033,936)  (86,490,757) (74,630)  (1,781,366) (108,380,689)
Net book amount IRERE 28,676,651 138,334,499 1,106,443 24,835,766 192,953,359
Note: As at 31 December 2021, included in construction in progress are mining Mzt - R E_—F+_BA=+—H FEEIRE
structure amounting to HK$4,561,182,000 (2020: HK$3,988,717,000) IR R R R B (AR IRIE RS &
which are under development and not yet available for use. %8754,561,182,000 BT (CE T £ .
3,988,717,0003 7T) ©
The above items of property, plant and equipment other than FHRERTRUINNYE - BER
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line REBEENR T AFEHRFEHRRNZEE
basis over the following useful lives: BIEIE .
Buildings 18 — 45 years
BF 18F 455
Power generating plant and equipment 15 - 18 years
BER A 15E 184
Mining structures 5 - 20 years
RIEZR 18 5F 204
Motor vehicles, furniture, fixtures and others 3 - 10 years
ABENRAEEREM 3E10E5F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE-Z”—

F+RA=1+—HLFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

During the year, the Group has capitalised borrowing costs
amounting to HK$717,122,000 (2020: HK$808,201,000)
(Note 9) on qualifying assets.

Depreciation charges of HK$14,245,587,000 and
HK$29,596,000(2020: HK$11,423,905,000 and
HK$48,339,000) has been recorded in operating expenses
or capitalised in construction-in-progress, respectively.

As at 31 December 2021, total net book value of property,
plant and equipment pledged as collateral for the Group’s
bank borrowings amounted to HK$3,200,855,000 (2020:
HK$2,141,512,000) (Note 37).

As at 31 December 2021, the ownership certificates of
certain buildings (“Building Ownership Certificates”) of the
Group with an aggregate carrying value of approximately
HK$1,968,348,000 (2020: HK$5,258,969,000) had not
been obtained by the Group. After consultation made with
the Company’s legal counsel, the directors of the Company
consider that there is no legal restriction for the Group to
apply for and obtain the Building Ownership Certificates and
it should not lead to any significant adverse impact on the
operations of the Group.

Additional information on PPE impairment

The management of the Group concluded that there
were impairment indicators and conducted impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment. As at 31
December 2021, management identified property, plant
and equipment of certain thermal power generating plants
with impairment indicators at net book value amounted to
HK$15,025,952,000 (2020: HK$4,637,832,000). As at 31
December 2021, the recoverable amount of property plant
and equipment has been determined based on a value
in use calculation, using cash flow projections covering
a period of operating period with a pre-tax discount rate
ranging from 7.2% to 11.3% (2020: 7.3% to 7.8%). Based
on the result of the assessment, management of the Group
determined that the recoverable amount of the CGUs
are higher than the carrying amount and no impairment
is recognised to those power projects with impairment
indicators for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$322,005,000 has been recognised to those power
projects with impairment indicators).

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 226
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Additional information on PPE impairment (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, impairment
charge amounting to HK$179,355,000 (2020:
HK$422,701,000), out of total HK$179,355,000 (2020:
HK$100,696,000) were related to certain individual assets
planned to be retired or obsolete to follow the change in
technology and regulating environment, and no impairment
charge recognised (2020: HK$322,005,000) was related to
projects with impairment indicators.

The movement on the provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment of the Group by segment is as follows:

Thermal power
segment

KBS

2021

B 5
HK$’000
FET
1,954,756
49,369

170,963
(202,272)

At 1 January ®—BA—H
Exchange differences  FERZ%E
Provision of impairment 8 {& # &
Disposals HE

®W+=ZH=+—H

At 31 December

1,972,816

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

15. E - ERSEE @

ERYME- -BERRERENEE
SMEF @)
BE_2”_— &+ ”-B=+—H
FFEE > REEKXA179,355,000
BT (CZEZEF 422,701,000/
7T)  H&4179,355,0008 7T (Z
T _FHF 1 100,696,000 70) B4
e MkEERIENEESHMTE
WENETENEESR M
EEFNRERR (ZCE_2F
322,005,000 7T) HERMENRDH
IBEE B

FEERDMEDHYE BB K
REREZEBENEEUT -

Renewable energy
segment
AIBAEAER D B

2021 2020

— B “ET°EHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET THET
360,212

2020
BT
HK$’000
T 57T
2,712,291

96,634 10,018 26,600
89,089 8,392 333,612
(943,258) (4,412) -
1,954,756 360,212

374,210
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B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

COST
As at 31 December 2021

Carrying amounts

As at 31 December 2020

Carrying amounts

For the year ended
31 December 2021
Depreciation charge

For the year ended
31 December 2020
Depreciation charge

and low-value leases

Total cash outflow for leases

Additions to right-of-use assets

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

Expense relating to short-term

Leasehold
land
HELH
HK$'000
TET
R
RZEZ-%
+-A=+-H
IREE 4,800,376
RZEZE
+-A=+-A
REE 4,858,209
HE_Z_-E
+ZB=+—HLEE
TERS 214,998
HE_Z_EZE
+ZB=1t—HLEFE
MERX 196,906

BB EERE
BRI

HERRZ ML B
ERESERE

16. (FAHEEE

Power

generating

plant and

Buildings
kS
HK$’000
THT

equipment
BRMRARH
HK$'000
TER

294,770 583,980

410,669 308,444

128,097

159,071 19,265

Year ended
31.12.2021
BE_E_-_—%

+=ZA=+—H
ILEE
HK$’000
FTAET

11,712

149,678

1,184,849

and others

AEREM

Motor

vehicles
Total
Bt
HK$’000
FER

HK$'000
FER

5,679,555

36,217 5,703,539

370,976

851 380,817
Year ended
31.12.2020
BE_T-ZH
+ZB=+—H

IEFE

HK$'000
TET

56,212
268,320

608,628



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (conTINuED)

As at 31 December 2021, land use right certificates (“Land
Certificates”) of certain parcels of land of the Group with
an aggregate carrying value of HK$112,990,000 (2020:
HK$81,200,000) had not been obtained. After consultation
made with the Company’s legal counsel, the directors
consider that there is no legal restriction for the Group to
apply for and obtain the Land Certificates and it should not
lead to any significant adverse impact on the operations of
the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, amortisation
of HK$351,998,000 (2020: HK$288,832,000) and
HK$18,978,000 (2020: HK$91,985,000) has been recorded
in operating expenses or capitalised in construction in
progress, respectively.

The Group leases various buildings, power generating plant
and equipment, land use rights, motor vehicles, furniture,
fixtures, equipment and others. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 1 to 50 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
Leased assets other than leasehold land may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
buildings and motor vehicles. As at 31 December 2021
and 31 December 2020, the portfolio of short-term leases
is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed above.
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16. FAEEEw
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81,200,000 70) c EEEBHA
NEERERE RAXREERE
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AIEARRFIFE-

BE_Z”-_—F+-8B=+—H
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T FHF ;288,832,000 T &
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

17. GOODWILL 17. B &
The movements in the carrying amount of goodwill during FENEEEREAFENEHU
the year are as follows: S :
HK$’000
FET

cosT Wz
At 1 January 2020 N _EEF—F—H 2,654,901
Exchange adjustments P 2R % 58,126
At 31 December 2020 A _EEF+-B=+—H 2,713,027
Exchange adjustments BE 2 SA 19,111
At 31 December 2021 R_2_—%+”"HA=+—H 2,732,138
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES HetAERE
At 1 January 2020 N _ETEF—F—H 1,881,496
Impairment charge EAEECES 82,000
Exchange adjustments P& 2R 4177
At 31 December 2020 S B_EBF+_HA=1T—H 1,967,673
Impairment charge EAEEEES 98,774
Exchange adjustments bE R SR 2,032
At 31 December 2021 R-E_—+”"A=+—H 2,068,479
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 December 2021 N _E_—F+"_H=+—H 663,659
At 31 December 2020 S TEEBEFE+"A=+—H 745,354
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE_ S —F+"_RA=+—HLEE

17. GOODWILL (conTinuED) 17. 52w
Impairment tests for goodwill AR
Goodwill is allocated to the CGUs of the Company’s BEPREEERRAB R PEHAFRE D
subsidiaries within two segments, thermal power and BB B A Bl ME D 2 (K FIEE B R A
renewable energy, in different provinces in the PRC. The BEER ANRESELEM D
carrying amounts of major goodwill allocated to individual FENREELBEMUNFTEBER
CGUs are as follows: ERERIIE

1 January Exchange 31 December
2021 Impairment  adjustments 2021
ZEZ-fF “EZ-F

—R—H i ER#AE +“A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TERT TERT

Year ended HE_Z-_-&
31 December 2021 +ZA=+—H
IHEFE
Thermal power segment KABERE
- Shenyang China Resources e E
Heating Co., Ltd. BRAE
(“Shenyang Heating (FERET
Company”) NSIH)) 98,774 (98,774)
- China Resources (Jiangsu) —E=HEH (15
Investment Co., Ltd. KEARRAE 222,159 230,525
— Xuzhou Huaxin Power —BMESRE
Generation Co., Ltd. BERAF 96,001 - 101,876
~ Other companies —HtAg 317,972 - 320,810
734,906 (98,774) 653,211
Renewable energy segment AEEERER S 10,448 - 10,448
Total Bt 745,354 (98,774) 663,659
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

17. GOODWILL (conTinuED) 17. 52w
Impairment tests for goodwill (Continued) 2R E Al @
1 January Exchange 31 December
2020 Impairment adjustments 2020
_ECEF “TTEF
—B—H BfE ERAZ +_B=1+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TAET TAT TAT TAT
Year ended HE_Z"ZH
31 December 2020 +ZA=+—H
LHEE
Thermal power segment KABERL
- Shenyang Heating Company —EBHRNRE 98,774 - - 98,774
- China Resources (Jiangsu) —E=HEN (15
Investment Co., Ltd. REBRRAHT 193,924 - 28,235 222,159
— Xuzhou Huaxin Power —BMNESEE
Generation Co., Ltd. BRAF 158,177 (82,000) 19,824 96,001
- Other companies —HMAF 312,082 - 5,890 317,972
762,957 (82,000) 53,949 734,906
Renewable energy segment ABRERRD 10,448 - - 10,448
Total 45t 773,405 (82,000) 53,949 745,354
In addition to goodwill above, property, plant and equipment, MREFEMS  RLmEN Y
right-of-use assets that generate cash flows together with (2 BERREB -ELERERENE
the related goodwill are also included in the respective CGUs AREEEREMEETTAZE
for the purpose of impairment assessment. HIREELEE -
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. i 232 i o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. GOODWILL (conTiNuED)

Impairment tests for goodwill (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group performed impairment
test for goodwill based on pre-tax cash flow projection
covering a period of operation period of each of the CGUs.
The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are
generation volumes of thermal and renewable power plants,
coal price and discount rates. The first year cash flow
projection was on the basis of the most recent financial
budgets approved by management, and the 2 to 5 years
cash flow projection derived from the most recent financial
budgets approved by management, while the forecast
beyond 5 years is compiled by extrapolating the projection
based on the financial budget, assuming no sales growth.
The sales growth rates for the first 5 years projection, mainly
contributed by the generation volume and electricity prices
of the power plants. The generation volume of the power
plants are ranging from -10% to 5% (2020: -12% to 4%)
for thermal power segment and ranging from —10% to 25%
(2020: 0% to 20%) for renewable energy segment, which
are based on industry growth forecasts and respective
corporate’s historical performance. The electricity prices of
the power plants are ranging from -15% to 19% (2020: -7%
to 2%) for thermal power segment and ranging from 0 % to
14% (2020: 0% to 9%) for renewable energy segment, which
are based on industry growth forecasts and government
policy. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax
rates ranging from 8.9% to 13.5% (2020: 8.9% to 13.7%)
that reflect current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. Management
believes that any reasonable change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the carrying amounts of the
CGUs to exceed its recoverable amount.

233

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

17. 52w

2R ERE @
N_E_—F+_B=+—H XK
EERBESRSELBEMNMNEESH
REENKIRES R 85
BETHREINR TEEHEEN
BEABRANNIROIBEERESE
BHEEE HEREBE&RBIRER-
HEEERSASEALENRSE
B ZNRITHTBEEEL ™
TEIFRSREEANKEER
Btz REBTEREE > MiEd
AENEADREBEYBFEEEELTE
BmmEE TRRIEHEERE B
AEEINHERNRERTERB
ERNZEEENRBNER BEMR
NBEESAHANNEEFHNF-10%
F5% (CEZEF -12%F4%) &
ABEEERDBNF-10%E25%
TETEEFEI0%E20%) 0 JHE
RITEREEBEAIAAZBEATNERE
RIB-BBHMNENEBR AN
BOENF-15%F19% (ZE =
F-TRE2%) OBEERDS
TFO0 %FE14% (ZEZEF : 0%E
9%) » HERITEE RTER KRBT
KK - BEBMGRARIREENF
8.9%E13.5% (CE_ZF :8.9%F
13.7%) » Jh R BRE R H 35 5 & ¥ EF
%ﬁ@)ﬁ’zﬁ&éi%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ SR
TE EEE)'*ETEEZEH EGEHA

ETEE%?HTH&Z@@%E 0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BE

B F+ZRA=+—HILFE

18. MINING RIGHTS

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. L 234
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At 1 January

Cost B AR
Impairment A
Accumulated amortisation RET#H
Opening net book amount FYREDEE
Exchange differences PERELR
Additions ,/J\E

Closing net book amount FRREFE
At 31 December Kn+ZA=+—H
Cost AR
Impairment B
Accumulated amortisation Rt 8

Net book amount REFEE

Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of the mining
rights using the unit of production method based on the
proved and probable reserves of the coal mines. During the
year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020,
no amortisation has been recorded as the mining rights
are either fully amortised or no exploration activities were
conducted during the year.

As at 31 December 2021, other than those fully amortised
mining rights, the carrying amount represents mining
rights not yet available for use. Management performed an
impairment assessments on the Group’s CGUs of which
mining rights not yet available for use and related mining
structures under construction belong to and there was no
impairment charge being recognised for the year.

18. IR IR

2021 2020
—E-—F _—E=_TF

HK$’000
FET

HK$’000
THETT

5,231,531 1,197,890
(558,983) (680,343)
(207,907) (196,919)

4,464,641 320,628
94,218 82,922
~ 4,061,091
AEEE 4,464,641
5,386,946 [GRIRGLY
(612,452) (558,983)
(215,635) (207,907)
4,464,641

4,558,859

BIEDREBEEENRAREARFE
EREEBMET LR » LUMEE
RERRE - BE_T - —F+=
B=+—BKkZZ-ZF+°-A4
=+—HLEFE ARFERRER
EXHENENTERBIRES
BB A BR A8

R-EZ—&+ZA=+—0 &
2 % 1 T WO IR SN > IR
45 14 R T 48 AR Y SRR R o R
T 1 1% oK BT 6448 AR O SRR R A A
ARREERT BN EE RS E
4 BB I 1T L (BT 1 4 P 3
SBAEFTRE R o




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

19. EXPLORATION AND RESOURCES

RIGHTS

19. BRRhRE

HK$’000

FERT

At 1 January 2020
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2020
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2021

20. DEFERRED TAXATION

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

are as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax assets — net

The gross movement on the deferred income tax is as

follows:

At 1 January
Exchange adjustments

Credited to profit or loss (Note 11)
Disposal of FVOCls

Credited (Charged) to other
comprehensive income

At 31 December

Eﬁﬁ%

R_E-Z2F+”"H=+—H

AR

W2 —%+-"H=+—H
20. iRFEMRIA

Fans

2021
—E-—%F

HK$’000
TET

151,462
9,743

161,205
4,739

165,944

BIEMBEERELERBEGRND

IRILIRIAE E 1,040,784 861,407

FERIBE (R (851,725) (608,780)

FEIEFIEE R ER 689,059 252,627
FRILFTISIBR B VAR B BN T ©

2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FET
252,627

25,211
219,673

n—A—~H
bE SR EE
RAEmARSTA (FEE11)
BREURAREESSEEEH A
Hinir 5 W m i SmMEE
REMGRE WA GHER)

187,180

4,368

w+=ZH=+—H

689,059

263,457
13,990
138,801

(163,621)
252,627
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

20. DEFERRED TAXATION (conTINUED) 20. IREFRIE @)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during UTAFERNIELEFRMEREEREGR
the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of HES > WEst RE—RBEE#E
balances within the same tax jurisdictions, are as follows: & A 4ERRIEES -

Fair value

changes
of FVOCI
N

Retirement  Impairment HEREH

Accrued benefit and  Government AR
expenses  obligations provision grant  EREMER Others Total
Bty #ZERNRE HERER Hr#Y QrEEE Rt s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiEn Fin Fin T T TR

(Note (i)
Deferred tax assets BERBEE (P30
As at 1 January 2020 A\ZEZZE-F—H 189,622 23,253 104,555 186,141 27,589 314,281 845,391
Exchange adjustments ERAE 13,869 788 4,406 16,019 61 1493 36,636
Credlted (charged) to profit orloss ~ FAE&IREFA (115) 29,740 (12,604) (41,289) 72,012 - 568 48,431
Charged to other REMEERRTR
comprehensive income - - - - (25,549) - (25,549)
As at 31 December 2020 RZEZF5+-A=1-H 233,231 11,437 67,676 274,172 2,101 316,292 904,909
Fxchange adjustments ERHZ 33,877
Credited to proft or loss BRI 116,363
Oredited to other REME ARG A

comprehensive income

As at 31 December 2021 AZEZ-E+ZA=1-H

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE_ S —F+"_RA=+—HLEE

20. DEFERRED TAXATION (conTiNuED) 20. IRIEFRIE @)

Distributable

profits of PRC

a subsidiary,

Fairvalue  associates

Fair value Fairvalue  changes of and joint

of prepaid  of property, FVOCI ventures
Difference lease  plantand WARABE HE Accrued

of  payments equpment FEBZH HEAF interest

depreciation B MR BE  HARM BERER Mining income
lfe  EERH  RREN  RAKEN  AECEN fund fezt Others
WEEMEE < QARE  QABE AABEEE  AARNE  GBEE  RIBMA 2t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER T#ER TER Thn TAn Thn TAn Thn

(Note (i) (Note ()
Deferred tax iabities EENEEE GE) (H0)
As at 1 January 2020 R-E-%£-F-H (105,137) (40,024) (B4517)  (142,249) (63,090) @15 (113,068) (63,644 (581,934
Exchange adjustments EREE (4.961) - - 8873 - (14 (5.254) G54 (2646)
Crealited to proft or loss RERRHA 32,081 89 12219 = 4814 = 31,376 9,791 90,370
Charged to other REMSANENR
comprehensive income = = = (138,072) = = = = (138,072)
As at 31 December 2020 RZEZEE
+zB=+-A 1017 (993 @228  (891%4 (8279 P9 @698 7 (652282
Exchange adjusiments ERBE (2,574) (10,211) (2,556) (8,666)
Crealted to proft or loss PERRIA - 103,310
Charged to other REMEEKENER
comprehensive income (6,933) (6,933)
Disposal HE 187,180 187,180
As at 31 December 2021 RIZZ-E
+2A=1-8

Notes:

0] Others represent mainly deductible tax losses, deferred heat supply income 0] HthF 2 IR rHRIN MR8 R M
and depreciation differences generated from commissioning test. WA KA AEENITEER

(ii) Pursuant to certain regulations of the mining industry in the PRC, the Group (ii) IRIEPEIERIETT £ 805 TIRRERR » "5
is required to transfer an amount to a specific reserve and such fund is AR —SREERERA BZFE
not available for distribution to shareholders. Such amounts are deductible AR DK T AR R o AR RS HE B R AT
for tax purposes when they set aside but are expensed for accounting MoBEEHARIIX Rt HZEY
purposes only when they are utilised. Therefore, deferred tax liabilities are R ERBRIEIERIESE
recognised for such temporary differences.

(i)  Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards (iy EEPRMISIHEEEMREGBEREEETU
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future e EMNERAMEBEEN AIESEBER
taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2021, the Group did REVEER IR B IRE BB N T = —
not recognise deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses amounting to FE+ZRA=t+—H BMEEETEND
HK$24,907,472,000 (2020: HK$19,113,374,000) and deductible temporary #24,907,472,0008 TR M B K5I8 (Z
differences amounting to HK$5,320,959,000 (2020: HK$6,020,389,000). TTEF 19,1 13,374,0QO?§7E) T A8
Included in unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2021 are losses of 5,320,959,00078 o8 P 1 B B B = 8 (Z
approximately HK$23,850,622,000 (2020: HK$17,997,530,000) that will %:%ﬂi 1 6,020,389,00078 7o) HesRIEIE
expire within 5 years from the year of origination, in or before 2026 (2020: MEBEE- R _B_—F+_/F=+—
2025). H  RAERRBEEQERRMEELEN

FEESAEERARNR-Z-_AFE (CE
ZEE I ZTRF) RZAFENE
$8#923,850,622,0008 7T (ZZ 24 !

17,997,530,00058 ) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

20. DEFERRED TAXATION (conTINuED)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned a subsidiary
in the PRC with effect from 1 January 2008 onwards. The
directors of the Company consider that the Group has
sufficient funds in overseas companies and therefore the
earnings retained by the certain subsidiaries in the PRC are BB AERENRANEHRRTR
expected to be reinvested in the foreseeable future. Deferred BREMBKE-R_EZENEFEEZ
tax liabilities have not been recognised withholding tax in ET—F(CTEZEF Z_EE)N
respect of the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries FEZSIEF) UERETH
in the PRC amounting to HK$34,595,827,000 (2020: B fff B~ Bl B R BE HAF R FEINR
HK$32,403,358,000) for the years from 2008 to 2021 (2020: 34,595,827,0008 T (ZE_FF :
2008 to 2020). 32,403,358,0007% 7T) FEsRIEIEIRIE

20. IRFEMRIA @

REBETFEEERSRE B-_FF
NE—B—HE sitHBENEBAE
B EX B P B K AY IR B B B T8
R - ARBDEFR R AEER
BINRBEEREES > WIL > &

=RE
21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 21. RS 20 R B
LOANS TO AN ASSOCIATE BE¥EEMN
Interests in associates MRE S ERER

HK$’000
FERT

At 1 January 2020 WZIEZZTH—H—H 8,833,069
Capital contributions to associates S rETE 77,095
Transfer to a joint venture EEREr—Eaghx (22,352)
Disposal of associates (Note) HERE b (D) (854,756)
Share of profits FEAL I S5 B
Dividends iz = (588,076)
Impairment charges EAEEEES (100,000)
Share of other comprehensive expense FELEMEEMAS (61,465)
Share of other equity movement of associates 71y i i 1> 2 B9 EL{th 8 75 B2 &) (20,636)
Exchange adjustments PE 2 5A 2 385,278

At 31 December 2020

Addition arising from loss of control
in a subsidiary

Acquisition of interest in an associate

W-_E2_FF+_"_H=+—H

R 5 & Y B A B By 32 1) 4
MRE

G E A m

8,203,530

9,601
797,394

Capital contributions to associates EHErELS 78,557
Transfer to a joint venture EERr—Eaghx (52,052)
Share of profits FEALF) 241,346
Dividends LIS\ (599,700)
Impairment charges AR EES (154,137)
Share of other comprehensive income EmEMEmEmUEA 57,790

Share of other equity movement of associates

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2021

DG e 1 2R A9 H th 1 o S E
R

RW-E2-_—%+-"H=+—H

(6,803)
184,933

8,760,459

FEBRBMECENKRERASBIE
m2346,821,0008 0 (ZE_EF:
500,958,000 7T) ©

Included in the Group’s cost of investment in associates is
goodwill of HK$346,821,000 (2020: HK$500,958,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE_ S —F+"_RA=+—HLEE

21.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
LOANS TO AN ASSOCIATE (conTiNuED)

Interests in associates (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the
principal associates of the Group, all being accounted for
using equity method, were as follows:

Issued and fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation registered capital

I and paid-up capital
operation 2021 & 2020
stk ZE-4REI%4

Name of associate e BRTHRERE/
I HMESRSRES

21. JAIHE £ B AOAE £ R 1
SrESH@
REETENER @

N\ _E_—F+-BA=+—HEZ
ETEBF+_A=+—H XEH
TEBESTE (BOHBEREZE)

mE:

Percentage of equity interest held

FhNRERDL
2021 2021 2020

5% 8-k “ET%E

China Resources (Xuzhou) Electric Registered and paid-up capital

Power Co., Lid. el RMBS63,110,000
BNERENERAT HRRERES
\E#863,110,0007

Funeng Guizhou Power Corporation  PRC

ik (B) #EERAT e
Jingneng (Xilinguole) Power PRC
Corporation &

R (B XEARAT

Fuyang China Resources Power Go., PRC
Ltd. E
EREFENERAT

Registered and paid-up capital
RMB},300,000,000
ARRETERARN
1,300,000,00070

Registered and paid-up capital
RMB1,916,000,000
ARRETERARN
1,916,000,00070

Registered and paid-up capital
RMB},263,265,000
ARRETERARS
1,263,265,00070

Directly Indirectly Directly

B

49

40

Principal activities
IERH
2020

e

Indirectly
ik
QOperation of a

power station

BELH

- Qperation of a
power station

£

30 Operation of
power station

£

- Qperation of a
power station

£
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

21.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 21. R E ¥ S R Mk
LOANS TO AN ASSOCIATE (conTiNuED) S EEIH @
Interests in associates (Continued) R E T ENEZS @)

Issued and fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation registered capital
and and paid-up capital
operation 2021 & 2020

Ik “E_-ER-ECEE Percentage of equity interest held Principal activities

Name of associate oy BEAHRRS/ FEENRERT IBLH
RELRAE ifETRARES 2021 2021 2020 200
"R TEC-% : k2
Directly Indirectly Indirectly
B 3 ¥ it

Hunan Taohugjiang Nuclear Registered capital Operation of a
Power Co., Ltd. HE RMB1,149,227,000 power station
WEEIREERAR Paic-up capita EEE
RMB1,149,227,000
HRERARK
1,149,227,00070
HEERARH
1,149,227,00070
Jiangsu Zhenjiang Power PRC Registered and = 42,5 Qperation of @
Generation Co., Ltd. HE paid-up capital power station
(“Jiangsu Zhenjiang Power’) RMB1,482,200,000 EER
IERIEE (NIREIEE) ARRSEERARH
EIRAR 1,482,200,0007C
Yangzhou No. 2 Power PRC Registered and 45 - Operation of a
Generation Co., Ltd HE paid-up capital power station
ANEZEEEREMAAT RMB1,692,000,000 EEE
ARRSEERARH
1,692,000,00070
Shanxi Zhonglv China Resources ~ PRC Registered and = 20 Operation of a
Company Limited HE paid-up capital power station
W EREEEERAE RMB1,641,750,000 EESY
ARRSEERARH
1,641,750,00070

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
LOANS TO AN ASSOCIATE (conTiNuED)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Issued and fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation registered capital

and

and paid-up capital
2021 & 2020

ZE-ERCECEE

operation
HRHLE
agny BEAHRRS/

AfETRARES

Name of associate

RELRLE

CEC-F

Gansu Changle Power
Generation Co., Ltd
HEERELREERELAT

Registered capital
RMB2,680,000,000
Paid-up capital
RMBH,362,428,000.00
HRERARE
2,680,000,00070
HEERARH
1,362,428,000.007C

ilET

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired 34%
interest in an associate, Gansu Changle Power Generation Co., Ltd., from
an independent third party for a cash consideration of RMB651,290,000
(equivalent to HK$797,394,000), out of which the Group paid
RMB586,161,000 (equivalent to HK$717,655,000) in relation to these
transactions and the remaining balance of RMB65,129,000 (equivalent to
HK$79,739,000) is included in other payable.

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

21. KBS 1 5 P4 2o Tz e B

SrESH@
REETENER @

Percentage of equity interest held

FAHRER AL
2021

-

Indirectly
i

2021
it

Directly
B

PEE -

Principal activities

TEEH
200

“2°%E

2020

Indirectly
il
- Operation of a

power station
HEE

BE_E_—4H+_A=+—HLEE>
rEBBEBIUSE - AKRERESCET
EERRALEEERSTATNI4%E
@ RHeEREA ARG51,290,0007T (16
E1797,394,000%8 7t) > Hp A EE R
ZER 5T AR 586,161,0007T (16
EM717,655,00087T) » MERFBBARE
65,129,00075 (B E7279,739,00058 7T) 5t
AEH AT TRIE

Annual Report 2021
FIR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 21. R E S E a0 R

LOANS TO AN ASSOCIATE (conTinueDp)

Interests in associates (Continued)

The above table lists the principle associates of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results of the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other associates would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

All above associates are limited liability companies.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group provided guarantees
amounting to HK$389,491,000 (2020: HK$378,367,000)
to secure bank loans of its associates. Note 46 provides
for details about the credit risk arising from the financial
guarantees.

The impairment charge in 2021 of HK$154,137,000 (2020:
HK$100,000,000) and was provided for the Group’s
investment in Yangzhou No. 2 Power Generation Co., Ltd
of which management concluded there were impairment
indications. The concluded impairment assessment on
recoverable amount of interest in Yangzhou No. 2 Power
Generation Co., Ltd. was determined based on value in
use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
covering a period of operation period of the associate with
a pre-tax discount rate is 11.2% as at 31 December 2021
(2020: 13.1%). The first 5 years derived from the most
recent financial budgets, while the forecast beyond 5 years
assuming no growth. Based on the result of the assessment,
management of the Group determined that the recoverable
amount of the CGU is lower than the carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 21, PR B E 1B 52 A0 RE o e IR0 B

% 13 ‘ =

LOANS TO AN ASSOCIATE (conTINUED) SETEESN @

Interests in associates (Continued) REECENED @

Summarised financial information for immaterial FEABETEIHFEEREE

associates

According to the assessment of directors of the Company, BRIBEAXABDEENTGE RIET

as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, no T+ A=+ —HEZE_Z

individual associate is material to the Group’s profit before F+_B=+—H > #EENEKS

tax, therefore, no information on individual associate is CERAEENFRAMNBMS B

disclosed. ZoFAt WERFEENHE b
BB R o

Set out below are the summarised financial information for UTEIEBEREARNAEK

the immaterial associates which are accounted for using the BEPENTBERPE -

equity method.

2021
—E-—F

HK$’000
TRT

The Group’s share of profit NE B (S F)E 241,346 555,373
The Group’s share of other AEE R EM
comprehensive income (loss) 2EWA (EB518) 57,790 (61,465)
The Group’s share of total AEERGEEWALERE
comprehensive income 299,136 493,908
Loans to an associate mBETEER

Current:

Loans ™ 220,772
As at 31 December 2021, loans to an associate are A E_—F+_A=+—H'H
denominated in RMB, unsecured and interest-free (2020 BECEXERUARESE AR
interest rates: 0% to 3.85%). BHREEER (CTEIEF ( FEN

FHR0%ZE3.85%) ©
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, due to W_E - —F+_BA=+—HE_
short-term nature of the loans to an associate, the carrying E-EF+_A=+—H #HRE
amounts approximate the fair values. BEADERNEHME  EEE
HNERERAREE-
s Al I R rt 2021
243 . nnual Repo e




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND 22 R&E¥NEERAS
LOANS TO JOINT VENTURES SEEEM
Interests in joint ventures REETENER
HK$’000
FAET
At 1 January 2020 WZEZZTH—HF—H 5,158,844
Capital contributions to joint ventures mEeEhtETE 652,090
Transfer from an associate B —EBERE 22,352
Share of profits FE (L 7 244,058
Dividends (ii) % (i) (611,466)
Share of other comprehensive income R EMZ2mEmUA 159,727
Exchange adjustments P 2R 153,313
At 31 December 2020 R_E-_EHF+”"HA=+—H 5,778,918
Capital contributions to joint ventures mEeEtETE 357,178
Transfer from an associate B —EBERE 52,052
Disposal (i) H &) (307,385)
Share of losses FE{LES 18 (119,282)
Dividends (ii) RS 8(ii) (106,795)
Share of other comprehensive income EmEMEmEmUBA 43,467
Exchange adjustments bE A EE 62,260
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—%+”"“HA=+—H 5,760,413
i. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the . BE_ZE_—SF+”-B=1+—
Group disposed of interest in a joint venture, Fujian HEFEE AEBHERS
Huian Quanhui Power Generation Co., Ltd., to SrXGERELREZESRS
an independent third party for cash proceeds of REXTLAANERTEIL
RMB302,580,000 (equivalent to HK$368,546,000). The E—H BEMENREAA
Group recognised a gain of HK$61,161,000 in profit or EE#302,580,0007T (HHE R
loss in relation to the transaction. 368,546,000 7T) - ANEE

MZR 78w /RS W m
61,161,000 7T °

i.  During the year ended 31 December 2021, dividends i. BE_ZE_—H+-HA=+—
of GBP9,000,000 (equivalent to HK$96,710,000) (2020: B iF R Summit Plus (B3
GBP15,440,000 (equivalent to HK$157,568,000) was RTIX) REEA#ERT K
declared and paid by Summit Plus (as defined below), Bk {7 % 9,000,000 # (48
from its capital reserve. E1296,710,00087T) (Z&—

T © 15,440,00085E FBER
157,568,000 70) ) ©

B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE_ S —F+"_RA=+—HLEE

22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND 22. R&E80¥ESRAS
1E

LOANS TO JOINT VENTURES (conTINUED) S EET @

Interests in joint ventures (Continued) NEETENED @

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the RIEZ—F+Z“HA=+—HKZ

principal joint ventures of the Group, all of which were E-EF+_"_B=+—H ' KEEH

accounted for using equity method, were as follows: FTEAELE ORARREAR
EWTF .

Place of
incorporation Issued and fully paid
and share capital/

operation registered capital and paid-up capital Percentage of equity interest held Principal activities

SmAT BETHRRA/ AREERARES R ENRERAL TERE

Name of joint venture RiEEHhS 2021 2021 2021 2020
RELEAR ZEI-% 222 IEI-F  IEC-f
Directly Indirectly Indirectly
E# i3 i i3

Resources J Energy Investment Share capital Share capital
Limited (‘Resources J') (note) % US$266,599,544 1S$266,599,544
BRERREERAT (THE) e i
(=) 266,599 544470 266,599,544 %70

Investment holding

RELR

China Resources Power Orient Co.,  HK Share capital Share capital
Limited (‘Orient’) (note) &h US$265,311,808 US$265,311,808
ERENRAERAT (F7)) e i
(=) 265,311,808 7 265,311, 808% 7T

- 66  Investment holding

RELR

China Resources Power (Hezhou) ~ PRC Registered Registered - 66 Operation of a
Co., Limited (‘CR Hezhou') (note)  #E and paid-up and paid-up power station

EREN BN ERAT capital capita HEEH
(=B () RMB1,724,000,000 RMB1,724,000,000

B EIEES HRRMRES
ARE AEH
1,724,000,0007 1,724,000,0007

Summit Plus International Limited UK Share capital Share capital
(‘Summit Plus’) (T Summit Plus)) % (GBP580,000,000 (GBP580,000,000
2 i

580,000,000% % 580,000,000

- 40 Operation of a
power station

BELH

China Resources Power (Jinzhou) ~ PRC Registered Registered
Co., Limited el and paid-up and paid-up
EHEN BN ERAT capital captal
RMB1,314,922,500 RMBT64,922,500

HRRARES HRAEER

AEH AEE

1,314,922,5007 764,922,507

- 50 Operation of a
power station

BELH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND 22 R&E¥NEERAS
o)l ‘ t

LOANS TO JOINT VENTURES (conTinuED) STEERN @

Interests in joint ventures (Continued) MNEETENEDS @

Note: The Group holds 66% of the interests of Resources J. As certain key st AERG A HEo%NEm AT EEH
financial and operating matters should be approved unanimously by the BREERIEASAERREENEAM
board members appointed by both the Group and the other shareholder BRHEBEZENEETFHRE —SLE 7
of Resources J, the directors of the Company consider that Resources J is AEE -RHIEARNDESRALERARE
jointly controlled by the Group and the third party. Orient and CR Hezhou =REERNITEERESIE RS RE
are 100% directly and indirectly held by Resources J, respectively. HEMNNERRES B EREREKRE

A

All the entities above are limited liability companies. B EREABRET AR

According to the assessment of directors of the Company, BRBEAXABDEENIGE RIET

as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, no T F+ZA=t+—"HKRZEZZT

individual joint venture is material to the Group, therefore, no F+ZR=+—H IEBENEGE
information on individual joint venture is disclosed. rEHAERBER FHIL WEE
BENEGELENER -

Set out below are the summarised financial information for UTEHIKBEREARNIEEK

the immaterial joint ventures which are accounted for using BETENTBERHRE -

the equity method.

2021
—E-—F

HK$’000
FET

The Group’s share of (loss) profit NEEEMN (8518) 7B (119,282) 244,058
The Group’s share of other AEBEBHEMEZEEA
comprehensive income 43,467 159,727
The Group’s share of total AEBEGLEZE D)
comprehensive (expense) income N (75,815) 403,785
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. : 246 > -%'_"“;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

22, INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND 22 RS E R EMNEERAE
LOANS TO JOINT VENTURES (conTinueD) BTESH®
Loans to joint ventures REETEER

HK$’000
FET

Current: BNHER :

Loans to joint ventures HEaEtEEMR 262,377 300,080
As at 31 December 2021, loans to joint ventures are N _E_—F+"HB=+—H"H
denominated in RMB, unsecured and bearing interest rates BELEEMRUARESE  BIE
of 4.35% (2020: 4.35% to 4.75%) per annum. HRIGHZEL 35% (ZE _TF .

4.35%F4.75%) st B o
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, due to A _E_—F+“HA=1t—HKZ
short-term nature of the loans to joint ventures, the carrying E-EF+"A=+—H 'BHRME
amounts approximate the fair values. EETENERBREBEEE B

ABENSENEREE.

Annual Report 2021
FIR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME AND LOANS TO A FVOCI
INVESTEE COMPANY

FVOCI

FVOCI represent equity investments in unlisted limited liability
entities registered in the PRC which are not held for trading.
These are strategic investments and the Group considers
this classification to be more relevant. Movement of FVOCI is
disclosed in Note 46¢.

Company A NEA
Company B (Note (a)) REIB (M 5E(a))
Company C ~EC
Company D ~EID
Company E ~EE
Company F (Note (b)) NEIF (MYsE(b))
Others HAh

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, FVOCI are all
denominated in RMB.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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2021
—E—%F

2020

B E|F
HK$’000

FET
537,672

HK$’000
THET
591,015

- 1,266,235
205,689 212,289
111,097 112,305

24,559 30,502

- 34,290

206,622 190,044
1,138,982 2,383,337
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME AND LOANS TO A FVOCI
INVESTEE COMPANY (conTiNuED)

FVOCI (Continued)

Notes:

(@) On 11 May 2021, the Group entered into sales and purchase agreements
to dispose of a 19% interest in Taicang Gangxiexin Power Company
Limited (Taicang Gangxiexin), a financial asset at FVOCI, to an independent
third party at a consideration of RMB1,065,710,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,280,781,000), in exchange of an 40% equity interest in Guoneng
Taicang Power Company Limited (Guoneng Taicang), an associate
valued at RMB1,064,007,000 (equivalent to HK$1,278,734,000) and
a cash consideration of RMB1,703,000 (equivalent to HK$2,047,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the disposal of Taicang
Gangxiexin was completed and the cash consideration of RMB1,703,000
(equivalent to HK$2,047,000) was received. As at 31 December 2021, the
acquisition of Guoneng Taicang has not been completed yet, which was
recognised as prepayments for acquisition of an associate amounting to

RMB1,064,007,000 (equivalent to HK$1,301,376,000).

A cumulative gain on disposal of HK$748,720,000 previously accumulated
in capital reserve has been transferred to retained earnings, and related
deferred tax liability has been transferred out and debited to other

comprehensive income of HK$187,180,000.

(b) In July 2021, the Group derecognised a financial asset at FVOCI, Jiangsu
Shangdian Jiawang Power Generation Company Limited (Jiangsu
Shangdian Jiawang) which was liquidated. A cumulative loss on liquidation
of HK$14,686,000 previously accumulated in capital reserve has been

transferred to retained earnings.

249

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

23. U astfE{EstE B 285t

AR S Kt SRS
ERBUAMEENEE
SE) A B 2 & s
WIRE AT R e

ZEWE @)
P 5E -

(@) AR —FHRA+—BH AEBRFTIL
BEEWH ULEXRBEHELEEER
RE(KEABHE) ULrABESER
BEFAHEMGEERENESHEE) N
19%BEFBIUE=ZF REAARE
1,065,710,0007¢ (B #%1,280,781,000
Bw) O UBRBECEXEENEZE
ERAB (HEXB BEAARE
1,064,007,0007T (HHE741,278,734,000
AT)) H40% KR BERBEBRAARE
1,703,0007¢ (18 & 522,047,000 7T) ° &
EIE-—F+"H=+—HILEE"
EXRNEEREBHE  TWIREA
B AR #1,703,0007t (18 & 542,047,000
BT RBE_—E+-_A=+—8"
A s R SR U B R AE KA SR EE RIS
MABANBEHECERBORBARE
1,064,007,0007% (18 & 741,301,376,0007
JT) °

RARNESHETRINHE Rt &
748,720,000t EEBEREF B M
HREEREABEEHE T B EMES
e 7% 30 187,180,000 7T ©

b) RIZEZ—FtA AZEEBCHRERE
ETBENUAABESEBEZE:FTA
Htirs W amNeMmEE BIHLE
BEIHEERAB CIHLEET))
HHIRBENEEPRINEERSBE
14,686,000 7t E B ERETIH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME AND LOANS TO A FVOCI
INVESTEE COMPANY (conTiNuED)

Loans to a FVOCI investee company

IERE
e

Non-current
Current

As at 31 December 2021, loans to a FVOCI investee
company, are unsecured, denominated in RMB, bearing
interest rate published by the People’s Bank of China. The
loans are repayable in 2022, 2023 and 2024 (2020: 2021,
2022 and 2023) respectively.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the
carrying amounts of loans to a FVOCI investee company
classified as current assets are approximate their fair values,
due to the short-term nature. For the portion of loans to a
FVOCI investee company classified as non-current assets,
the fair values are also not significantly different from their
carrying amounts.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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2021
—E-—F

2020
—EIERF
HK$’000
THT
319,223
181,519

HK$’000
FTHET
91,886

372,107

463,993

450,742
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS

Input value-added-tax (“VAT”) to be  #Ug[olETEE ER

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE_ S —F+"_RA=+—HLEE

24. H{thFEULFRIE R FE (I FRIA

2021 2020
—E-—F

—ETF

=

HK$'000
TET

HK$’000
TET

recovered (MEER]) 4,612,511 4,969,197
Prepayments for acquisition of WEEY 2 R R R
property, plant and equipment BB RIB 5,765,307 4,253,847
Prepayments for acquisition of an W= A BB TFEN RIB
associate (Note 23(a)) (MF5E23(a)) 1,301,376 -
Refundable deposit for acquisition of UK BB IRIEREAY BR[Ol &
mining rights (Note 26(b)) (K3 5E26(0)) 910,731 —
Others Hth 10,722 318,037
12,600,647 9,541,081
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

25. INVENTORIES

Coal 1 R
Spare parts and consumables BEREHRNBEER
Fuel oil and others WA B E At

The impairment charges related to inventories amounting
to HK$628,000 (2020: HK$720,000) has been recorded
in operating expenses. The movement on the provision for
impairment of inventories of the Group is as follows:

At 1 January ®—B—H8

Exchange adjustments PE 0 5l

Impairment charge to profit or loss  F 8% BRINBRAYBE

Utilisation fEF

At 31 December m+ZBA=+—H
China R Power Holdings Co., Ltd. )
ERENERERAD W i

4 T

25. 178

2021 2020
e =

—_—— =

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHR FER
6,011,786 2,220,330

678,979 647,488
57,509 43,691

6,748,274 2,911,509

7 #628,000B T (ZE_FF .
720,000 7T) WEMESNRERE
KERKESLTHAR - XEEBFE
HREREEENT :

2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FHT
10,440

281 744

628 720

(981) (4,403)

10,368 10,440




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. FEURBR 7% « E th FE W sk 18
AND PREPAYMENTS KRFEfIIE

2021
—E-—F

HK$’000
TET

Trade receivables from contracts
with customers

REER B KRR

— Accounts receivable —EURBR TR PLRI YA 19,435,085
- Notes receivable — RN EE 438,236 1,002,828
29,836,142 20,437,913
Less: loss allowance of B EWERFUR B EE
trade receivables (45,068) (75,095)
Trade receivables - net FEURBR TR (B PNV 20,362,818
Input VAT to be recovered and 1 Y Bl 2E TH I (B 17 K
prepayment for income tax FriSiR TR R IR 3,837,202 2,914,938
Prepayments for coal and fuel Y& 5K R AR FE S I8 2,403,764 971,509
Dividends receivable from EWEMATRRKRE
other companies 64,548 &7 7S
Loans to employees mEEEN 1,562 1,472
Consideration receivable for the MEELBAFEESE
Disposal of Shanxi Coal FEWLAE (MP5E(a))
Mining Assets (Note (a)) 84,985 5,029,554
Refundable deposit for acquisition W BB IRERE R AT 4R O]
of mining rights (Note (b)) & (Mi5E(b)) 111,546 993,369
Others (Note (c)) Hith (FFsE(c)) 1,742,625 1,363,772
8,246,232 11,331,987
Less: loss allowance of B EEWEIE R EEE
other receivables (268,749) (266,385)
37,768,557 31,428,420
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE_Z_—F+_RA=+—HLEE

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS (conTiNnuED)

Notes:

() The Group disposed of certain subsidiaries engaging in coal mining
business during the year ended 31 December 2018 (“Disposal of Shanxi
Coal Mining Assets”). On 26 December 2018, the Group entered into an
equity transfer agreement with an independent third party, Guoyuan Shidai
Coal Asset Management Company Limited (“Guoyuan Company”), in
relation to the transfer of its 100% equity interest in China Resources Coal
(Group) Co., Ltd. (“CR Coal”) and all its equity interest in four of the coal
companies under CR Coal (collectively, the “Target Coal Companies”), and
all their respective coal mines, at a consideration of RMB1 (equivalent to
HK$1). On the same date, the Group also entered into a debt restructuring
agreement (the “Debt Restructuring Agreement”) with Guoyuan Company
and agreed that all shareholder loans and accounts receivable in the
total amount of approximately RMB21.9 billion owed by CR Coal and/
or the Target Coal Companies to the Group (the “Target Debt”) shall be
transferred to and assumed by Guoyuan Company for a consideration of
RMB11 billion. Guoyuan Company or its designated entity shall pay the
first installment of RMB6 billion of the Target Debt and pay the remaining
RMBS5 billion and all outstanding interest accrued to the date on which the
consideration is fully paid based on The People’s Bank of China prevailing
benchmark lending rate of the same tenor to the Group before 31 October
2021. In 2018, the Group has received the first installment of RMB6 billion,
and in 2019, the Group has received the second installment of RMB1
billion. According to the Debt Restructuring Agreement, Guoyuan Company
should pay the third installment of RMB1.5 billion before 31 October 2020
and the fourth installment of RMB2.5 billion before 31 October 2021.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, Guoyuan Company agreed
with the Group to defer the third installment of RMB1.5 billion (equivalent
to HK$1.83 billion) to October 2021. The outstanding balance of the third
and fourth installments of RMB4 billion (equivalent to HK$4.88 billion) in
total, was fully settled in October 2021. The remaining balance amounting
to HK$84,985,000 as at 31 December 2021 was the interest receivable
accrued related to the consideration.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 254
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. FEURBR 7% « E th FE W sk 18

=+

AND PREPAYMENTS (conTINUED) BFE{IRIE @

Notes: (Continued) Mk (48

(b)  In January 2008 and December 2011, the Group entered into agreements ) WIZEENFE—BERIZE—F+IH>
with a local government authority in the PRC to acquire the mining 7K £ B 51 R B 75 B A R BT A 1 R
right of a coal mine located in Inner Mongolia at a consideration of MAEBARYS5,782,130,0007t (FHER
RMB5,782,130,000 (equivalents to HK$6,599,087,000). Due to the local 6,599,087,0008 7T) WEEM N AR M —
government’s policy change on resources pricing and the redefinition JEE VST Y ER B A o RS Mt 5 U H ERE
of resources scope, the Group entered into a supplemental agreement BHENRAERENTZETERBE £&
with the local government in November 2019, revising the consideration ER—E2—NF+—BHEHETIHBRRH
to RMB5,504,590,000 (equivalents to HK$6,145,049,000). As at 31 = W RERE R ARS5,504,590,000
December 2019, deposit amounting to RMB1,166,000,000 (equivalent to 7t (B E16,145,049,00057T) - R &
HK$1,301,664,000) which is refundable was paid by the Group. During —NF+ZBA=+—8B c~&EBEEXZH
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group made certain additional AR [E% £ AR %1,166,000,0007t (B E
payments and completed the acquisition of the mining right pursuant to the $£1,301,664,000/87T) - HE_E &
supplemental agreement dated November 2019. As at 31 December 2021, +ZA=+—HUIEEE AEEREBAH
Refundable deposit amounting to HK$111,546,000 will be received within BIE-NEFE+—ANBEHBERELSE
one year, and amounting to HK$910,731,000 will be received after one year TFREIMITR RN ERBEE RS
as assessed by the Group’s management. T F+ZAZ+—H KAEREIERE

sFMh > IR [E#% 111,546,000 7o 7%
—ERUE%910,731,00058 T — &

BUTHER ©
The remaining consideration of RMB4,338,590,000 (equivalent to B T EA R #4,338,590,0007t (FEE R
HK$4,843,385,000 will be paid by instalment during the validity period 4,843,385,00087T) BT —FZF
of the mining right starting from 2021 to 2049. As at date of acquisition, TN FRIREEB WA DA o 10
the fair value of the consideration payable of RMB4,338,590,000 WEBH BYREHNAAEBEAARE
was determined based on the present value of the payment schedule 4,338,590,0007T 5 IR IR R IR VIR
discounted at 4.9% per annum and the amount due for settlement BREF4.9%RNIBEH > Mm12ME 8 B ELE
after 12 months, amounting to approximately RMB2,135,225,000 HHEEEN AR K2,135,225,0007t (HHE
equivalent to HK$2,611,572,000 (2020: RMB2,173,155,000 equivalent to 12,611,572,00087T) (ZEZZF: AR
HK$2,582,056,000), was presented under “Other long-term payables”. #2,173,155,0007¢ (18& 122,582,056,000
7)) RIEMRREMRIEI TES]
()  Others mainly represent the customs deposits for coal import, other () HMEXrEHEEREONSHEREESKE
receivable regarding the daily business activities of the Group. RAEEHE XK SHNEMBINEIE
All the trade and other receivables are denominated in RMB. P B FE IR BR TR A E fth PR W R IE 39 1L
ANERESHE-
The ageing analysis of trade and notes receivables based on e E E H A8 2 B R UK BR R FE LUK
invoice date is as follows: ZERMNRE SO

2021
—E-—%F

HK$’000
FERT
0 - 30 days 0F30H 13,396,411 8,990,210

31 - 60 days 31E60H 1,020,802 1,106,344
Over 60 days 608 L E 15,418,929 10,341,359

29,836,142 20,437,913
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE-Z”—

F+RA=1+—HLFE

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES

AND PREPAYMENTS (conTiNnuED)

As at 31 December 2021, included in trade receivables was
an amount of HK$218,411,000 (2020: HK$311,636,000)
which is due from fellow a subsidiary or associates and is
aged within one year.

The Group’s trade debtors are mainly the local grid
companies arising from sale of thermal power and renewable
energy electricity. The Group generally grants about 60
days’ credit period to customers from the end of the month
in which the sales is made, except for the tariff premium
for renewable energy projects. The collection of such tariff
premium is subject to the allocation of funds by relevant
government authorities to local grid companies, which
consequently takes a relatively longer time for settlement.

In July 2021, the Group entered into a contract with China
Resources Shenguotou Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR Trust”), a fellow
subsidiary and pursuant to which the Group has agreed to
entrust CR Trust with the accounts receivables of renewable
energy segment amounting RMB2,005,349,000 (equivalents
to HK$2,410,048,000) for the purpose of issuance of a debt
financing instrument backed by the cash flow generated
from the accounts receivables. Management of the Group
assessed that, through the contract with CR Trust, the
Group has transferred all the contractual rights to receive the
cash flows and therefore transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the accounts receivables to the
investors. Accordingly, the Group derecognised the related
trade receivables upon completion of the transfer on 19 July
2021.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 256
EHEHNEZERERAT

26. FEURARTR « H{th FEULTRIA

B FE(IFRIE @)

A B —F+_HA=+—HE
WEERBIE—ZERKERNEB A
=) 8 B & A T FIE218,411,0005 7T
(ZE =4 : 311,636,000 7T) °
BRE A — Mo

AEBEWEER IEEF’EHW‘%
EEZH’&TA E A BAEEREE -
AEBBBHRTEEHNG0HBVERER
BH(Q&Hj BERFMRE) (TH
T RERIBENEBHALRN) - BEE
ALY [E] U 7B 18 F 48 B BT 1 A8 15
EMERATDEFEESDENIER
MmE ERNE/REHRE

RN_E_—FtA AEHHERBZ
Bﬁ};//}ji/ﬁ/ .?X{EID-EEBE/Z_A\_J
(Fﬁ;ﬁﬂﬁéﬂ)ﬂim,ﬂ CIEIE ) K
EECERERIBERERDIE
u&E§mAAEm%2,oo5,349,000m (#8
E172,410,048,00058 7T) HE T E
HES UBRTERRETLR HE
WEEREENBEEREXF A&
BEEENG AEEFEBHEE
SN ENEEZWBIREREN
FTE SRR » Bt B SR IR
T EENBAIDER & EHR T
EBHEF AL xEBR T ”"—
FrtHA+ A HEETREBBUHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES

AND PREPAYMENTS (conTiNuED)

On 28 December 2020, the Group entered into a contract
with China Resources Shenguotou Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR
Trust”), a fellow subsidiary and pursuant to which the
Group has agreed to entrust CR Trust with the accounts
receivables of renewable energy segment amounting
RMB1,453,262,000 (equivalents to HK$1,726,708,000)
for the purpose of issuance of a debt financing instrument
backed by the cash flow generated from the accounts
receivables. Management of the Group assessed that,
through the contract with CR Trust, the Group has
transferred all the contractual rights to receive the cash
flows and therefore transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the accounts receivables to CR
Trust. Accordingly, the Group derecognised the related trade
receivables upon completion of the transfer on 28 December
2020.

Pursuant to Caidian [2012] No.102 Notice on the Interim
Measures for Administration of Subsidy Funds for Tariff
Premium of Renewable Energy (RIE4E8ETREE M MNAED
B BEEETIHE) jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance,
the National Development and Reform Commission and the
National Energy Administration in March 2012, standardised
procedures for the settlement of the tariff premium came
into force in 2012 and approvals for the inclusion in a
national register of qualified renewable energy projects
(“Register Inclusion Approval”) on a project by project basis
are required before the allocation of funds to the local grid
companies.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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26. FEURARTR « Hfth R UL TRIA

B FE(TFRIE )

AN _E_EEFE+ B+ /\H>
AEBHERBRNB AR EB R
EZRELERAR (TEBET)
STUEHN B XEEBRER
ABEFERSBHNEWETA
Em1,463,262,0007|:($ﬁaa}5\
1,726,708,000/870) LT EME
B MBTERRE TR REWER
TAEIE@£E§/)|L£§T§°ZK$§
BT AEESEBRAERET
MEHNBEZWNIRERENFAE
BHRER) > B B E R E W AR TNFR
E&W@wmm Kz [0 3% F &
St At KEBR _ZE_-TF
+- B+ N \HEEEHRBEUERE
S0 E BE FE WK BR =X ©

BB BIRERNNEERE
TRERERBIR _F —:E_H

';H\:|—_|—F§'¥E/J<<—_|-Er$ﬁb/ BB
BESEEETIE)NEN (M2

[2012]1025%) > E@TEMﬂJDE'Jm i
- FEBEEELCEARIT B
EERSEHEFABRREGERATE
AEREBEEM (TFASCMIt
) BERNBERINA ZEITE
HMMBH AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. FEUXBR =k « H (th eI ERIE

AND PREPAYMENTS (conTiNuED) R FEfIFRIE @

As at 31 December 2021, certain operating projects of the A _E_—F+"H=+—H"=&

Group have obtained such Register Inclusion Approval for EEETESEBEBEEBIEEE/MA

the tariff premium and certain projects are in the process of NEASLMLE BEEHXDEER

applying. The ageing analysis of trade receivables over 60 BN ERFENBEFR -ZZFBE60H

days excluding those tariff premium receivables is as follows: FEUERIR (FEt R EEREAL) BIERES
DUWT

2021 2020
—E_—F _"ET_EF

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Bi#B60H 608,514 176,029

Over 60 days

Movements on the provision for loss allowance of trade KREBEEWNEDNBEBEEREERENE
receivables of the Group are as follows: BT -

2021 2020
—EZ—F C"ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TFAET
At 1 January ®—B—H 75,095
Impairment losses (reversal of FE W AR FUR B E5 18

impairment losses) on trade CEAEY aFi=t2{E))

receivables 696 (5,056)
Written off B B4 (32,137) (3,625)
Exchange adjustments PE &2 FH 2 1,414 5,589
At 31 December R+-B=+—H 45,068 75,095

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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26. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. FEURBR 7% « E th FE W sk 18

AND PREPAYMENTS (conTiNuED)

Movements on the provision for loss allowance of other
receivables of the Group are as follows:

nr—B—H
18 25 1 13 A 1 )

At 1 January
Reversal of provision for
loss allowance
Written off b6 =]
Exchange adjustments PE 2 A B

R+-B=+—H

At 31 December

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Note 46
provides for details about the calculation of the allowance.

Information about the expected credit loss of trade
receivables, other receivables and the Group’s exposure to
credit risk can be found in Note 46.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of each class of receivables mentioned
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the fair
values of trade and other receivables approximate their
carrying amounts due to the short-term nature.

BRIE(THRIE @

oA 52 [ O TR 1 2 0 R
HEBT :

2021 2020
—E-—%F

it
HK$’000
FH7
265,112

HK$’000
TET
266,385

(546) (472)
(369) 4,712)
3,279 6,457

268,749

266,385

AEBRBEBMB RS ERISE
REMC AT ERMAEEREE L
PREBWERRER 2 MBI EE
o M sT46sr M E BBt E &

B REWERM s M RRIE R A
EREERBNAREHAERERH
BRI EE46.

RRESBHFMFEENEXREER
5 LI R RR A WG IR BV AR EI (B ©
AERTEFEEMERDESE
e

RoF-—fF+ZA=+—HR=
T-TE4+-A=+—0 HRE
FEHAE B 0 U AR B L P R
B AR BEOZR HLREE
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BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

27.

28.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES 27. FEURE B B EFIE

2021
—E-—%F

HK$’000
FHET
EWEES PERE 404,824 115,489

Dividends receivable from associates

Interests receivable from associates ~ FEURER = (B EF 8 - 659
Others Hith 1,509 3,928
406,333 120,076
After the management assesses on the historical credit RNEEEHBETEEEEERET
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the S R E EERS TR E ER
associates, general economic conditions and an assessment KBERREARERREBANER
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well AR 58 B 2R 2R AR Ot 78 R 89 514 7F 2R
as the forecast of future conditions, no loss allowance was B> wHEHERAER R
provided.
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the fair N2 —F+"A=+—HRKZ
values approximate their carrying amounts due to the short- EIZEFF+ZA=1T—H #HREB
term nature. REHMEE 2nBEAFNHEKRE
(=
AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT 28. B EE L ENIA
VENTURES

2021
g%

HK$’000
THET

Current:

Dividend receivable from BEETERE
a joint venture 46,098
Interests receivable from BREETEFR
joint ventures 2,071
Others Hih 14,668
62,837
After the management assesses on the historical credit loss REEEHNBEEEBEBEERET
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the joint Tt e EtERTERE  ER
ventures, general economic conditions and an assessment AR S AT 5 B ¥ &5 B BIRY & Al
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well AR T Be AR 2R AR TR A B9 5T 4 1F H 58
as the forecast of future conditions, no loss allowance was B UWEHERBERME -
provided.
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the fair RIEZ—F+ZHA=+—HKZ
values approximate their carrying amounts due to the short- FDEH_A=+—B > ARE
term nature. REAME AABEANSENERRD
Bo
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. L 260
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. LOANS TO A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER/AMOUNTS DUE FROM
OTHER RELATED COMPANIES

Loans to a non-controlling shareholder

As at 31 December 2021, loans to a non-controlling
shareholder are Nil. As at 31 December 2020, loans to a
non-controlling shareholder are unsecured, denominated
in RMB, with an interest rate of 4.9% per annum. As at 31
December 2020, the loans to a non-controlling shareholder
are for the non-current portion, for which the fair value are
not significantly different from their carrying amounts.

Amounts due from other related companies

IEE ZHHRE -

Non-trading related:
Amounts due from non-controlling

FE U SRl AR SRR IR

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

29. RIEIERR AR R E ™R FEUR
H{thFRE QB IE

BEIZEE T ESIEN

A B —EF+-A=+—H8'MA
EERKRRERAZT - RZTE
F+"RA=+—H BIFEERKE
EXAEIRF -UAREE U
A9%NEFHERFE - RIEZETHF
+-_B=+—HB ' HFEERKEE
RAI RS AABEHER
HETEAREER

P& W EL {th B 2 2 B 7R 1H

2021
—E-—%F

2020
—ECEF

—_— =

HK$'000
TET

HK$’000
FERT

shareholders 26,235 9,446
Amount due from a fellow A EEN S NGRS
subsidiary 30,726 22,307
Amounts due from a FVOCI WU~ R EBETTEEESFH T
investee company AHMGERZHNHEEER
EE/RE 119,612 94,488
126,241

The amounts due from other related parties of the Group are
unsecured, denominated in RMB, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the
fair values of the amounts due from other related parties
approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term
nature.

176,573

& W 7 5 B ELAth B Bk 75 "R 7 SR IR
M MARBSHE - RERARER
RF (B2 ©

RoBZ—F+-B=+—AR=
ToREL_A=+—8 aRNE
& 91 B 0 8 U EL 1t B O B Y
ARBENZREREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

30. PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2021, deposits amounting to
HK$86,100,000 (2020: HK$262,305,000) had been pledged
to secure bank acceptance bills. Deposits amounting to
HK$66,719,000 (2020: HK$37,782,000) were restricted
for environmental protection and industry transformation
compliance purpose with the approval of certain
governments.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the
pledged and restricted bank deposits are all denominated in
RMB and the fair values approximate their carrying amounts.

31. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand RITAFHEIRE

The cash and cash equivalents of the Group are
denominated in the following currencies:

RMB

HK Dollars BT

US Dollars ETT

Others Hith
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. - 262
EHEHZERBRAR -

30. B4R R Z PRHIIRITTFRR

WRZE-_—F+"8A=+—8"
A 886,100,000 T (ZE_E
£ 1 262,305,00087T) WEFEFTLK
ERFE UERIEBTEARESERK A
#66,719,0008 T (ZE_FF :
37,782,000/ 7T) MF A& E T BT
HERBHIFRIEREREXSL
AEFREMN A

A _E_—F+“HA=1+—HKZ
E_EF+_B=+—H> Bk
KRZRERITEREIHUAREST
B AABENSENHIKRAEE.

RERBEEFEY

2021 2020
B _—ZET-FTHF

HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET
7,934,211 5,036,484

FEENRERREZEYUNT
HHEEHE -

2021 2020
—E-—& "Z-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT TET
kPl 4,505,291
106,227 116,587
3,791 414,596

967 10

7,934,211 5,036,484




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

32. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 32. FE{d B8Rk « HthfE{Isk1a
ACCRUALS REAER

2021
—E-—F

HK$’000

FET
Trade payables AT BR =X 11,193,484 9,127,741
Other payables Hth & I8 PP YRR 24 459,112

KZR KLY 33,586,853

Ageing analysis of trade payables by invoice date is as BEZHHE D ENERANVERE D
follows: AT

2021

—E-—%F

HK$’000

FET
0 to 30 days 0E30H 5,168,345 4,092,339
31 to 90 days 31Z290H 2,879,972 3,392,367
Over 90 days 90H ML E 3,145,167 1,643,035

11,193,484 9,127,741

The average credit term for purchase of goods is 90 days. BEEYHNTEHEERRAH-
Other payables include: HEARIEEE !

2021 2020
ZEZI—F CEE=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHBT

Payables in respect of purchase of HBRIESIEREFEE

non-current assets BE B WK PLE 19,767,461
Accrued wages Estine 2,293,318 1,751,755
Other tax payables HhEARIE 1,283,953 1,220,597
Compensation for demolition FEBAEE 566,149 —
Interests payable FERHIE 393,607 450,914
Retirement and other long-term BAREEMERETEF

employee benefits obligations s (BYEE40 (iii)

(Note 40 (i) 59,735 73,420
Others Hith 988,202 1,194,965

22,942,990 24,459,112
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BE

32. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND

33.

34.

B F+ZRA=+—HILFE

ACCRUALS (conTiNUED)

Other payables are unsecured,

demand and mainly denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the fair
values of trade and other payables of the Group approximate

interest-free, repayable on

their carrying amounts due to the short-term nature.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Non-current
Current

As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to

HK$1,741,591,000.

Majority of contract liabilities are from heat supplies
customers which are usually transferred into revenue within

one year.

AMOUNTS DUE TO ASSOCIATES

As at 31 December 2021,

denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the fair
values approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-

term nature.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

except for deposits amounting
to HK$771,241,000 (2020: HK$1,066,624,000) which are
market-rate-interest bearing, the remaining carrying amounts
due to associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand. The amounts due to associates are mainly

32. FE{IARTR « HAth B {HTRIA

33.

34

RESTER @

HthEAREAEER REREA
RERFEE TTEUARET
(EE

RIZE_—F+"RB=+—BKk=
ERFE+_A=+T—H BRE
GHME  AEBRBIERRREM
BNMENAABENSNERE
Be

AR

2021
—E-—%F

HK$’000
FERT

858,566
1,481,794

421,748
1,720,182

2,340,360

2,141,930

N —_E_EFE—HB—H > &a8816
A1,741,591,0005 7T ©

ABHERAEMEEELRES > —
AR — 4 P8R A L3 o

FE(S kS B SR FRIA

RZE_—F+"_FB=+—H"k
B&771,241,0008 0 (CE -_FF:
1,066,624,00077T0) 5 E 5t
B ENHME NG TIREES
EIEHF - RERBRERKEE-
EABMECERBEBFEYUARKS]
fEo

AA —

T2 —F+RB=+—HBKk=
ERFE+_A=+—H BB
REME ARBENFRAEKE
B



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

35. AMOUNTS DUE TO JOINT VENTURES 35. [E{daE T EMNIE

As at 31 December 2021, except for deposits amounting RIEZ—F+ZH=+—H" K
to HK$445,623,000 (2020: HK$579,515,000) which are ¥ %445,623,0008 T (CE _FF:
market-rate-interest bearing, the remaining carrying amounts 579,515,000 7t) # M IBFI X B
due to joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free, repayable o BRTRENEECXEREAR
on demand and are denominated in RMB. B R EREARERFEEREILNY

ARET|E -
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the fair N_E - —F+_-"HBA=+—HK_
values approximate their carrying amounts due to the short- E-EF+"_BA=+—H HRE
term nature. RHME ABENERHIKRE
Fo

36. AMOUNTS DUE TO OTHER RELATED
COMPANIES

36. E{F H {thERE A EIFRIA

2021
—E-—F

HK$’000
FAET

e

Loan from an intermediate KE—BEPEZERATNER

holding company 6,251,763 5,951,763
Amounts due to non-controlling FEAT IEYEBR AR R RN I8

shareholders 829,989 239,068
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  FEME RN B A S HRIE 26,373 3,704
Amount due to an intermediate FEfS — R P R A B AU

holding company 283,589 263,481

6,458,016

The loans from China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited (“CRH”), an intermediate holding company,
amounting to HK$6,251,763,000 (2020: HK$5,951,763,000)
as at 31 December 2021 is unsecured, bearing an interest
rate based on benchmark lending rate of HIBOR rate and
repayable within a year. Other carrying amounts of amounts
due to other related companies are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand. They are mainly denominated in
RMB and HKD.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the
fair values of amounts due to other related companies
approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term
nature.

7,391,714

A B —-F+-_R=+—0H"
KEFPREERATER (£8)
BERABD (TEBER)) WEX
6,251,763,0008 7T (CE _TF !
5,951,763,000/8 70) & EIKIF g &
REBRTREREEEERF X
MAIRSERBER—EREE-H
HEMEMBEE AR IENREE
AEEE B RARERRER-
ZERBITEUARBEEBETY
ER

R _EB_—F+”°-A=+—HRKZ
BE_RFE+_A=+—H BARE
FHAMEE ) B A MBE AR RIA
MARBEASHAEREE.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

37. BORROWINGS 37. 85

2021
—E-—%F

HK$’000
TET

JEEPHA

Non-current

Bank loans BITEMR
- Secured —F R 2,536,024 2,367,163
— Unsecured — KR CERI LI 71,662,836
Corporate bonds and notes (Notes) ‘ASfEHKZ#H (i) 3,669,270 8,079,488
DLRETIMATER 82,109,487

Current B HA

Bank loans BITEMR
— Secured —F R 400,798 324,671
- Unsecured —RAR R CEIERENN 13,802,317
Corporate bonds and notes (Notes) ATIMEH K Z#H (i) 5,870,832 5,940,800
23,185,760 20,157,788
Total borrowings EE4#%R A PL R LRI 102,267,275

The bank loans of the Group were secured by: AEBNRITERUTIIEB FIL

N

2021 2020
ZEZ-F CEZEF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

F#ET FET

BFRHRE (MEE15) 3,200,855 2,141,512

Buildings and equipment (Note 15)

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF
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37. BORROWINGS (conTiNUED) 37. 68 @

The bank borrowings were repayable as follows: IRTTE BRI THEEE .

2021 2020
B T FTHF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Within 1 year —F£RN 17,314,928 14,216,988
More than 1 year and within 2 years BB —F BN BEME 31,608,528 5,588,716

More than 2 year and within 5 years B@mEB BB LE PIRRR KM 35,615,084
Over 5 years iBidHF (R PLIPIE S 32,826,199

118,955,837 88,246,987

The corporate bonds and notes were repayable as follows: NEMESFAEEZT THRBER !

2021

—E-—%F

HK$’000

FET
Within 1 year — &R 5,870,832 5,940,800
More than 1 year and within 2 years 88— F{E RN BEME 2,446,180 5,703,168
More than 2 year and within 5 years B@mEB I BIELE 1,223,090 2,376,320

9,540,102 14,020,288

As at 31 December 2021, the fair values of bank loans R ZEZ—F+ZH=+—H" R
approximate their carrying amounts. The fair values are TERNAREBEEHEKREENE
based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on o NABEREGEREFTRHARIE
benchmark lending rate of the People’s Bank of China or TEEERM XY MBAFEZEFER
LIBOR rate. HNREREtHE

The fair values of the corporate bonds at 31 December NBEEHFEFR _E_—F+ =
2021 were HK$8,754,878,000 (2020: HK$12,805,988,000). A=Zz+—-—HHN22BEA
The fair value measurement with a principal amount of 8,754,878,0008 T (ZE T F !
RMB7,800,000,000 (2020: RMB11,800,000,000) corporate 12,805,988,000/87T) c AT A AR
bonds are categorised within level 1 of the fair value #&7,800,000,00070 (ZZEZZEF . A
hierarchy as they are listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange E#11,800,000,0007t) A BES
and Shenzhen Stock Exchange. NARBEFEDEALANEEGRE

BOE—R RASBERATRS
IR EBRFR T RRYIESFR
SR L

Annual Report 2021
FIR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BEZ_—F+A=+—HILFE
37. BORROWINGS (conTiNUED) 37. 88 @
The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in EENREEUAN TE®YE

the following currencies:

2021 2020

— - —E-84f&

—_— —

— ==

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET TET
RVB HUIALLRZPE 82,894,821

HK Dollar BT 19,894,265 17,896,116
GBP FiE 1,354,005 1,439,519
EUR BT 11,699 13,233
US Dollar E7T 80,728 23,586

PR CReRIl 102,267,275

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had the following N ZE—F+ZHA=+—H'XK
undrawn borrowing facilities: EEXRFANEREELT -

2021

—E-—%

HK$’000

FAET
Expiring within one year —FAEH P RYKE 87,202,992
Expiring beyond one year — £ & EHA (YK 102,056,666

CRRCYA IR 189,259,658

During the year ended 31 December 2021, bank borrowings BHE_ T —F#+"H=+—HIt
carry average interest rate at 3.38% (2020: 3.87%) per FEIRITEEUFHERNZEI.38E
annum. (ZZ2ZZF  3.87E) stEo

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. - L, 268
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. BORROWINGS (conTiNUED)

Notes:

M

In June 2016, CR Power Investment issued corporate bonds with
a principal amount of RMB5,000,000,000 (2020 equivalent to
HK$5,940,800,000), bearing an interest rate of 3.49% per annum and
will mature in June 2023 (“Bonds I”). At the end of the fifth year from the
issue of Bond I, CR Power Investment has the right to exercise the issuer
repurchase option and adjust the coupon rate (“New Coupon rate”) and
holders of Bond | have the right to sell the Bond | held by them, in whole or
partially, to CR Power Investment at a consideration equivalent to the face
value of the Bond | within 5 business days after the announcement of the
New Coupon Rate.

In June 2021, the CR Power Investment exercised the issuer repurchase
option to redeem Bond | held by bondholders.

In March 2019, CR Power Investment issued corporate bonds
with a principal amount of RMB3,000,000,000 (2021 equivalent to
HK$3,669,270,000; 2020 equivalent to HK$3,564,480,000), bearing an
interest rate of 3.65% per annum and will mature in March 2022 (“Bonds
II"). The Bonds Il were listed in Shanghai Stock Exchange.

In August 2019, CR Power Investment issued corporate bonds
with a principal amount of RMB1,800,000,000 (2021 equivalent to
HK$2,201,562,000; 2020 equivalent to HK$2,138,688,000), bearing an
interest rate of 3.40% per annum and will mature in August 2022 (“Bonds
l1I"). The Bonds Il were listed in Shanghai Stock Exchange.

The September 2020, CR Power Investment issued corporate bonds
with a principal amount of RMB2,000,000,000 (2021 equivalent to
HK$2,446,180,000; 2020 equivalent to HK$2,376,320,000), bearing an
interest rate of 3.19% per annum and will mature in September 2023
(“Bonds IV”). The Bonds IV were listed in Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

In May 2021, CR Power Investment issued corporate bonds with a principal
amount of RMB1,000,000,000 (2021 equivalent to HK$1,223,090,000),
bearing an interest rate of 3.6% per annum and will mature in May 2026
(“Bonds V"). The Bonds V were listed in Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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37. 88w

G

M

R CE—RENA ERENRERT
A& FEA AR 1ES5,000,000,0007 (ZZT
T HEEH25,940,800,0005 7T) HUA T &
HH MEFNK349% T BN S -=
FERAEE (MEH) - REHIZITER
FRER EHENREBRTIEETA
%@ﬁE&&ﬁImﬁﬂIU%ﬁﬁﬂ

X)) MESFEABERAGHZEH
%%ﬁmM¥EW LSRN ESIEEN
REAEHENREHERSEFENS
Rk ZB D ES o

REZZFZ—FXA EFENRETEHR
TABEEER BLIESRHBEARARN
SR ESF

ATE—NE= H’ﬁifﬁfﬁﬁ&ﬁ?{ﬁzﬁ
#3824 AR %3,000,000,0007t (Z —
ﬁﬁ*‘ﬁAa,seg,z?o,oooP%m 5 _g_%i
B E13,564,480,00078 7T) HABES
BERH3.65% 5 BA R —F = _fE:
BEIH (&5 ~BHFIR SRS S
FrEme

RIZ—AENA EBHE &éﬁé’fﬁz&
£ %84 AR %1,800,000,0007% (Z— —
FERE?2,201,562,0005 7T ; _g_%i
*ﬁ“#2,138,688,000/ﬁn) HABRES
R H3.40% 5T BAL T —fﬁ/\
BEIE (TMEFHI) - BHINR LBESHR
S ke

RIZEZEFNA ’Eﬂfﬁﬁ&éﬁ’fﬁﬁ&
£ 3EA AR %2,000,000,0007t (Z —
FEARE12,446,180,00078 7T ; _g_%i
B E12,376,320,0008 7T) WABES
BEMNEKI19%:tBLRN S _=ZFH
BRI (MEHIV]) - EBHFIVINERIIES R
S ke

e | ’Eﬂ%ﬁ&ﬁé’fﬁzﬁ
£ %84 AR %1,000,000,0007 (Z =
E*E“EH 223,090,000 7T) Eﬁ“ﬂa
% HRERNH3.6%s BIARIK Z T NE
BRI (MEHVY) - EBHVRRIIESHRZ
%Fﬁﬁﬁo
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

38. LEASE LIABILITIES 38.fHEAE

2021
—E-—%F

HK$’000
TET

Lease liabilities payable:

SRR EAY

HESE:
Within 1 year — R 114,999 183,165
Within a period of more than BiB—FERBAMmE
1 year and within 2 years 69,079 196,377
Within a period of more than BEmEBrBRASE
2 year and within 5 years 794,162 695,668
978,240 1,075,210
Less: Amount due for settlement B REaE rNEn
with 12 months shown under 12E NEEE
current liabilities BIFRIB (114,999) (183,165)
Amount due for settlement after RIERBEE 2710
12 months shown under 1218 B BB ERRIE
non-current liabilities 863,241 892,045
39. DEFERRED INCOME 39. i&%ﬂl&)&
Deferred income represents subsidies granted by certain i SE WX A 8 B T P B B AT R PT g
PRC governmental departments related to assets. As at ﬁﬂZ MNEEEHEBNBM N ZZ
31 December 2021, government grants of HK$59,184,000 T —F+ZA=+—H HBKNE#A
(2020: HK$56,657,000) was amortised to the consolidated 859,184,000 &t (ZEZEF !
statement of profit or loss (Note 7). 56,657,000/ ) EB&HiEmkT

#iy (fHaE7) ©

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. RETIREMENT AND OTHER LONG-TERM
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS

The Group has various retirement benefit schemes, including
PRC retirement benefit scheme and Hong Kong retirement
benefit schemes, and termination benefit schemes as
following:

i)

Retirement benefit scheme — PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members
of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the respective local government in the PRC. The
Group is required to contribute a specified percentage
of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to these
schemes is to make the specified contributions.

In 2019, the Group set up a defined contribution
retirement scheme for all qualified employees
(“Corporate Annuity Plan”). They usually need to service
over one year in the Group to be qualified. The Group
contribute 5% of the salary of participating employee to
the scheme each year.

Retirement benefit scheme - Hong Kong

The Group operates various defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all Hong
Kong employees. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The amount of contributions is
based on a specified percentage of the basic salary of
employees and any forfeited contributions in respect of
unvested benefits of staff leavers are used to reduce
the Group’s contributions.
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40. B A R Efth =R (B S EF
%1%

AEERESARES @AM 8
OETEEESRAHBREEE
£ 58RI 58] LUR A UL A8 F)
SHEIF :

i)

BEEEMEE —FE

AEETEESZ R T EE
Bt B EENEREEREE
EERAMFEHME - xEE
AR st L 2R AN E
B HRUZ SRR - K&
Bz Est 8 NE—SERF
R RE R ©

RIE-NF AEEERFR
BEREERITERHINER
Retd ((REFEEHE) o6
E—WRARAEBERFBR—
FEONEEHER -TEEE
FR2HEAINETFHEE
I E#H 25%RI R o

EETRAE-FE

rEERBEZEHEBRER
B2 EFRMBETRRKEE -
ZEFE2EERAERSE
ENHEE THBIEEZ
EERFAE -HRBLHREREE
BEAHEZREADLSE
MERE TEREAZMEMR
Wt BB LUBHE A £ E 2 f#
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o

Annual Report 2021
FIR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

40. RETIREMENT AND OTHER LONG-TERM 40. B KR EMEHESEF
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS (conminueD)

(iii) Termination benefit

(@)

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

For certain selected employees of China
Resources Power Hunan Liyujiang Co., Ltd.,
Shenyang Power Company, and Hunan China
Resources Coal Mining Company Limited
employed by the vendors of the businesses
as at respective acquisition dates (the “Pre-
acquisition Employees”), the Group has offered
early retirement packages to those who met
certain specified criteria and accepted voluntary
redundancy. Such arrangement required specific
approval granted by management of the Group.
The Group is obliged to pay such termination
benefits to those early retired employees (i.e.
retired before their statutory retirement age), who
had been working for more than 30 years or in
accordance with the respective entities’ early
retirement policy. These early retired employees
are entitled to certain monthly benefits up to their
statutory retirement age.

These obligations were provided for by the Group
at the present value of the total expected benefit
payments. Where the obligation does not fall due
within twelve months, the obligation payable has
been discounted using a pre-tax rate that reflects
management’s current market assessment of
the time value of money and risk specific to the
obligation (the discount rate was determined with
reference to market yields at the balance sheet
date on treasury bonds in the PRC).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

40. RETIREMENT AND OTHER LONG-TERM 40. R KREMEIESEF
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS (conTiNueD)

(iii) Termination benefit (Continued)

(b)

In 2021 and 2020, certain coal mining entities
closed down coal mines and offered a termination
benefit package to their employees. These
obligations were provided for by the Group at
the present value of the total expected benefit
payments. Where the obligation does not fall due
within twelve months, the obligation payable has
been discounted using a pre-tax rate that reflects
management’s current market assessment of
the time value of money and risk specific to the
obligation (the discount rate was determined with
reference to market yields at the statement of
financial position date on treasury bonds in the
PRC).

(iv) Defined benefit plan

The Group sponsors a funded defined benefit plan for
qualifying employees of its subsidiaries in PRC. Under
the plan, the employees are entitled to post-retirement
yearly instalments. The plan in PRC exposes the Group
to actuarial risks such as interest rate risk, longevity risk
and salary risk.

The risk relating to benefits to be paid to the
dependents of plan members (widow and orphan
benefits) is re-insured by an external insurance
company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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40. RETIREMENT AND OTHER LONG-TERM 40. Efh KR E{thEHIESEGEF
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS (coNTiNUED) EEw

(iv) Defined benefit plan (Continued)

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

(iv) REZHstE @

3 98 10 55 1 8 4R A1t EL B 4K
waF o

No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these
employees.
The most recent valuation of the present value of BREXmETRENTAHMG
the defined benefit obligation were carried out at 25 BENHARFPENEERIRDN
February 2022 by Haichuan Wu, who is a member of RE)I (EEZBEEM - ZEE
Fellow of the Society of Actuaries, Towers Watson in B2 E2g28 - EHBEEE
PRC (FSA, MAAA, FCAA, CERA). The present value of BT EREIHEN R
the defined benefit obligation, and the related current _TE_B_+HBAMEEH
service cost and past service cost, were measured BEEILEEZREMZEEBR K
using the Projected Unit Credit Method. ExmBEFRE BEARKRR
B A BB AR TS A A Th $% A
FEFTEAER A E

MBEBEGEEFRMRANEZRRR
mr

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the
actuarial valuations were as follows:

Valuation at

RUTEMNEE

2020
it d ¥2

3.5%

Discount rates ALIR X

Annual withdrawal rate FRER = 0%
Annual increase rate of BEMHEETENE

transitional pension benefit R 5%
Annual increase rate of BB EENFERE

supplemental medical benefits 6%

ETXDBBEERRZ — &K F
ERBEFEFLETXEE FE
ABRBELEREGR (TF
—BFE_F—=%) —CL5/
CL6e

Mortality rates are one of the actuarial assumptions.
Current and previous year mortality rates are taken from
China Life Insurance Mortality Table (2010-2013) —
CL5/CL6.
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40. RETIREMENT AND OTHER LONG-TERM 40. Bk R EMERESEH

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS (conTinueD)

(iv) Defined benefit plan (Continued)

Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in
respect of the defined benefit plan are as follows:

ARFE AL

Service cost:

Current service cost IREFARFE AL A
Past service cost and loss
from settlements
Net interest expense A EFRZFRE

Defined benefit cost recognized NEAB R E R R

in profit or loss for the current R E X m A A

period

There is no relevant defined benefit asset in the group’s
defined benefit plan. The current service cost and
the net interest expense for the year are included in
the employee benefits expenses in profit or loss. The
remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability is
included in other comprehensive income.

BERBS A KRG E R

@

REZmTE @

MREZmstBNEEWmE
OB ERRAT -

Valuation at
RUTEMRNKE
2021 2020

—EZ—F _"ZT°FTHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT

2,747 699,923

(4,428) =
23,858 =

22,177 699,923

AEEBRE R m st 8 1 FAE
FREXMEE - FRNREF
AR A A R M B RSB BRET A
BamEERAMXA B
SFTEREXmABRFHESAR

fth 2 mE W
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

40. RETIREMENT AND OTHER LONG-TERM 40. Bk KR EMERESEH

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS (conminueD) HBIE @

(iv) Defined benefit plan (Continued) (iv) SREZ@sTE @
Movements in the present value of the defined benefit AEERESmESTRENE
obligations in the current year were as follows: FFERAOT

2021 2020
B85 —ZTFTHF

HK$’000 HK$'000
TET THET

Opening defined benefit obligation E4JRE Xt = 1 699,923
Benefits paid during the year FABEZNEF (33,202) -
Defined benefit cost recognized in ~ FRIERERNRER @A
profit or loss 22177 699,923
Defined benefit cost recognized in R EMEE N ERIRE
other comprehensive income @A 27,639 —
Closing defined benefit plan FRZEZmetEIEE
obligation 716,537 699,923
Defined Benefit Plan Obligation DBO sensitivity analysis HERBEINREZmTE&
on key assumptions: B E AT -

Change in DBO
RER@HETEE
2021 2020
— B —F "ZTEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TET

0.25% increase in discount rate ARIRE FF0.25% (27,146)
0.25% decrease in discount rate ARIRZE T F£0.25% 28,699 25,617
China Life Insurance Mortality R ASREELRERR

Table (2010-2013) (CE—ZEHEEZZT—=

- CL5/CL6 Up 1 Years ) —CL5/CLeRI#HE—F (35,638) (31,878)
China Life Insurance Mortality A SREELERE S

Table (2010-2013) (CE—ZEHEEZZT—=

— CL5/CL6 Down 1 Years ) —CL5/CL6%B—4& 35,454 31,724
1% increase in annual increase BEUHEETENFIEREX

rate of transitional pension EFA1%

benefit 2,975 2,661
1% decrease in annual increase BEUHEETENFIEREX

rate of transitional pension TF&E1%

benefit (2,467) (2,210)
1% increase in annual increase BRBEEHNFIERE

rate of supplemental medical EFA1%

benefits 68,251 61,060
1% decrease in annual increase BRBEEHNFIERE

rate of supplemental medical TPE1%

benefits (54,721) (48,952)

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. SHARE CAPITAL
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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41. gz

Ordinary shares, issued and fuly Z@R BETRERE :

At 1 January 2020, 31 December

paid:

2020 and 31 December 2021

RTEZFEE—HA—HB-
—ERCRE+A=+T—AK

B4+ _HA=+—H

42. OTHER RESERVES

Nature of the component in other reserves are set out as
below:

(@)

General reserve comprises statutory surplus reserves,
enterprise expansion funds and reserve funds of a
subsidiary in the PRC. Pursuant to the provisions of
their respective Articles of Association, certain of the
Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC shall
make appropriation from their profit after tax to the
general reserves. The general reserves shall be used for
making up losses and capitalisation into capital of the
respective subsidiaries.

Special reserves of the Group represent the difference
between the nominal amount of the share capital
issued by the Company and the nominal amount of the
share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a
group reorganisation for the purpose of the preparation
of the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange.

Share
capital

g as

Number
of shares

RIPEE

HK$’000
FERT

4,810,444,000 22,316,710

42. H{th{# &

(@)

Hf@mAMRE o MEEH N
T

—REHEEFRURTPENE R
BIREERGHE CEERE
BEER#EHES RERES
BAEBRSEMANEX &Q
BIATRIPEMNE AR
e BR AR R A D B E — AR
e —MEFBERTBIFIRERRH
B ABNBIERETRESR

FEENFHREBRREEAATE
BTRAEEEARBEASHES
AB AR M SIPR T
WEBSEHEBANKE QSR
AEEBEZEELE.
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42. OTHER RESERVES (conTinuED)

The movement of the capital reserve is as follows:

Opening balance at 1 January

Currency translation differences

Fair value change on equity
investments at FVOCI, net of tax

42. Hithf#E @
AR RENRBIT :

2021 2020
B _—ZET-FTHF

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
1,308,648 881,504
19,477 -

R—H—BE 4R

b £ TR

NURnEEstEBEH5
AHMER S W m A o

REANBEES RE) (37,449) 490,221
Remeasurement of defined benefit B ERTE RN HTE
pension plan (16,835) -
Transfer of deferred tax liability due  HEREUAABEEHEH
to disposal of financial assets at FFARME SN EN SR
FVOCIS EEMBHENEERESE 187,180 -
Change in ownership interests ina £ & A EZEH RIS R T
subsidiary without losing control HEM B AR E R 11,585
Share of other equity movement of EEZ#E@mAARNKENEM
investments accounted for using e m S EBDEE
the equity method (5,781) (18,123)
Transfers upon utilisation 155 R Py 655 43 ()] (470)
Transfer of capital reserve upon EEUAAEEFEEES
disposal of a FVOCI equity FAEMGEES R ENER
BEBREAEE (734,034) (56,069)
Closing balance at 31 December R+ZB=+—HEXR&ER 720,527 1,308,648
During the year ended 31 December 2021, HK$679,000 BE_Z—F+Z"H=+—H Jt

FE>&%679,0008 T (CEE

(2020: HK$470,000) had been utilised for expenditures
incurred in the qualified assets for improvement of the mining
facilities and enhancement of industrial safety measures, and
therefore the corresponding amount was transferred from
the capital reserve to retained earnings.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. - 278
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES HOLDERS

In December 2019, China Resources Power Investment
Company Limited (“CR Power Investment”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, issued two batches of perpetual
medium-term notes amounting to RMB5,000,000,000
(equivalent to HK$5,581,750,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, China
Resources Power Investment Company Limited (“CR
Power Investment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company issued two tranches of perpetual corporate
bonds amounting to RMB2,500,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,920,561,000) and RMB2,000,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,336,449,000) in October
2020 and December 2020, respectively.

Key terms and conditions relating to the above equity
instruments are as follows:

e The principal on the notes and bonds has no fixed
term for repayment and CR Power Investment has the
option to call the notes. If CR Power Investment does
not exercise the call option, the notes and bonds will
survive;

e  The notes and bonds offer no redemption option to the
investors so that investors cannot require CR Power
Investment to redeem their notes and bonds anytime;

° CR Power Investment has the option to defer interest
payment, except in the event of mandatory interest
payments, so that at each interest payment date, CR
Power Investment may choose to defer the interest
payment to the next payment date for the current
period as well as all interests and accreted interests
already deferred according to the related terms, without
any limitation with respect to the number of deferrals.
Mandatory interest payment events are limited to
dividend distributions to ordinary equity holders and
reductions of registered capital;
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43. KABAEFHEA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE-Z”—

F+RA=1+—HLFE

43. PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES HOLDERS

(CONTINUED)

e  The priority over repayment of these notes and bonds is
subordinated to CR Power Investment’s general debts.

e The first two batches of perpetual medium-term
notes’ initial couple rate is 4% and 3.93%. If the issuer
chooses not to redeem the perpetual notes, the coupon
rate will be adjusted to the current benchmark interest
rate plus initial spread and a solid 300 basis points
every 3 years starting from the 4th interest-bearing
year.

e The first two batches of perpetual corporate bonds’
initial coupon rate is 3.99%. If the issuer chooses not to
redeem the perpetual corporate bonds, the coupon rate
will be adjusted to the current benchmark interest rate
plus initial spread and a solid 300 basis points every 2
years starting from the 3rd interest-bearing year.

The perpetual medium-term notes and perpetual corporate
bonds issued by CR Power Investment are classified as
equity instruments, and recognised under equity in the
consolidated statement of financial position. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Group paid on interest on
perpetual medium-term notes amounting HK$462,980,000
(2020: HK$235,327,000). As at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020, there was no interest on perpetual
medium-term notes and perpetual corporate bonds that had
been approved but not yet paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

44. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 44. WSt B A E)

(i) On 28 April 2021, the Group acquired an 60% () MZTEBEZ—FWWAZ+NB>
interest in Qinghai Jipin which is principally engaged KEBRRBIE-_FKES
in operating photovoltaic power plants, from an BEE (HFTERSEEEALR
independent third party at a consideration of BB N60% R KEA
RMB122,146,000 (equivalent to HK$146,622,000). AR %122,146,0007c (FBE 1
Qinghai Jipin was acquired with the objective of 146,622,000 7T) - WEE B
expanding renewable energy business in the PRC. The EEZEBENABARPENT
acquisition has been accounted for as acquisition of BEEREFG ZWEEMER
business using the acquisition method. WEE A ABRTIEU B 275 o
Consideration transferred: BEEARE

HK$’000
F#ET
Cash R 146,622
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RINEBEMNEKREEERDE
acquisition were as follows: mRadmT
At date of
acquisition
Uk EE B HA
HK$’000
F#ET
Property, plant and equipment M- BB KRB 675,234
Right-of-use assets FREEE 21,408
Trade and other receivables FEE ST BR TR R EL At & W R 1B 270,916
Amount due from non-controling ~ FEURIEIERE G R =R IE
shareholder 53,771
Bank balances and cash IRITHEFRRIRE 13,243
Trade and other payables FEAT BR AR E fh FE (3 7R I8 (187,928)
Bank borrowings RITEE (627,958)
318,686
The fair value of trade and other receivables at the FE N BE F & EH ith fE Uk = 18
date of acquisition amounted to HK$270,916,000. The RIKERHN A ARABES
gross contractual amounts of those trade and other 270,916,000 7t o FX UK B B
receivables acquired amounted to HK$270,916,000 at H ZEEWEEWRERE
the date of acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition HMEWRFZENSLNEIES
date of the contractual cash flows not expected to be 270,916,00078 7t o F W BE B HA
collected is nil. HEARZWNESHNRERE
HNREBGAS-
4 —w*‘“ 281 Annual Report 2021

FiR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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44. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 44. BB 2B @
(CONTINUED)
(i) (Continued) (i
Gain from a bargain purchase arising on acquisition: WHEPMELEZEBE WG !
HK$’000
FHET
Consideration transferred EEENE 146,622
Plus: non-controlling interests o IEERER 151,003
Less: net assets acquired B BEWEEERE (318,686)
Gain from a bargain purchase ZHEBBEWG (21,061)
The non-controlling interest (40%) in Qinghai Jipin RIKERRERNEBEER
recognised at the acquisition date was measured by B IEIERR R (40%)T5 2 F I
reference to the fair value of the non-controlling interest EREGZNALBETES
and amounted to HK$151,003,000. The fair value was 151,003,000 T A R EETL
estimated by applying an income approach. BB W A A G ET o
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEEENIRESME FEE
HK$’000
F#ET
Consideration paid in cash DREZMHNRE 146,622
Less: bank balances and B BNEBIRITERAIRE
cash acquired (13,243)
133,379
Bargain purchase gain amounting to HK$21,061,000 WESESEENZEBREE A
on acquisition of Qinghai Jipin is recognised in profit 21,061,000 iR & HiBm &
or loss within the other gains and losses in the HNEAME S ~EERNER
consolidated statement of profit or loss. a0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

(i)

(ii)

(Continued)
Impacts of acquisition on the results of the Group

Included in the profit for the year, profit amounting
of HK$28,050,000 is attributable to the business
operation from Qinghai Jipin. Revenue for the year
includes HK$82,851,000 which was generated from
Qinghai Jipin.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January
2021, revenue for the year of the Group would have
been HK$89,844,727,000, and profit for the year of
the Group would have been HK$901,959,000. The pro
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on
1 January 2021, nor is it intended to be a projection of
future results.

On 30 December 2021, the Group acquired an 100%
interest in Mengcheng Guoyuan which is principally
engaged in the operating wind power plants, from
an independent third party at a consideration of
RMB1,000,000 (equivalent to HK$1,223,000).
Mengcheng Guoyuan was acquired with the objective
of expanding renewable energy business in the PRC.
The acquisition has been accounted for as acquisition
of business using the acquisition method.

Consideration transferred:

B R R EE
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44. INEBMIEB AT @

(i)

(ii)

(&)
WIEB R EBERNZE

XEFEEMNHBERZHE
28,050,000 /5 HE B
%Eﬁ%%ﬂé BERloAREFEE
WEBEeseEEEED
82,851,0005%7_50

WKEBER - - —F—A8
—HBHEM > AEBNAREE K
i %489,844,727,0008 7T
REAEEBNEAKEEFN B A
901,959,000 o BEE ERHME
1 uﬁﬁﬂﬁaﬁﬂjt/_fﬁ%%z!xﬁl
MW m RS EEETEE U
ﬁ::v_:—ﬁi B— EEbtﬁ
HNIERTRERERSE I
BTERIREESE-

R-ZE-_—F+"H=+H">
AEBOBIEF = FRES
HER (ETEREEERT
BER NE2HED RKEBA
AR 11,000,000 (BE R
1,223,000 7T) ° WS HE
B2 BENARERANRTENAE
SREBER - ZWBEFEHWK
FEEABRDEUN BB 2ETS o

B#EZEAE:

HK$’000
FET

Cash bk

1,223
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

44. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 44. WIBMIB AT @
(CONTINUED)
(ii) (Continued) (i) @
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of REBANEWEEERD
acquisition were as follows: FEE/NT
At date of
acquisition
Uk EE B HB
HK$’000
F#ET
Cash RE 243
Trade and other receivables FEE LST BR TR R L & W R 1B 80,621
Property, plant and equipment MEBEREZE 180,541
Right-of-use assets FREESE 308,464
Trade and other payables JE 1 BR = e L i & < 7R 1B (220,195)
Lease liabilities HEEE (324,699)
24,975
The fair value of trade receivables at the date of FEUSBR RS BB H BRI A o8
acquisition amounted to HK$80,621,000. The gross {87%80,621,00048 75 o IR UK B
contractual amounts of those trade receivables BH > ZEE WEEWRAN
acquired amounted to HK$80,621,000 at the date of B A48 EE7380,621,0008 7t ©
acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date of the R B RS EREERES
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected is HNRERENRERBTAHS
nil.
Gain from a bargain purchase arising on acquisition: WHEPFELEZERBE WG !
HK$’000
F&ET
Consideration transferred EEENE 1,223
Less: net assets acquired B BEWEEETRE (24,975)
Gain from a bargain purchase EEEBENRD (23,752)
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. i 284 i o
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44. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

44. INEBMIEB AT @

(ii) (Continued) (i) @
WS ELRIRSMLPER

HK$’000
FTET

Consideration paid in cash MIREZHHRE =
Less: bank balances and B BWEBIRTTAARKRIRE

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

cash acquired

Bargain purchase gain amounting to HK$23,752,000
on acquisition of Mengcheng Guoyuan is recognised
in profit or loss within the other gains and losses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Impacts of acquisition on the results of the Group

The acquisition date of Mengcheng Guoyuan is close
to December 31, and the acquisition date to the end of
the year has little impact on revenue and profit.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January
2021, revenue for the year of the Group would have
been HK$89,873,922,000, and profit for the year of
the Group would have been HK$907,815,000. The pro
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on
1 January 2021, nor is it intended to be a projection of
future results.

(243)
(243)

WESHEENZERE R
23,752,000 Tt & HiEm®
PEMW E R EBANIBmE

=]
e ©

W iEH A E B E RN ZE

S BRI WS B A+
B=+—HB mi&EBRESF
EH WD RFENRZEE M-

WURBENR -2 _—5—A&
—HBHEM > AEBNAREE K
1 7489,873,922,000 7T, 0
REAEEBNEAKEEFN B A
907,815,000 o EE ERHE
HRBEAGR AT AR RAER
MWW m RS EEETEE U
A TE - F—F—HEBEZ=MK
HERTRERESE  ITE
BTERIREESE-
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44. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group acquired a number of subsidiaries at a cash
consideration of RMB1 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1.22) for each. The acquired entities do not meet
the definition of “Business” in accordance with HKFRS
3 “Business Combinations” and the Group regarded the
acquisition as acquiring assets and liabilities through
acquisition of subsidiaries.

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of
acquisition:

Ningxia
Zhongning
Shidai

New Energy
Co., LTD
(Zhongning
Shidai)

R ATAER
BRAH
(RERR)
HK$'000
FERT

Property, plant and equipment  #1% B E Rk 5
Trade and other payables R E M

7B (9)
Net assets BEIE =

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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44. INEBEMIEB 27 @

(i) B=E—_B-_—F+-_A=+—
HIEEE > AEBWEZS B
BAE SEMREREAA
17T FBERK1.22/87T) ©
RIFEF B IR E 2R F35E
MEREH  CWBERAR
ETERINTEE BAERF
ERWBERABBREBHEA
DESEEKRERE.

RKBEOHPEINEERSE

f&:

Ningxia
Haiguang Ningxia
New Energy Yuanguang
Technology New Energy
Development Technology
Co., LTD Development
(Ningxia  Co. LTD (Ningxia
Haiguang) Yuanguang)

EEBAMER EERK
RiiRE  WERRGR%
ARAEF ARAF Total
(BEER) (BEFX) Hst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TER TER
1,958 62,705 64,668
(1,958) (62,705) (64,668)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure in
order to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital based on gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings and loans from related
parties less cash and cash equivalents, and pledged and
restricted bank deposits.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2021 was as follows:

Total borrowings (Note 37) BEE4%8 (M9:E37)
Loan from an intermediate holding
company (Note 36)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents
(Note 31)

Pledged and restricted bank

(F$5E36)

(fF5E31)

deposits (Note 30) (MF=£30)
Net debt B 3%
Total equity B
Gearing ratio BEABRLEX

Net debts equal borrowings, loan from an intermediate
holding company less restricted and pledged bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents. The directors of the
Company consider the Group’s gearing ratio has been
maintained at a comfortable level.
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REKEERET UM RER IR H R,
REEMA @A ER & m
FERIENERGERE  URBRERMN
ZIKO

RERTAARELRGR FEE
ZHBERYTFTRRORESER R
BEXATRR - BTHRILEE
EELUR MRS ©

FERRBEEFABRLXEREA
Ao RBREH FEFUBED
SR -EHFEREERBEKRKE
BMEDTNERHRRENREEFEY
R R R RAIIRITEMR R

ATE-—F+"B=+—HKNE
EBFELEERNT

2021
—E-—F

2020
TECEEF
HK$’000
FHET
102,267,275

HK$’000
FET

128,495,939

E=nd

N
6,251,763 5,951,763
&LIRIRN  (5,036,484)
(152,819) (300,087)
PRy’ 102,882,467
LAV VRSl 105,950,292
118% 97%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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45. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (conTiNuED)

Loan covenants

46.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

Under the terms of the major borrowing facilities, the Group
is required to comply with the following financial covenants:

The consolidated tangible net worth shall not be less
than HK$20 billion; and

The ratio of consolidated adjusted EBITDA as defined
in respective facilities to interest expense in respect of
each relevant period shall not be less than 3:1.

The Group has complied with these covenants throughout
the reporting period.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

46a. Categories of financial instruments

TREE

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost

45.

46.

BB AT ENEMEE

Financial assets at FVOCI A nBEstE HEH)
A E RS I
MR EE

Financial liabilities ERBaE

Amortised cost 58 Bl A

46b.Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central Group
treasury department under policies approved by the
board of directors. The department identifies, evaluates
and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with
the Group’s operating units.

BEFXEASEE®

Lo e
REFEBEMERR AEEA
BT LUT A H5 3258

e EHEREBEEIFEABBER
200887 &

e XREMHMBENEHERE
EBITDA (& REFT 57 E) 7|
BRAXBLERAFMENI 10

AEERBERSHER—EET

CEEEE

EZMIA
46a. £FL T EER

2021
—E-—%F

HK$’000
FET

41,043,176 34,174,144
1,138,982 2,383,337
141,065,233

167,726,020

46b. &R E B EEB R RER

FEBREFOHZETHRA
% i ER (BESMERRE
ARBEENXRERRRERE
MR EERBRARESE
TRB rERERERREE
StEIEPREM M IZH TR
Atk EEERVHEAEER
MHBRROBEETNEE-

TREBVHAREESTIH
FERBRETEREEE - %8
FPEREREBEUREGF
a8 A ~ BT A e 3 0 < o L B




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED)

46b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The majority of the Group’s operations are in the
PRC and transactions are mainly denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB”) which is the functional
currency of the respective group entities. Foreign
exchange risk mainly arises from certain cash
and cash equivalents and borrowings which
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars (HK$).
However, the Company and certain subsidiaries
are located in Hong Kong and their functional
currency is HKS$, the foreign exchange risk for
them mainly arises from balances denominated in
RMB and borrowings denominated in RMB and
GBP. During the year ended 31 December 2021
and 31 December 2020, the Group did not enter
into any forward exchange contracts or currency
swap contracts.
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTiNuED)

46b.Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

In addition, given there are different functional
currencies within the Group, there are still foreign
exchange risk which arises from the transactions
and balances within the Group even though they
are eliminated. The carrying amounts of the foreign
currencies denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities before elimination (excluding
the amounts denominated in HK$ or US$, of
which the functional currency is US$ or HK$) at
the reporting date are as follows:

Assets BE

Us$ ==

RMB AR

HK$ BT

GBP g
Liabilities aE

RMB AR

GBP g

UsD E7T

Euro (“EUR”) Btot (TBR7Tl)

The Group is primarily exposed to changes in
RMB/HK$ and GBP/HK$ exchange rates. The
sensitivity of profit or loss to changes in the
exchange rates arises mainly from non-functional
currency denominated financial instruments.

46. EM T H w
46b. £RLE G EIEBERBUR
@)
B R ()

(i) SNEREE @&

ESh > BRAEEANTFRE
RRIBNINEE® » AN
REBABIR 5 KA FRR
| MEEEEENS
PE R R o P IRE B o
RILUSNBSIERNEREE
kEEaE (FEa3UEB
TR ETIMERE T E
FTHME R ER) BRI ED
T

2021
—E-—%

HK$’000
THET

3,567 738
CRELRZER 14,415,100
193 96
967 10
10,371,803 7,723,040
1,354,005 1,439,519
80,728 27,955
11,699 18,233
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BERAERBTERE
AR BRNERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTiNuED) 46. TR TH @
46b.Financial risk management objectives and 46b. E R E MG EE B IEREUER
policies (Continued) (48)
Market risk (Continued) B4 A B ()
()  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) () SMEREE @

Impact on Impact on other
post tax profit components of equity

HIRRENBNZE HEMEDEARSINEE

2021 2020 2021 2020

B IZE2IZTHE BT IZTIZH
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET TET FTHET TET

RMB/HK$ ARERBTER

exchange rate

- increase by 10% — EFH10% (764,139) (556,752) 1,426,206 1,411,542

- decrease by 10% —TB10% 764,139 556,752 EGEPIRNON (1,411,542)

GBP/HK$ HiE R BER

exchange rate

—increase by 10% — EFH10% (101,478) (107,963) -

- decrease by 10% —TB10% 101,478 107,963 -
The Group’s exposure to other foreign exchange A EE BB H A EXE SR
movements is not material. This sensitivity has HEH AR AEKFRE
been determined assuming that the change BRAETHBRRETHBRR
in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the FRHOBEIREXREHME
statement of financial position date. E °

(i)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk iy RERERALBEFE
=) Bz
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long- REENFZRBERRE
term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable HREE IR ETHNE
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate EFAEERHRERE
risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the MR- ZHEEF S
Group to fair value interest rate risk. THNEEFEAEREBER
AEEN R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED)

46b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, except for
HK$126,029,278,000 (2020: HK$88,142,193,000)
of long-term borrowings and HK$6,251,763,000
(2020: HK$5,951,763,000) of loan from an
intermediate holding company whose interests
were charged at floating rates, interests on all
remaining long term borrowings and loans from
related parties were charged at fixed rates.

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for borrowings at floating rates which are not
hedged with hedging instruments. The analysis is
prepared by assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the period were
outstanding for the whole year.

At 31 December 2021, if interest rates on long-
term borrowings at that date had been 10 basis
point higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year or net
assets as of 31 December 2021 would have
been approximately HK$99,211,000 (2020:
HK$70,570,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result
of higher/lower interest expenses on floating rate
borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED)

46b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to pledged bank deposits (see
note 30), fixed-rate bank borrowings (see note
37 for details of these borrowings) and lease
liabilities (see note 38 for details). The Group is
also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances (see note
31 for details), variable-rate bank borrowings
(see note 37 for details). The Group cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances
and HIBOR arising from the Group’s Hong Kong
dollar denominated borrowings. The Group aims
at keeping borrowings at variable rates. The
Group manages its interest rate exposures by
assessing the potential impact arising from any
interest rate movements based on interest rate
level and outlook. The management will review the
proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating rates
and ensure they are within reasonable range.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate
benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including
the replacement of some interbank offered
rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly risk-free
rates. Details of the impacts on the Group’s risk
management strategy arising from the interest
rate benchmark reform and the progress towards
implementation of alternative benchmark interest
rates are set out under “interest rate benchmark
reform” in this note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED)

46b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
deposits, trade and other receivables, loans to related
companies and amounts due from related companies.
The maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
as at 31 December 2021 in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

(M

Risk management

Credit risk for the Group is concentrated on
a limited number of power grid companies,
associates and joint ventures. However,
management of the Group, having considered the
financial background and good creditability of the
power grid and related companies, and operating
prospects of associates and joint ventures,
believes that there is no significant credit risk.

Bank deposits are mainly placed with state-owned
financial institutions and reputable banks which are
all high-credit-quality financial institutions.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 294
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED)

46b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Risk management (Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the aggregate
amount of outstanding financial guarantees issued
to banks in respect of bank facilities granted to an
associate that the Group could be required to pay
amounted to HK$389,491,000 as at 31 December
2021 (2020: HK$378,367,000), of which Nil (2020:
Nil) of the outstanding financial guarantees has
been utilised by the associate. The fair value of
these financial guarantee, as at the dates of initial
recognition, were considered insignificant. At the
end of the reporting period, the management
has performed impairment assessment, and
concluded that there has been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the
financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss
allowance for financial guarantee contracts issued
by the Group is measured at an amount equal
to 12m ECL. No loss allowance was recognised
in the profit or loss because the management
considered the related parties are of strong
financial strength and the related loss allowance
are immaterial to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTiNuED) 46. TR TH @
46b.Financial risk management objectives and 46b. E R E M EE EEREUER

policies (Continued) (48)

Credit risk (Continued) EEmEfE (&)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (i) =HMEERE
The Group has three types of financial assets that rEBE-HTMEE"
are subject to the expected credit loss model as IR TEREEHER
following: T -

Gross carrying amount

ARE4RME

2021 2020

g8 CZTEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FEBT

JE UK BR =X PLRKGRYVE 20,437,913

Trade receivables

Other receivables (including HhEURIE (81E

consideration receivable PHE L FEIRIERE

for the Disposal of Shanxi WARE IR EEDN

Coal, refundable deposit for AR OEE  EWKRE

acquisition of mining rights, T EoAh)

dividends receivable and

others) 2,926,719 7,705,247

Loans to/amounts due from EIRAHE S (IR E R

related parties (including FELE-URAAEE

associates, joint ventures, STEBREFET A BT

FVOCI investee companies, BREPNFRE AT

non-controlling shareholders FE1E % % 51 e ELAth A Bk

and other related parties) 7)) B FEWRREE S

HIE 1,428,555 1,295,600
While cash and cash equivalents are also subject BERIREEEBYINEE
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the TEAMBREENE
identified impairment loss was immaterial. SRR ERTE 1S
BEBEILAEKC
Trade receivables FEW AR
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified REBRBABEBMBERSE
approach to measure expected credit losses ZER|FOREIE A ETE
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance HEERE MR D
for all trade receivables from initial recognition. RATERWERRE R 25
The Group performs impairment assessment TRHARBER KAEER
under ECL model on trade receivables balances BREAEEHREREANE
individually. Bl FE U AR R AL BR AE 1T RLE
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED)

46b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

For trade receivables in related to sales of
electricity, the debtors are local grid companies
and the management considered the impairment
on the trade receivables generated from sales of
electricity are insignificant to the Group.

The Group assesses the impairment for its
customers in relation to its heat supply individually
by considering the debtors’ historical default
rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable, supportable and available without
undue costs or effort. As at 31 December 2021,
the expected losses rate of these non-credit
impaired customers in relation to the operation of
heat supply is minimal, given there is no history of
significant defaults from customer and insignificant
impact from forward-looking estimations. The
assessed ECL for non-credit impaired customers
is insignificant to the Group. Loss allowance of
HK$45,068,000 (2020: HK$75,095,000) was
provided on credit-impaired balance as at 31
December 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTiNuED)

46b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The loss allowances for trade receivables as

at 31 December reconcile to the opening loss
allowances as follows:

At 1 January ®—B—H
Increase (Decrease) in loss

allowance recognised in

FAREmERA
REZE L G

46. EM T H w

46b. £RLE G EIEBERBUR
€))

EERE (&)

(i) =HMEERE®
FEWIR 7% (48)
R+ZBA=+—HWEK

AR OB B ZE 1 SR B AR (B
EHERWT

2021
—E-—F

2020
it
HK$’000
FH7

HK$’000
TET
75,095

profit or loss during the year 696 (5,056)
Receivables written off during ~ FER#MiEERIAR BT

the year as uncollectible Yt [o] f& W =R I8 (32,137) (3,625)
Exchange adjustments bE R EE 1,414 5,589
At 31 December m+-HB=+—H 45,068 75,095

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
make contractual payments.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED)

46b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost
include loans to/amounts due from related
parties (including associates, joint ventures,
FVOCI investee companies and non-controlling
shareholders) and other receivables (excluding
receivables from related parties).

In determining the ECL for other receivables, the
Group has made periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables,
based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also forward-looking information,
as appropriate, for example, the Group has
considered the consistently low historical default
rate in connection with payments, and concluded
the credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding
other receivables other than those credit-impaired
other receivable is insignificant.

In determining the ECL for loans to/amounts due
from related parties, the Group has assessed the
financial position of related parties as well as the
economic outlook of the industry in which the
related parties operate, and concluded that there
has been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. The ECL on loans to/amounts
due from related parties are considered to be
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTiNuED) 46. TR TH @
46b.Financial risk management objectives and 46b. E R E M EE EEREUER
policies (Continued) (48)
Credit risk (Continued) 1EEE S (&)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) =HMEERE®
Other financial assets at amortised cost A ERR M E
(Continued) HEE (B
The loss allowance for credit-impaired other R+-B=+—HEBEREE
financial assets at amortised cost as at 31 RENREHKAFTEN
December reconciles to the opening loss Hih& Rl & E R EEEHR
allowance as follows: BV EERHERWT
Loans to/
amounts
due from Other
related parties receivables
",/ e
)l Hith
BH /%5 FElkE fst
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#ER T#R TR
At at 1 January 2020 RZZ-FF—-HF—H - 265,112 265,112
Decrease in the allowance recognised ~ ERRBE R
in profit or loss during the year BER) - (472) (472)
Receivables written off during FRMHEATRER
the year as uncollectible WA - (4,712) (4,712)
Exchange adjustments B R AR - 6,457 6,457
At 31 December 2020 RZBZEF
+ZB=+—-H - 266,385 266,385
Decrease in the allowance recognised R Bz HESAM
in profit or loss during the year BERD S (646) (646)
Receivables written off during FEAMEE A ik ElR
the year as uncollectible FEWzE - (369) (369)
Exchange adjustments R AR - 3,279 3,279
At 31 December 2021 RZE=-—
+-B=+—-H - 268,749 268,749
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. : 300 i o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTINUED) 46. TR T H @)

46b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Net impairment losses on financial assets
recognised in profit or loss

During the year, the following impairment losses
(reversal of impairment losses) were recognised
in profit or loss in relation to impaired financial
assets:

Impairment losses (reversal of  FEUWEBRFUR BBk
impairment losses) on trade CRi{E 18 #[al)
receivables

Reversal of impairment losses ~ Hfth&riE E R E
on other financial assets /K #EE (]

Impairment losses (reversal EREERBEERX
of impairment losses) on CRI{EB K D)

financial assets

Liquidity risk

The Group operates a central treasury function at
corporate level that surplus cash of operating entities
within the Group is gathered in a pool. The cash
balance is then advanced to entities within the Group
with cash needs. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with borrowing covenants, to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions in order to meet the liquidity requirements of
the Group in both short and long terms.

46b. £RLE G EIE B ERBUR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED)

46b.Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

As stated in Note 3, the Group had net current
liabilities of HK$14,118,930,000 and outstanding
capital commitments of HK$14,024,401,000 at
31 December 2021 (2020: net current liabilities
of HK$24,426,907,000 and outstanding capital
commitments of HK$13,169,359,000), which exposed
the Group to liquidity risk. In order to mitigate the
liquidity risk, the Group had obtained sufficient short
and long-term bank facilities at the end of the reporting
period. In addition, the management will undertake
close monitoring process to control the timing of
the expected cash outflows associated with the
construction of new power plants and the purchase of
power generation equipment or other new investments.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s liquidity risk has been significantly
reduced and they are satisfied that the Group will be
able to meet its financial obligations in full as and when
they fall due for the coming twelve months from 31
December 2021.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities, computed on the earliest
date when the Group would be required to settle them.
The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are computed at
floating rates, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE_ S —F+"_RA=+—HLEE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTiNuED) 46. TR TH @
46b.Financial risk management objectives and 46b. E R E MG EE B IEREUER
policies (Continued) (48)
Liquidity risk (Continued) BB ZEE ()

Weighted Total
average On  Less than 1-5 Over undiscounted ~ Carrying
interest rate demand 1 year years 5years  cash flows amount

mE  BEX PEiEE

HaHE FE On-f  -ERE RENEL  REHE  kEE
%  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
% fRn  TEn  TAm  TEn  TER  TEn

At 31 December 2021 RIBT-E

+ZB=t+-A

Non-derivative Frteek

financial liabilities

Non-interest bearing A8 21,391,228 11,587,091 - - 2978319 32,978,319

Fixed interest rate ik : 1892352 635,51 16,738 2,544,611 2,466,660

Variable interest rate ek 2 - 287693 57195281 50553672 135,825,888 132281,041
Lease liabiies HEak : 1153581 978,240
Financial quarantee contracts HEERSH 389491 389,491
At 31 December 2020 i3

+ZA=1+-H

Non-derivative Frteuas

financial liabilities

Non-interest bearing RitE - AT1519 11,130,998 - - 3284619 32,846,196

Fixed interest rate S 343 - 6431398 8636820 - 15068218 14,125,081

Variable interest rate ik 322 - 23096607 41307686 32821540  98,065833 94,003,956

21,715,198 41499003 49944506 32,821,540 145,980,247 141,065,233
Lease liabilties figak 446 - 201,022 215,637 778063 1194722 1,075,210
Financial quarantee contracts BBEREY 378,367 - - - 37837 378367
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group did not N CE T FEFRCECEFE
have any derivative financial instruments. +ZA=+—HB ' AEELE

ERTEEMIA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 46. R T H w
46c¢. Fair value estimation 46¢c. A R EEMLE

The table below analyses financial instruments carried TRAMUGEERANEE

at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels FIRNEMTR - ERENT

have been defined as follows: EEHRANOT -

Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active F—h —ARNEEHEE
markets for identical assets or liabilities RiEBMmBHNERE

(R EEE)

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included Fk —REBEEZE (BIER)
within level 1 that are observable for the oA E (BB E
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as ) IBRREERE
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from BENWARE (F—
prices) R BB ERERRIN)

Level 3 — Inputs for the asset or liability that are not F=# —WIFREDHEZES
based on observable market data (that is, LERNEBEENEE
unobservable inputs) FEENE A BE

(AP AR EENEH
ABR)

The following table presents the Group’s financial TREVNAEBR T —F

assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at +ZRA=+—H#ZAnEES

31 December 2021: ENETHEERERE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
BE—4k -y B=4R

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FTAET THERT TAET

Assets BE

FVOCI UAREBEFE
BEHE A
Hm s W - 1,138,982 1,138,982

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTiNuED) 46. TR T H @)
46c. Fair value estimation (Continued) 46c. AREEMGE @
The following table presents the Group’s financial TREJIAEBRZ-ZZEZZF
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at +_B=+—HB#%AANEBES
31 December 2020: ENETHEERERE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B—R B B4R st

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FERT FAET FERT FERT

BE

Assets

FVOCI MAnBEGE
B#EHEA
Hiiz &5 W am - 2,383,337 2,383,337
There were no transfers among level 1, level 2 and level RER FE—HR-FIBKRSF
3 during the year. :,.&ZFHJH@%%% °
(a) Financial instruments in level 1 and level 2 (a) F—REF_MRETHITA
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, BW_EZ — fE —I— H
the Group held no such financial assets. =+—H Ez “EZEHF
+ZA=+—8 > &x&H
TESFERREMEE-
(b) Level 3 instruments (b) FB=ARTA
Level 3 instruments mainly included equity BEZRITEFTEGEIFL
investments at FVOCI in unlisted equity securities. M AFBFHNUARREE
As these investments are not traded in an active FFTEEHEFHAAHMES
market, their fair values have been determined WM R E o EEIJ?’\_;
using direct comparison approach and cost ERENENERET IS
approach. = H’Aﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ%
EEBE R A EEETE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTiNuED)

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

46¢. Fair value estimation (Continued)
(b) Level 3 instruments (Continued)

The movement of level 3 instruments for the year
ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

At 1 January ®w—B—8
Exchange adjustments e 2 B
(Losses) Gains recognised in REMEEEA

46. TR T B @)
46¢c. AR EBEGET @)
(b) B=AETA@

BHE_ZE_-_—F+°A2
Z—t+—HIEEE F=4&
TEMNEFHNT :

2021
—E-—F

2020
bl 2
HK$’000
FH7T TH7T
2,383,337 1,934,571
368 91,867

HK$’000

other comprehensive income S8R (B518) Wz (18,130) 627,580
Additions R"E 73,931 78,466
Disposals HE (1,300,524) (349,147)
At 31 December ®w+=ZHA=+—H 1,138,982 2,383,337

Fair value of certain FVOCI has been determined
using estimated direct comparison approach with
significant unobservable input including price-
to-book ratio, which is 0.77 (2020:0.83), and
estimated exit price. Fair value of other FVOCIs
have been determined using cost approach.

46d.Interest rate benchmark reform

Several of the Group’s LIBOR bank loans will be subject
to the interest rate benchmark reform. The Group
is closely monitoring the market and managing the
transition to new benchmark interest rates, including
announcements made by the relevant IBOR regulators.

ETUAABESNEEE
Ft AHMGESREZA
AEESERMGSEEL
KREBE HEALOEH
R AHIBOIETRES
0.77 (ZEBZZ4 : 0.83)
KFBEARH B Ht A
AEEFTEBEEFHtAAH
izEWm 2z ARBETD
FRMAEEBE -

46d. ¥ R BN E

AEBNHERIIRITRENR
BIRITERRBRZHREENRE
WEE - AEBERYERD
SN EIRBEEREAEN KN
B SEAERETEERE
REERBEMHULS




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED)

46d.Interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)
LIBOR

The Financial Conduct Authority has confirmed all
LIBOR settings will either cease to be provided by any
administrator or no longer be representative:

immediately after 31 December 2021, in the case
of all sterling, euro, Swiss franc and Japanese yen
settings, and the 1-week and 2-month US dollar
settings; and

immediately after 30 June 2023, in the case of the
remaining US dollar settings.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
(“HONIA”) has been identified as an alternative to
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The
multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong,
whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.

(i

Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark
reform

The following are the key risks for the Group
arising from the transition:

Interest rate related risks

For contracts which have not been transitioned
to the relevant alternative benchmark rates and
without detailed fallback clauses, if the bilateral
negotiations with the Group’s counterparties are
not successfully concluded before the cessation
of LIBOR and HIBOR, there are significant
uncertainties with regard to the interest rate that
would apply. This gives rise to additional interest
rate risk that was not anticipated when the
contracts were entered into.

307
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

46. TR T H @)
46d. 7 R EENE @

1R B IRTTIRIE Hr B

EMHGITARERCHERFR
BERBEIBITRAERERENRT
SIER TR ABHEMEEA
LHMHAFIBRRERM

s EEW-ET-—-—F+2°H
=+—H® mFAAR
E-Bm Im AR R H
BRE > k—8BKkmER
METREMS 5 K

s RETT_=—F/XB=+
BE BB THETRE
ms e

BEERITRIENE

BEBTREFHEH (BT
[BRFEER) EREESE
ARTRZRENERAERR
B HEst 8 (F L EMEBIRTT
EEHFE -BFEBERAZAEX
FE BEEBRTREERE
BETRRFIOEERILF -

() FMREENFREENR

oo
AN

UTRAEEERBEME
EHNTFEEME

FIEIGRI AR

MEARBEZERBAEAE
EFERBRFIEFAERE
HEBERNENME  H
RBBERTRERERE
BIRTRZEREFLLEM
AR AE B S B 3 F 75 B
ThiEmEBERm  BRF
KRAFEELEEATETE
MexBERE5IMNETUEG
KB R TRSTRYRR SN R &

2
oo O
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED)

46d.Interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)
HIBOR (Continued)

(i)

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark
reform (Continued)

Interest rate related risks (Continued)

There are fundamental differences between IBORs
and the various alternative benchmark rates.
IBORs are forward looking term rates published for
a period (e.g. 3 months) at the beginning of that
period and include an inter-bank credit spread,
whereas alternative benchmark rates are typically
risk-free overnight rates published at the end of
the overnight period with no embedded credit
spread. These differences will result in additional
uncertainty regarding floating rate interest
payments.

Liquidity risk

The additional uncertainty on various alternative
rates which are typically published on overnight
basis will require additional liquidity management.
The Group’s liquidity risk management policy has
been updated to ensure sufficient liquid resources
to accommodate unexpected increases in
overnight rates.

Litigation risk

If no agreement is reached to implement the
interest rate benchmark reform on contracts
which have not been transitioned to the relevant
alternative benchmark rates (e.g. arising from
differing interpretation of existing fallback
terms), there is a risk of prolonged disputes with
counterparties which could give rise to additional
legal and other costs. The Group is working
closely with all counterparties to avoid this from
occurring.
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46d.FIEEENE @)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE_ S —F+"_RA=+—HLEE

47. HMEFHEEN R EHIR

Amounts
due to

Efiag
EERE
HKS'000

Tin

TRFLTEERERMEZHNE
B2 BERTRIFRTEH -/
ERPMELENERAEERE
PRB BRRBEERERNEAEH
GHEERERTODESRELY
ISR mE-

Amounts
due to
Amounts non-
due to controlling
other related interest of Interests Dividend
companies  subsidiaries payable payable

fEf

Eft  WELA

AftEE R
e #E EfiNE  EfRE
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS$'00
T T Fin T

140,549
469,660

663,231
(146,532)

20,323

Loan
from an
intermediate Amounts
holding Lease due to
company  Borrowings liabilities associates joint venture
KB
R fEfiiE
AAMER HEAR
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn Tn
Asat1 January 200 R-2-2E-A-R 6233010 GTO03748 1037714 468532
Cash flows Réne (318,899 9,029,147 (218,108) 607,147
Dividend declared BERRE = = = -
Interest accrued fEstRIg = = ° -
Foreign exchange adjustments ER#E 37652 5334380 65,195 61,533
Other non-cash movements HitREEE - o 190,409 (21,581)
As at 31 December 2020 RZZZFE+ZB=1-H 5,951,763 102,267,275 1,075,210 1,115,631
Cash flows BehE 00000 23085357 (149678 (375,156)
Dividend declared BERRE = = =
Interest accrued fEstfIg - - =
Foreign exchange adjustments ERHE 3,143,307 11,166 32,402
Other non-cash movements ERUEEES )
As at 31 December 2021 RZE--£+ZB=+-A

286,090 208440 490,069 - %8815
(97,749 - TS0 (3556 2150507
- = - 335568 334563
5 - 3935088 - 3988
78,844 10628 = - 5Bt
5 = = . 168,828

267,185 239,068 450914 112,050,277
(143646) (476713 (3987665 (3154904 14,951,083
- 1,004564 - 3154004 4159468
5 3,930,358 3,930,358
186,422 3,465,690
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

48. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 48. B AT
Capital expenditure contracted but not yet provided for at RHREHERETNEHEREENE
the end of the reporting period is as follows: AEZIMT

2021 2020
ZEZ-F C"EEEF

HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET

Capital expenditure in respect of ME~RE &
property, plant and equipment ERNEARRS 14,024,401 13,139,154
Capital expenditure in respect of the UREEERAEE E
acquisition of right-of-use assets BERNERMAZ - 30,205
14,024,401 13,169,359
49. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 49. :E,.“ﬁﬁ
In addition, there were certain pending litigations and claims i EE2E_ZEZ—F+ A8
against the Group as of 31 December 2021. After consulting =+—HB BEHHEHAEENE TR
the legal counsels, the directors are of the view that the RFABRERE R EIEEER F"ﬁuuu
likelihood of any further material financial impact to the B ESRALRERZI(EME
Group is remote, therefore, no further provisions have been TEARMBEZENTEERAK E
made in light of such litigations and claims. It WHEE—PRZERARTRE
TELEARERE o
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. L 310
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

50. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 50. Rk K 28
(@) The Group entered into two trademark licence (@) =EER-EE=F+HA+t
agreements dated 17 October 2003 with CRCL and HoplEhEERRERE
CRH, respectively, under which the Group was granted BT IRt o] ek 0 15
irrevocable, royalty free and non-exclusive licences to It AEBEEATHE %
use certain trade marks and the rights to sub-license BN EIEBRFFOIERAE T
the same to any member of the Group in consideration AR > LA R 1A 25 5 B AV AE fRT AR
of a nominal amount of HK$1 each. BRENFHFERETEEN
EH REBERLESHEEEIA
=5
(b) Key management compensation (b) FEEEASHRM
Key management includes directors (executive FEEEBABOEES (M7
and non-executive) and senior management. The KIERTT) REREEE - hiE
compensation paid or payable to key management for BRBFENZENEESTEA
employee services is shown below: BB TP -

2021
—E-—%

HK$’000
TET

Salaries and other short-term e hEMEEHREERT
employee benefits 43,205 23,747
Post-employment benefits BEREER 1,503 856

Amortised cost 3 Al A 44,708 24,603

e Annual Report 2021
311 : e




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

50. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (conTINUED)

(c) Material related party transactions

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the following
transactions were carried out with related parties during

the year:

Name of related company
MEAT M

CRH
EHEH

Certain subsidiaries of CRH
EHERNETHBAR

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

Relationship

&

Intermediate holding
company
REER AT

Fellow subsidiaries
R#MBAR

50. BT 1 2 @
() EAMMARS

SREHPBREAMEDIRE
BN RFRNRBB O ENTT
RS

2021 2020
“®-F CZE°ZH
Nature of transactions HK$’000 HK$'000
RaHE TAT TET
Interest expense paid 51,377 145,560
ERFEER
Supply of direct power 144
EREME
Providing retail power agency 15,632
services
REZESHAERS
Providing integrated energy 4,670
services
MRS ERRE
Providing agency service fee 270
RURBR%E
Software maintenance expense 4384
paid
B AR
Trade mark use fee 9,496
HRERE
Purchase of consumables 22,337
BEHER
Professional fee 1,568
EXEA
Purchase of fuel 6,065
FBEME
Purchase of material 8,060
BEME
Rental expense 10,239
HEMx
Management fee 4,107
EEE
Insurance expense 28
fRiEf %
Other expense 374
Hithf%




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE_ S —F+"_RA=+—HLEE

50. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continuen)  50. BBt H I EE @

(c) Material related party transactions (Continued) (c) EXRBAERS @
2021 2020
“g-H TZ°ITF
Name of related company Relationship Nature of transactions HK$’000 HK$'000
MEAE AT itk XHLE TERT TERT
Certain subsidiaries of Fellow Subsidiaries Providing retail power agency 22,725 2,791
CR Cement services
EHOENETHE AT RIZ K EAE REZESHAERS
Providing maintenance service 307
M EERT
Sales of by-product 16,417
HEREMR
Purchase of material 2,258
BEMK
Certain subsidiaries of China Fellow Subsidiaries Providing maintenance service 4,277
Resources Land Ltd.
EHEMERATN F&KBAE R ERRT
ETHEAE
Rental expense 78,273
HeEA
Transportation fee 15
REE
Management fee 851
EEE
Renovation fee 3,453
REER
Other expense 4,472
HiER
Providing agency service fee 3,460
REAEREE
Providing integrated energy 2,914
services
LSRR
Providing retail power agency 3,798
services
REZEENAERS
Purchase of PPE 3,508
BEME RERERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

50. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (conTINUED)

(c) Material related party transactions (Continued)

Name of related company
FEARLHE

China Resources Energy Service
Co., Ltd.

ERRERRBARAT

China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
Company Limited
KeERRITRHMERAR

Certain Subsidiaries of China
Resources Property
Management Co., Ltd.

ERYESEERATIN
ETHBAS

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

Relationship

&

Fellow subsidiary

EEYR=YNG

Fellow subsidiary

R#KEAR

Fellow subsidiary

EEN YN

50. BARE 51 8 @
(c) EXEIAERS @

2021 2020
—EC-—-F

ZEBCEF
HK$'000
FTHT

HK$’000
TET
9,081

Nature of transactions

XHtE

Contract environment
management fee, contract
energy management fee and

exclusive operation fee
BNREERER SAKER

EEREARRFREER
Interest expense paid 82
BENHEER
Interest income &1l
S WA
Management Fee 4107

EEER

Providing retail power agency
services

RUTEENAERS




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE_ S —F+"_RA=+—HLEE

50. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continveny  50. BBt 5 @
(c) Material related party transactions (Continued) (c) EXEAMARS @

2021 2020
“E--F C“EZ°TE

Name of related company Relationship Nature of transactions HK$’000 HK$'000
EARLHE iR XatE THET TET
Certain associates of the Group ~ Associate Sales of electricity 122,338 385,006
AERMNETHERE BEhE HEES
Sales of coal 3,009,567 825,711
HEER
Sales of heat 120,067 91,823
3 & BhAE
Purchase of coal 296 9,681
BEER
Energy management fee 1,298 1,222
EREEER
Providing agency service fee 31,066 52,916
RERERSE
Providing maintenance service 112,158 91,800
R GRS
Service income 3,944 2,839
FRFSUA
Rental income 172 161
BN
Rental expense 32 30
HEEA
Interest expense paid
BAFEER
Interest income
IRSE N
Other Income
Htr A
Providing integrated energy
services
LSRR
Purchase substitute quantity

REBHE

15,381
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

50. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (conTinuED)

(c) Material related party transactions (Continued)

Name of related company

REARAHE

Certain joint ventures of the

Group

FEENETRELRE

Certain non-controlling
shareholders of the Group

FEENETIHERRR

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

Relationship

&

Joint venture

Non-controlling
shareholder

FFERRR

Nature of transactions
XHtE

Sales of electricity

HEBN

Sales of coal

HEER

Sales of materials

HEMR

Sales of heat

HEHGE

Sales of by-products

HERIED

Providing agency service fee

REREREE

Providing maintenance service

TR ERTS

Providing integrated energy
services

LSRR

Purchase of coal

BRI

Management expense paid

BENEEER

Maintenance expenses

HEER

Interest expense paid

BANEER

Interest income

HEWA

Service Income

FRFSIA

Rental income

HEWA

Heat supply costs

HE A

Other Income

Ht A
Interest income

HBBA

50. BARE 51 8 @
(c) EXEIAERS @

2021
—EC-—-F
HK$’000
FHTT

100,015
1,060,107
112,055
4,972
55,216
1,844

36,553

651,310

14,587

116,438

10,691
9,492

21,118

2020
ZEBCEF
HK$'000
FTHT
2,635
139,800
210,203
84,773
4,547
36,729

774

7,885

200,637

131,549
13,473
27,5629
30,220

40
4,007

70

27



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

50. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (conTiNUED)

(c)

Material related party transactions (Continued)

Note: The amounts disclosed are commissions charged to these entities by
the Group for the provision of agency services for bidding/acquiring
electricity supply from the national open market (the “Market”). The
total trading volume of electricity that the Group bid/acquired on
behalf of these entities over the Market is 62.1 billion kWh (2020:
5.08 billion kWh) in 2021. The power plants operated by the Group
also contributed electricity to the Market through the national
electricity grid of China.

Transactions/balances with other state-
controlled entities

As at 31 December 2021, included in cash and cash
equivalents was an amount of HK$2,231,755,032
(2020: HK$353,244,197) which is deposited in China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd, a fellow subsidiary
of the Group, with interest rates ranging from 0.3% to
1.725% (2020: 0.35% to 1.61%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2021, bank borrowings amounting
HK$28,131,070 (2020: HK$27,238,000) was drawn
from China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd, a fellow
subsidiary of the Group, with interest rates of 4.90%
per annum.

The Group operates in an economic environment
currently predominated by entities directly or indirectly
owned or controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the Chinese government (“state-
controlled entities”). In addition, the Group itself is part
of a larger group of companies under CRCL, ultimate
holding company of the Company, which is controlled
by the PRC government. Apart from the transactions
with the parent company and its subsidiaries which
have been disclosed in other notes to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group also conducts business
with other state-controlled entities during the ordinary
course of its business.
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50. BABEF I E @

(c)

(d)

BEXEABARZ @

MizE: PR ESREARNEREOZEER
REE2EARME (M) £5
B ERHENRERBEHNME-
SERE_Z_—EARSERE
MR HEERHENERR
BEEACRIETRERN CZEEF .
50.88 T ELB) o AEMFTEEE MR
BB EEREAETIGREE

ks
BLHMBFEH BRI S
/BEER

N B —F+ "B =+—
B st ARERBEEEYN
$%82,231,755,0328 7T (Z&
T4 1 353,244,197HTT) 17
BREAEERRANBASINKE
EHIETRODERQE  EFH
KNF0.3%FE1.725% (ZEZ
TE 1 0.35%F1.61%) ©

RWZE-_—F%+ZHA=+—
H ERXAEERAZNBAE
REEBIRTROBRABEIRE
B $R1T1E 528,131,0708 7T (Z
T|ZELE 27,238,000/ 7T)
FEREA4.90% o

FEBEMAEUBRTEEAFE
RO EER WER S HEE
HAZHEHEAXENER (MK
FFERIERR)) B EEERIER
BEoILIN AEBAF AT
B B AT P4 & By R B EE 0 (B
ERBMNREERAE) BT
BRAREEBRBH—ED o BRI
BHP B HRR A SEPA I ER
HSRATKRENBRARANRKS
S > 2 £ B 7R B HL M BT 4%
ERNBEEFTTETESER
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE_Z_—F+_RA=+—HLEE

50. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (conTINUED)

(d)

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

Transactions/balances with other state-
controlled entities (Continued)

The Group operates power plants in the PRC and
sells significant volumes of its electricity to the power
grid companies which are state-controlled entities in
the PRC. The Group also purchases/sells significant
amounts of coal from/to certain state-controlled
entities. Furthermore, the Group has certain borrowings
and deposits with certain banks which are state-
controlled entities in its ordinary course of business.
The Group has also entered into various transactions,
including other operating expenses with other state-
controlled entities which individually and collectively
were insignificant during the year.
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51. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2021:

Name of subsidiary

WEBARAE

China Resources Power
Investment Co., Ltd.

EHBNRERR

China Resources Power
(Haifeng) Co., Ltd.

EHES (88) ARAR

China Resources Power
(Tangshan Caofeidian)
Co., Ltd.

ZHEN (BLUELE)

ﬁ@“?

Place of
incorporation
and operation
and form of
legal entity

a3 e
EEHBUR
EERREY

PRC,
Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise

I
SEBELER

PRC,
Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise

>
IEBELE

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture

> fsh
BERE LR

Issued and
fully paid

share capital/
registered
capital and
paid-up capital
RITHERE
AMERR
BREX

Registered capital
RMB15,800,000,000
paid-up capital
RMB15,800,000,000
AfMERARE
15,800,000,0007c
HEEXARE
15,800,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB2,095,000,000
Paid-up capital
RMB1,589,280,000
AfMER

A& #2,095,000,0007c
BREX

AR #1,589,280,0007T

Registered capital
RMB83,571,340,000
Paid-up capital
RMB2,320,779,800
AfER

AR #3,571,340,00075
BEEX
AFK#2,320,779,8007T

equity interest held (%)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

51. ZRE) E BB LB MF

1
RIZE-_—F+ZRB=+—HHE
EMBAREHINNT

Percentage of Principal
activities
FBENRERSLE IBEH
Directly  Indirectly

Hi %

100 - Investment holding

REER

- 100  Operation of
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Operation of
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

51. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (conTiNuED)

Name of subsidiary

MEAR %A

China Resources Power
Dengfeng Co., Ltd.

ERENEHERAT

China Resources Power
Hubei Co., Ltd.
EFHENHNILERAG
China Resources Power
(Tongshan) Co., Ltd.
HLEBEENERAR

China Resources New Energy
(NeiHuang) Co., Ltd.

ERMER (WR) BRAT

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

Place of
incorporation
and operation
and form of
legal entity

a3 K
EEMBU R
ERERER

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture

i > fsh

SN (S

PRC,

Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise
B M
BELE

PRC,

Limited Liability
Company

HED BRAR

PRC,
Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise

- 5 g
BELZE

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered

capital and
paid-up capital
ERTHERE/
AMERR
BEER

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB1,760,000,000

A REEER

AR 1,760,000,0007C

Registered and

paid-up capital
RMB2,690,000,000

A RMEER

AR #2,690,000,0007T

Registered and

paid-up capital
RMB1,500,000,000
AfRHMEER

A #1,500,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB950,670,000
Paid-up capital
RMB810,378,269.86
HAMER

AR 950,670,000
BEEX
RMB810,378,269.867C

15 @

Percentage of

equity interest held (%)

P ARRER DL

Directly
E#

Indirectly
ik

75

100

56

100

51. ZRB F E BB 8%

Principal
activities

TEEH

Operation of
a power station

Operation of
a power station

Operation of
a power station

Operation of
a power station



51. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (conTiNuED)

Name of subsidiary

WEAR %A

China Resources New Energy
(Suixian Tianhekou) Wind
Power Limited

ERmER BEHRAA0)
REARAT

China Resources Power

(Jiaozuo) Co., Ltd.

EHES (BF)BRAR

China Resources Power
(Wenzhou) Co., Ltd.

EHEN (BN ARAT

Place of
incorporation
and operation
and form of
legal entity

=t M A3 K
EEMRU R
ERERERY

PRC,
Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise

- 5 g
BELZE

PRC,
Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise

R 5
BELE

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture
> b

BEEEEER

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered

capital and
paid-up capital
BRITHERS,/
AMERR
BEER

Registered capital
RMB1,407,310,800
Paid-up capital
RMB1,384,467,151.91
AfER

AR #1,407,310,8007T
BEER

NG
1,384,467,151.917¢

Registered capital
RMB1,254,000,000
Paid-up capital
RMB1,074,999,503.75
AfMER
AFK#1,254,000,0007T
BREX

AR
1,074,999,503.757C

Registered capital
RMB2,000,000,000
Paid-up capital
RMB1,667,972,354.96
AfER

A #2,000,000,00075
BEEX

AR
1,667,972,354.967T

equity interest held (%)

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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51. ZRE) E BB LB MF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

51. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (conTiNuED)

Name of subsidiary

WEAR %A

China Resources Power
(Heze) Co., Ltd.

EHES (8 BRAR

China Resources Power
(Bohaixinqu) Co., Ltd.

EHEN (HEHE) BRA

Sichuan China Resources
Yazui River Hydro Power
Development Co., Ltd.

)| RS Ak B %
BRRF

ol

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

Place of
incorporation
and operation
and form of
legal entity

=t M A3 K
EEMRU R
ERERER

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture

i > fgh
BIFEELE

PRC,
Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise

I ShE
BELZE

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture

i > b
BEEELE

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered

capital and
paid-up capital
BRITHERE,
AMERR
BEER

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB931,250,000

AMRERER
AR #£931,250,0007T

Registered capital
RMB840,000,000
Paid-up capital
RMB619,605,540
AMEX

A E #840,000,0007c
BEEX
AE#619,605,5407C

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB473,750,000

AMRERER
AR #473,750,0007T

15 @

Percentage of

equity interest held (%)

P ARRER DL

Directly
E#

Indirectly
ik

90

100

51

51. ZRB F E BB 8%

Principal
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Operation of
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Operation of
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Operation of
a power station
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51. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (conTiNuED)

Name of subsidiary

WEAR %A

China Resources Power
(Panjin) Co., Ltd.

EBES) (@) ERAT
China Resources Power
(Changshu) Co., Ltd.
ZBEN (BN BRAF
China Resources Power
Hunan Co., Ltd.
EZRENPRERAR

China Resources Power Henan
Shouyangshan Co., Ltd.

AEERENERLUERAR

Jiangsu Nanre Power
Generation Co., Ltd.

IHRAEERREAAT

Place of
incorporation
and operation
and form of
legal entity

=t M A3 K
EEMRU R
ERERERY

PRC,

Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise
> 5h
BELE

PRC,

Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise
> 5h
BELE

PRC,

Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise
> 5h
BELE

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture
i > fgh

SN (S

PRC,

Limited Liability
Company

HE BRAR

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered

capital and
paid-up capital
BRITHERS,/
AMERR
BEER

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB776,000,000
ARSI R ER
AE#776,000,0007C

Registered and
paid-up capital
US$173,520,000
AR ER
178,520,000 7%

Registered and

paid-up capital
RMB1,361,000,000
AR ARER
AE#1,361,000,0007T

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB1,237,500,000

AMRBRER
AR #1,237,500,0007T

Registered and

paid-up capital
RMB1,030,000,000
AfMRHMEER

AR #1,030,000,0007T

equity interest held (%)

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

51. ZRE) E BB LB MF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

51. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (conTiNuED)

Name of subsidiary

MEAR %A

Nanjing Chemical Industry Park
Thermoeletricity Co., Ltd.

HRIEBIEERAEFRAT

Guangzhou China Resources

Thermal Co., Ltd.

ENERRERRAT

China Resources Wind Power
(Haiyuan) Co., Ltd.

EHRE (BR) ARAH

China Resources Power
(Xilinguole) Coal Mining
Co., Ltd.

ERHES BN BE
BRATF

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF

Place of
incorporation
and operation
and form of
legal entity

a3 K
EEMBU R
ERERER

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture

i > fsh

SN (S

PRC,

Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise
B M
BELE

PRC,
Wholly foreign
Owned Enterprise

- 5 g
BELZE

PRC,
Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise

el 5 g
BELZE

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered

capital and
paid-up capital
ERTHERE/
AMERR
BEER

Registered and
paid-up capital
US$127,580,252

AMMBRER
127,580,252 £ 75

Registered and

paid-up capital
RMB1,100,000,000

A RMEER

A #1,100,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB1,422,240,000
Paid-up capital
RMB1,327,621,852.73
SAfER

NG
1,422,240,0007T
BEER

N
1,327,621,852.737C

Registered capital
RMB1,730,267,500
Paid-up capital
RMB1,375,000,000
AfMER

AR #1,730,267,5007T
BEER

A #1,375,000,00075

15 @

Percentage of

equity interest held (%)

P ARRER DL

Directly
E#

Indirectly
ik

90

100

100

100

51. ZRB) F E BB 8%

Principal
activities

TEEH

Operation of
a power station

Operation of
a power station

Operation of a
power station

Operation of
a power station



51. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (conTiNuED)

Name of subsidiary

WEAR %A

China Resources Power
(Yichang) Co., Ltd.

EHEN (BE) BRAS

China Resources Power
Tangshan Fengrun Co., Ltd.

ERBNELEHERAT

Guizhou Tianrun Mining Co., Ltd.

EMRBEEARAR

China Resources Power
(XiLinGuoLe) Co., Ltd.

ERHES BIMNEY BRAT

Place of
incorporation
and operation
and form of
legal entity

=t M A3 K
EEMRU R
ERERERY

PRC,

Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise
> 5h
BELE

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture
i > fgh

EN (S

PRC,

Limited Liability
company

R BRAH

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture
i > fagh

afFEEtE

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered

capital and
paid-up capital
BRITHERS,/
AMERR
BEER

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB769,000,000
ARSI R ER
AE#769,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB690,135,000
Paid-up capital
RMB674,574,250
AfER

A #690,135,0007%
BEER

AR #674,574,2507T

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB100,000,000
AMRBEER
A #100,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB2,065,000,000
Paid-up capital
RMB1,909,333,300
AfER

AR #2,065,000,00075
BEER

A %1,909,333,3007T

equity interest held (%)

B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

51. ZRE) E BB LB MF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

51. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL 51. Z AR EEN B AT BYE#

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (conTiNuED)

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Group
which in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected/will affect the operation of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

Some of the subsidiaries’ English names represent
managements’ translation of the Chinese names as they
have not adopted formal English names.

The principal subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are all
limited liability companies.

Significant restrictions

As at 31 December 2021, cash and bank deposits of
HK$7,930,234,000 (2020: HK$4,551,506,000) are held in
mainland China and are subject to PRC exchange control
regulations. These exchange control regulations provide
for restrictions on exporting capital from the country, other
than through cash dividend approved by the shareholders’
meeting in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations.

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd. 326
EHEHNEZERERAT

B @

AANEERA LEFINAEE
WEBSHEBAFD, BHEEBY
HEAEENE - AATEERA
S E I B AR N BEEERE
KBTI

e 54 86 5) 3 8 2 B SR A0 E 29
HY T8 MEREXRAHNEY
LIEAERER AT BBELD
;e

REEEMRINEENBADS
AEREEAT

B AREH
R_B_—F+-A=+—H %
PEAERENRERRTERS
7,930,234,0008 70 (ZE _FF
4,551,506,00078 7T) I BE~FH &
SNEEIZEHISE AR o IEFINEHEHE R
HAEBEAEERNEL (FBIKREKX
SIRBAREREARLENIRER
BEBRIN BIBRH o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

52. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 52. " ABIN I EE
COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the Company YNGR SRS

2021
—E—%F

HK$’000
THET

2020
TECEH
HK$'000
FABT

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BERFZE 17,504 17,625
Right-of-use assets EREEE 6,237 13,979
Prepayments FE(TFRIE - 31,642
Investments in subsidiaries N EPNEILESE F PLE RPN 27,770,593
Investments in associates REE XN ER 2,337,776 2,591,913
Investments in joint ventures REeEbtENER 1,270,108 1,270,108
Deferred tax assets LRI E B 2,546 896
FVOCI URREBEFTEEEE
sFAHMEAR S NS 205,689 212,289
Other receivables Hih g sIa 5,284 —
29,760,536 31,909,045
Current assets MENEE
Trade receivables, other receivables  FEURBRFx ~ E1th FE W 3k I8 K 78
and prepayments ™18 97,704 50,543
Loans to subsidiaries EENMEPNEEEA - 6,442
Amounts due from associates e B & (b ERRIE 849 113,207
Amounts due from subsidiaries and ~ FEUWHT B A B KR EHMBHE A
other related companies I8 LG RPRE 51,127,955
Cash and cash equivalents BEMRIBEEFEY 129,538 784,986
58,797,914 52,083,133
Total assets WEE CENI WLV 83,992,178
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"_/A=t+—HILEE

52. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 52. X ARINMBER @
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Statement of financial position of the Company AT IMBRRER (B)
(Continued)

2021 2020
—E-—F _EBE_TF

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTAET THET

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EmkaE
Equity attributable to owners of & AB#EAE ABHER
the Company

Share capital [N PRGN 22,316,710
Other reserves HihEE Note (a)
M (a) 82,307 82,307
Retained earnings R BH]H Note (a)
fisE (@) PRKCLEKCLN 18,952,516
Total equity R RERZERYON 41,351,533
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities FERENBE
Borrowings BE IRPAWIEE 25,965,817
Lease liabilities HMESE - 6,013
31,121,268 25,971,830
Current liabilities mEIEE
Trade payables, other payables — FE{TBRFN ~ EfhfE
and accruals NRIEKESTE A 117,107 97,399
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETB B AT K
and other H A E A B HRIB
related companies 17,459,732 15,462,669
Current income tax liabilities BNHAPREIRERE 5,354 6,919
Borrowings =p= 500,000 1,094,039
Lease liabilities HMESE 6,013 7,789
18,088,206 16,668,815
Total liabilities wmaE 49,209,474 42,640,645
Total equity and liabilities WEZRaRE CENIS WLV 83,992,178
The statement of financial position of the Company was EEgER T "F=H+/\H
approved by the Board of Directors on March 16, 2022 and BBARBHBARRIER LA T
was signed on its behalf: EEAREEBERE !
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
2! B=

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

EHBENEZERARAF




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE_Z-_—F+"/A=t+—HILEE

52. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 52. ZRATNMBEF @

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note (a): Reserve movement of the Company Hiit(a): FREFEEE
Retained Other
earnings reserves
REFHE Hithf#E
HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FAET
At 1 January 2020 RZEZZEH—HF—H 18,563,211 82,307
Profit for the year FRFHE 3,145,689 -
Dividends declared to owners of BRI AABEE ARE
the Company (2,756,384) -
At 31 December 2020 W-_E-EH+-"H=+—H 18,952,516
Profit for the year FERF)HE 1,153,092
Dividends declared to owners of BRI ABEE ARE
the Company (3,155,649)
At 31 December 2021 BWZE-Z—%+”"H=+—8 16,949,959
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F R R M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE-Z”—

F+RA=1+—HLFE

53. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

The Group’s renewable energy business adopted the
same depreciation policy as the thermal power business.
The estimated useful lives for the power generating plant
and equipment of wind power and photovoltaic power
were set at 18 years, with the estimated residual rate set
at nil using straight-line depreciation. Based on the past
operating experience with the combination of actual usage
of fixed assets and re-assessment on the useful lives for
wind power and photovoltaic power generation equipment
and taking reference from comparison and analysis on
account estimation on similar assets by major operators
in China’s power industry, on March 16, 2022, the Board
approved the resolution that the estimated useful lives for
the power generating plant and equipment of wind power
and photovoltaic power to be adjusted to 20 years with the
estimated residual rate not to be adjusted and continue to
use the straight-line depreciation from 1 January 2022.

Based on the estimation on carrying fixed assets for wind
power and photovoltaic power projects in operation by the
Group as at 31 December 2021, the annual cap adjustment
in deprecation of power generation equipment is estimated
to add to the Group’s Profit from the renewable energy
segment by HK$648 million.
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FERHFREXERTEAZT - RIER
FTEERE SEETEENER
FERBTAYRENNSREERE
MAEREERNERTG T2F
$l ENTENTEESHHRELE
BEENEHGsrETLERM D
A _E_"_HF=-B+NB EET
Mﬁmﬁ 2 JBL B8 A ' K 2% B R K
RENGFIERFERARAEA20
Fr A RERATRE KRBT
T B HEEEXRBEEI
Bk

RBEAEEBR - - —F+°A8
—+—BHEEZENREM AR E
EEENEETEEFEN G &
EXRBINENEE FRAREMGHE
AEBOTBAEERDIF) BN
6.48(E8 T °



Chairman

EE

Non-executive Directors

FRITES

Executive Directors

HITES

Independent Non-executive Directors

BWIFRTES

Company Secretary
REWE

Auditor

B

I:e%al Advisor
7£ |
Share Registrar

RIDIBR SRR

Registered Office
SR

CORPORATE INFORMATION
ABEEN

Wan% Chuandong
FE®

Wan% Chuandong
FE®

Liu Guixin (appointed on 15 September 2021)
2E 5 (R2021F98 158 EZ )

Chen Guoyong (appointed on 15 September 2021)
PRENE (1R2021F9815HEZHF)

Chen Ying (resigned on 15 September 2021)

PRIE (702021498 158 &#HE)

Wang Yan (resigned on 15 September 2021)

FZ (X202159815H & E)

Shi Baofeng (appointed on 30 September 2021)
P EIE (722021F98308 EEE

Zhang Junzheng

TREIY

Wang Xiao Bin

F

Tarl_éz Yong (resigned on 30 September 2021)
EE (102021498 30H & E)

Elsie Leung Oi-sie

REF

Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung

Jack So Chak Kwong

BRIZIT

Yang Yuchuan (appointed on 15 September 2021)
BEIN (R2021F9815HEZE )

Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung (resigned on 15 September 2021)
BB (1R2021F9815H &# )

Wang Xiao Bin

F

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Audiitor

B -BEPR S G5 ENTT

HED P

AR F o B HEIZ 2ET

Paul Hastings

B RMELAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
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INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS
rREESEEH

SHARE LISTING AND STOCK CODE

The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Our stock code is 836.

FINANCIAL DIARY

Financial year end 31 December 2021

Announcement of final results 16 March 2022

Last day to register for final dividend 10 June 2022

Book close 13 June 2022

Payment of final dividend

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES

For enquires about share transfer and registration, please contact
the Company’s Share Registrar:

22 July 2022

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
Telephone: (852) 2862 8628

Facsimile: (852) 2865 0990

For enquires from investors and securities analysts, please
contact:

Investor Relations

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Limited

Room 2001-2002, 20th Floor, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

General Line: (852) 2593 7530

IR hotline: (852) 2593 7550

Facsimile: (852) 2593 7531/2593 7551

E-mail: crp-ir@crc.com.hk

OUR WEBSITE

WWW.Cr-power.com

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.
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